

National Library of Canada

Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Direction des acquisitions et

des services bibliographiques

Acquisitions and Bibliographic Services Branch

395 Wellington Street Ottawa, Ontario K1A 0N4

395, rue Wellington Ottawa (Ontario) K1A 0N4

Your file Votre réference

Our file Notre réference

AVIS

The quality of this microform is heavily dependent upon the quality of the original thesis submitted for microfilming. Every effort has been made to ensure the highest quality of reproduction possible.

NOTICE

If pages are missing, contact the university which granted the degree.

Some pages may have indistinct print especially if the original pages were typed with a poor typewriter ribbon or if the university sent us an inferior photocopy.

Reproduction in full or in part of this microform is governed by the Canadian Copyright Act, R.S.C. 1970, c. C-30, and subsequent amendments. La qualité de cette microforme dépend grandement de la qualité de la thèse soumise au microfilmage. Nous avons tout fait pour assurer une qualité supérieure de reproduction.

S'il manque des pages, veuillez communiquer avec l'université qui a conféré le grade.

La qualité d'impression de certaines pages peut laisser à désirer, surtout si les pages originales ont été dactylographiées à l'aide d'un ruban usé ou si l'université nous a fait parvenir une photocopie de qualité inférieure.

La reproduction, même partielle, de cette microforme est sournise à la Loi canadienne sur le droit d'auteur, SRC 1970, c. C-30, et ses amendements subséquents.

Canadä

STUDY OF DILTIAZEM METABOLITES AND RATIONAL DESIGN OF NOVEL CALCIUM ANTAGONISTS

by

RONGSHI LI

Submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

at

Dalhousie University

Halifax, Nova Scotia

August, 1993

© Copyright by RONGSHI LI, 1993



1

National Library of Canada

Acquisitions and Bibliographic Services Branch

395 Wellington Street Ottawa, Ontario K1A 0N4 395, rue Wellington Ottawa (Ontario) K1A 0N4

du Canada

Bibliothèque nationale

Direction des acquisitions et

des services bibliographiques

Your Ne Volje référence

Our file Notre référence

The author has granted an irrevocable non-exclusive licence allowing the National Library of Canada to reproduce, loan, distribute or sell copies of his/her thesis by any means and in any form or format, making this thesis available to interested persons. L'auteur a accordé une licence irrévocable et non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque nationale du Canada de reproduire, prêter, distribuer ou vendre des copies de sa thèse de quelque manière et sous quelque forme que ce soit pour mettre des exemplaires de cette thèse à la disposition des personnes intéressées.

The author retains ownership of the copyright in his/her thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without his/her permission. L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur qui protège sa thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

ISBN 0-315-93697-5

Canadä

Study of Diltiazem Metabolites and Pational Design of Novel Calcium Antagonists

Name

Dissertation Abstracts International is arranged by broad, general subject categories Please select the one subject which most nearly describes the content of your dissertation. Enter the corresponding four digit code in the spaces provided

PHARMACY

SUBJECT CODE

M·I

0539

0541 0542

0790

0451

 $\textcircled{\blue}{\blue}$

ľ

SUBJECT TERM

Subject Categories

THE HUMANITIES AND SOCIAL SCIENCES

ARTS

0378 0357

0708

0439 0465

0745

0998 0523

COMMUNICATIONS AND THE
Architectu e
Art History
C nema
Dance
Fine Arts
Hormat on Science
Juland sm
Library Science
Mass Con mun cat ons
Music
Speech Communication
i healer

EDUCATION

General
Adm nistration
Adult and Continuing
Agricultural
Aň
Bilingual and Milt culturel
Business
Community College
Curriculum and Instruction
Early Childhood
Elementary
Finance
Gu dance and Counseling
Health
Higher _
H story of
Home Economics
ndustr ri
Language and Literature
Mathematics
Music
Philosophy of
Physical

Psychology Reading Religious Sciences Social Sciences Socialogy of Special Teachue Training Technology Tests and Measurements Vocational	0525 0535 0527 0714 0533 0534 0340 0529 0530 0710 0288 0747
LANGUAGE, LITERATURE AND	
LINGUISTICS	
Language	. – -
General	0679
Ancient	0289
Lingvistics	0290
Modern	0291
Literature	0.001
General	0401
Classical	0294
Comporative	0293
Medieval	0277
African	0216
American	0591
As an	0305
Cunadian (English)	0352
Canudian (French)	0355
Engl sh	0593
German	0311
Latin Ar erican	0312
Middle Eastern	0315
Rom ance	0313
Slc / c and East European	0314

PHILOSOPHY, RELIGION AND		Ancient Medieval	0579
Philosophy	0422	Modern Black	0582 0328
General Bibl cai Studies Clergy History of	0318 0321 0319 0320	African Asia Australia and Occan a Conadian European	0331 0332 0334 0335
Philosophy of Theology	0322 0469	Latin American Middle Eastern United States	0336 0333 0337
SOCIAL SCIENCES		History of Science	0585
American Studies Anthropology	0323	Law Political Science	0398
Archaeology	0324	General International Law and	0615
Physical	0327	Relations Public Admin stration	0616
General Accounting	0310 0272	Recreation Soc al Work	0814 0452
Banking Management Market na	0770 0454 0338	General Crim nology and Penology	Go26 0627
Canadian Studies Economics	0385	Demography Ethnic and Rac al Studies	J938 U631
General Agricultural	0501 0503	Studies Industrial and Labor	0628
Finance History	0508 0509	Relations Public and Social Welfare Social Structure and	0629 0630
Labor Theory Folklore	0510 0511 0358	Development Theory and Methods	0700 0344
Geography Gerontology	0366 0351	Transportation Urban and Regional Planning Women's Studies	0709
History General	05/8	Homen's obuies	0400

THE SCIENCES AND ENGINEERING

0285

0476

0479

0317 0416

0821

0760

BIOLOGICAL SCIENCES
Agriculture
Ğeneral
Aaronomy
Animal Culture and
Nutrit on
Animal Pathology
Food Science and
Technology
Forestry and Wildlife
Plant Culture
Plant Pathology
Plant Physiology
Range Madagement
Wood Technology
Biology
General
Applomy
Biostatistics
Botony
Call
Cell Faclory
Entomology
Capation
Generics
Limnology
MICrobiology
Molecular
Neuroscience
Oceanography
rnys ology
Kadiation
Velerinary Science
Loology
BIODITARICS
General
Med cal
EARIN SCIENCES
Goodeochemistry
Ceochemistry

Geodesy Geology Geophysics Hydrology Paleobotany Paleoecology Paleontology Paleozoology Paleozoology Palynology Physical Geography Physical Oceanography	0370 0372 0373 0388 0411 0345 0426 0418 0985 0427 0368 0415
HEALTH AND ENVIRONMENTA	L
Environmental Sciences	0768
Health Sc ences General	0566
Audiology	0300
Dentistry	0972
Education	0350
Hospital Management	0769
H nan Development	0758
Immunology	0982
Medicine and Surgery	0247
Nursing	0549
Nutrition	0570
Obstetrics and Gynecology Occupational Health and	0380
The apy	0354
Ophthalmology	0381
Pathology	0571
Phatmacology	0419
Physical Therap (0382
Public Health	0573
Rad ology	0574
Recreation	0575

Speech Pathology Toxicology Home Economics	0460 0383 0386	Engineering General Aerospoce
PHYSICAL SCIENCES		Agricultural Automotive
PHYSICAL SCIENCES Pure Sciences Chemistry General Agricultural Analytical Biochemistry Inorganic Nuclear Organ c Pharmaceutical Physical Polymer Radiation Mathematics Physics General Acoust cs Astronomy and Artrophysics Atmospheric Science Atomic Electronics and Electricity Elementary Part cles and High Energy	0485 0749 0486 0487 0488 0738 0490 0491 0494 0495 0754 0405 0754 0405 0754 0405 0605 0986 0605 0606 0608 0798	Agricultural Automotive B ornedical Chemical Civil Electron cs and Electrical Heat and Thermodynamics Hydraul c Industrial Marine Materials Science Mechanici I Metallurgy Mining Nuclear Pact aging Petroleum Sanitary and Munic pal System Science Geotechnology Operations Pesearch Plastics Technology Texvile Technology
Fluid and Plasma Molecular	0759	Behavioral
Nuclear	0610	Developmental Experimental
Optics Poduation	0752	Industr al
Solid State	0611	Personality Rhumbaring I
Stat stics	0463	Psychob ology
Applied Sciences		Psychometrics
A plied Mechanics	0346	οοςιαί
composer ocience	0704	

TO YAN AND JERRY

.

1

,

.

Table of Contents

List	of	Charts ix
List	of	Figures x
List	of	Schemes xii
List	of	Tables xiii
Abst	ract.	xv
List	of	Abbreviations xvi
Ackn	now!	edgments xvii
1		INTRODUCTION 1
1.1		General Introduction 1
1. 1.	1	Mechanism of Action of Calcium Antagonists 3
1. 1.	1 . 1	Role of Calcium
1. 1.	1. 2	Regulation of Myoplasmic [Ca ²⁺] through the Calcium Channels 4
1. 1. 2	2	Current Status of Calcium Channels 5
1. 1. 2	2.1	Classification of Calcium Channels 5
1. 1. 2	2.2	Modulation of Calcium Channels 6
1. 1. 2	2.3	Structure of Calcium Channels 7
1. 1. 2	2.4	A Number of Binding Sites for Calcium Antagonists 7
1. 1. 3	3	Current Status of Calcium Antagonists
1. 2		Diltiazem and Its Metabolites
1. 3		A Novel Class of Calcium Antagonists, Dibenzotricyclic
		Systems (DBTs) 14

I

I

.

•••

1.4	Effects of Calcium Antagonists on In Vitro Adenosine	
	Uptake by Erythrocyte	18
1.5	Anti-HIV Activity of Some Dibenzothiazepinone Derivatives	20
1. 6	Objectives of the Project	23
2	DISCUSSION	24
2.1	Molecular Modeling	24
2.1.1	Modeling of Reference Compound III and Diberzothiazepinone 12	25
2.1.2	Modeling of Dibenzothiazepinone 13 and Dibenzoxazepinone 18	38
2. 2	Chemistry	56
2. 2. 1	Preparation of Diltiazem Metabolites	56
2. 2. 1. 1	Short Sequence Synthesis of Diltiazem Metabolites	56
2. 2. 1. 2	Multistep Synthesis of Diltiacom Metabolites	57
2. 2. 2	Preparation of Dibenzotricyclic Systems (DBTs)	75
2. 2. 2. 1	Preparation of Dibenzo[b,f]-1,4-thiazepine Nucleus	75
2. 2. 2. 2	Preparation of Target DBTs	76
2. 3	Characterization with Spectroscopic and Chromatographic Methods	79
2. 3. 1	Spectroscopy	79
2. 3. 2	Chromatography	82
2. 3. 3	Polarimetry	84
2. 4	Stereochemistry of Intermediates and Synthetic DTZ Metabolites	85
2. 5	Identification of DTZ Metabolites	88
2. 5. 1	Purities of Synthetic DTZ Metabolites	88
2. 5. 2	Identity of Synthetic DTZ Metabolites with Biological Samples	89
2. 6	Biological Evaluation	97
2. 6. 1	In Vitro Vasorelaxant Activity	97

vi

1 · F

1,0 📕

• -

1

Ņ

,

.

2. 6. 1. 1	Vasorelaxant Activity of DTZ Metabolites on Hamster Aorta
2. 6. 1. 2	Vasorelaxant Activity of DBTs on Hamster Aorta101
2. 6. 2	Effects of Calcium Antagonists on In Vitro Adenosine Uptake
	by Erythrocytes
2. 6. 2. 1	Effects of DTZ Metabolites on In Vitro Adenosine Uptake
	by Erythrocytes
2. 6. 2. 2	Effects of DBTs on In Vitro Adenosine Uptake by Erythrocytes111
2. 6. 3	Anti-HIV Activity of Dibenzothiazepinone Derivatives
2. 7	Structure Activity Relationships117
2. 7. 1	DTZ Metabolites 117
2.7.2	Dibenzotricyclic Compounds 118
3	$\mathbf{E} \mathbf{X} \mathbf{P} \mathbf{E} \mathbf{R} \mathbf{I} \mathbf{M} \mathbf{E} \mathbf{N} \mathbf{T} \mathbf{A} \mathbf{L} \dots 120$
3. 1	Molecular Mechanics Calculations 120
3. 2	Synthesis
3. 2. 1	Synthesis of DTZ Metabolites 121
3. 2. 1. 1	Short Sequence Synthesis of DTZ Metabolites 121
3. 2. 1. 2	Multistep Synthesis of DTZ Metabolites123
3. 2. 2	Synthesis of Dibenzotricyclic Systems (DBTs) 141
3. 2. 2. 1	Dibenzo[b,f]-1,4-thiazepine Derivatives
3. 2. 2. 2	Dibenz[b,f]-1,4-oxazepine Derivatives
3. 3	Characterization with Spectroscopic and Chromatographic Methods 156
3. 3. 1	Spectroscopy 156
3. 3. 2	Chromatography158
3. 3. 3	Polarimetry 159

vii

[

3. 4	Identity of Synthetic DTZ Metabolites with Biological Samples	160
3. 5	Biological Evaluation	161
3. 5. 1	In Vitro Vasorelaxant Activity	161
3. 5. 1. 1	Vasorelaxant Activity of DTZ metabolites on Hamster Aorta	161
3. 5. 1. 2	Vasorelaxant Activity of DBTs on Hamster Aorta	162
3. 5. 2	In Vitro Adenosine Uptake Experiment	162
3. 5. 3	Anti-HIV Activity of Dibenzothiazepine Derivatives	163
4	CONCLUSION	165
5	REFERENCES	166
6	BIBLIOGRAPHY	187

1

I

.

List of Charts

.

.

٦

ł

,

Chart I.	Composition of	DTZ And Its Me	etabo ¹ ites	13
Chart II.	Composition of	Dibenzotricyclic	Systems	18

7

.

List of Figures

,

Figure 1.	Representative chemical structures of different classes				
	of calcium antagonists 2				
Figure 2.	Structures of neuroleptic diphenylpiperidines				
Figure 3.	Some new structural classes of calcium antagonisis 10				
Figure 4.	Structure comparison of the DBTs in this study with DBTs				
	in the literature 15				
Figure 5.	Structures of some representative nucleoside transport inhibitors 19				
Figure 6.	Composition of reference compounds and DBTs tested for				
	anti-HIV activity 21				
Figure 7.	X-Ray crystal structure of 14 27				
Figure 8.	Structure of the tricyclic nucleus of compound III 28				
Figure 9.	Structure comparison of reference compound III with				
	dibenzothiazepinone 12 after energy minimization with MMX 29				
Figure 10.	X-Ray crystal structure of 13				
Figure 11.	Structure 13 after geometry minimization with MMX 40				
Figure 12	X-Ray crystal structure of 18 47				
Figure 13.	Structure 18 after geometry minimization with MMX 48				
Figure 14.	Structure comparison of 13 with 18 after geometry minimization				
	with MMX (bond only) 54				
Figure 15.	HPLC analysis of standard mixture of DTZ and its metabolites				
Figure 16.	Ion-spray LC-MS (A) and LC-MS / MS (B) spectra for DTZ				
	in human urine				

х

Figure 17.	Ion-spray LC-MS / MS spectra for 4 (MB)
Figure 18.	Ion-spray LC-MS / MS spectra for 5 (MX) 95
Figure 19.	Ion-spray LC-MS / MS spectra for 6 (DTZNO)
Figure 20.	Vasorelaxant activity of DTZ metabolites (1)
Figure 21.	Vasorelaxant activity of DTZ metabolites (II) 100
Figure 22.	Vasorelaxant activity of 10 103
Figure 23.	Vasorelaxant activity of 11 104
Figure 24.	Vasorelaxant activity of 12 105
Figure 25.	Vasorelaxant activity of 13 106
Figure 26.	Vasorelaxant activity of 16 107
Figure 27.	Vasorelaxant activity of 17 108
Figure 28.	Vasorelaxant activity of 18 109
Figure 29.	Anti-HIV activity of 14 113
Figure 30.	Anti-HIV activity of 25 114
Figure 31.	Anti-HIV activity of 26 115
Figure 32.	Anti-HIV activity of 9 116

ł

4

.

List of Schemes

.

Scheme I.	Major Basic DTZ Metabolites Found in Human Urine	12				
Scheme II.	Short Sequence Synthesis of DTZ Metabolites					
Scheme III.	Multistep Synthesis of DTZ Metabolites	58				
Scheme IV.	Darzen's Condensation	60				
Scheme V.	Reduction of Disulfide	62				
Scheme VI.	Ring Opening of Epoxide	63				
Scheme VII.	Alkylation in the Presence of Dimethylsulfinyl Carbanion	69				
Scheme VIII.	Alkylation in the Presence of Simple Bases	70				
Scheme IX.	Aprotic Solvent Effect	71				
Scheme X.	Effect of Humidity on Alkylation	73				
Scheme XI.	Synthesis of Dibenzothiazepine Nucleus	76				
Scheme XII.	Synthesis of Target DBTs	78				
Scheme XIII.	Chemical Ionization Mechanism	81				

*

List of Tables

. -**4**

.

,

Table 1.	Calcium Antagonist Classification 1
Table 2.	Correlation of the Angles between the Planes of the Two Benzene
	Rings and the Calcium Antagonistic Activities of DBTs 16
Table 3.	Final X-Ray Fractional Coordinates for Non-hydrogen Atoms
	for the Tricyclic Nucleus of Reference Compound III
Table 4.	Intramolecular Distances of the Tricyclic Nucleus of Reference
	Compound III from X-Ray and MMX Calculations
Table 5.	Intramolecular Bond Angles of the Tricyclic Nucleus of Reference
	Compound III Involving the Non-hydrogen Atoms from X-Ray
	and MMX Calculations
Table 6.	Final X-Ray Fractional Coordinates for Non-hydrogen Atoms for 14 34
Table 7.	Intramolecular Distances of 14 from X-Ray and MMX Calculations 35
Table 8.	Intramolecular Bond Angles of 14 Involving the Non-hydrogen
	Atoms from X-Ray and MMX Calculations
Table 9.	Torsion or Conformation Angles of 14 from X-Ray and
	MMX Calculations
Table 10.	Final X-Ray Fractional Coordinates for Non-hydrogen Atoms for 13 41
Table 11.	Intramolecular Distances of 13 from X-Ray and MMX Calculations 42
Table 12.	Intramolecular Bond Angles of 13 Involving the Non-hydrogen
	Atoms from X-Ray and MMX Calculations 43
Table 13.	Torsion or Conformation Angles of 13 from X-Ray and
	MMX Calculations

Table 14.	Final X-Ray Fractional Coordinates for Non-hydrogen Atoms for 18	49
Table 15.	Intramolecular Distances of 18 from X-Ray and MMX Calculations	50
Table 16.	Intramolecular Bond Angles of 18 Involving the Non-hydrogen	
	Atoms from X-Ray and MMX Calculations	51
Table 17.	Torsion or Conformation Angles of 18 from X-Ray and	
	MMX Calculations	52
Table 18.	Threo / Erythro Ratios Determined by ¹ H NMR Method	86
Table 19.	Specific Rotation and ¹ H NMR Coupling Constants of DTZ and	
	Metabolites Synthesized by Multistep Route	87
Table 20.	Specific Rotation and ¹ H NMR Coupling Constants of DTZ and	
	Metabolites Obtained by Degradation of Commercial DTZ	87
Table 21.	Chromatographic Properties and Purities of Synthetic DTZ Metabolites	88
Table 22.	¹ H NMR Data of DTZ and DTZ N-Oxide	91
Table 23.	In Vitro Vasorelaxant Activity of DTZ and Synthetic Metabolites	98
Table 24.	Vasorelaxation Properties of Dibenzotricyclic Compounds 1	02
Table 25.	Effects of DTZ Metabolites on Adenosine Uptake 1	10
Table 26.	Anti-HIV Activity of Dibenzothiazepinones	12

.

2P

٩,

xiv

Abstract

'This thesis includes the study of diltiazem (DTZ) metabolites and the rational design of novel class of dibenzotricyclic calcium antagonists.

DTZ is a calcium antagonist widely used in the treatment of cardiovascular disorders. DTZ is subject to significant first pass metabolism and is rapidly and extensively converted in humans to a variety of metabolites, several of which have potent pharmacological activities. Three newly discovered DTZ metabolites have recently been reported and tentatively identified as N,O-didemethylated DTZ (4), O-demethylated DTZ (5), and DTZ N-oxide (6). However, their identities were not confirmed since no authentic compounds were available.

Eight DTZ metabolites have been successfully synthesized, three of which were synthesized for the first time, some requiring 12 sequential chemical reactions. All eight synthetic DTZ metabolites were fully characterized. The three new DTZ metabolites (4, 5 and 6) isolated from human urine are identical to the corresponding authentic compounds I synthesized as confirmed by spectroscopic and chromatographic methods. *In vitro* calcium antagonistic activities of all metabolites (except 6) were evaluated on hamster aorta.

Attempts to find a new class of calcium antagonists with tissue selectivity have been made for more than a decade. Recently, a series of compounds with dibenzotricyclic systems (DBTs) were reported as a new class of calcium antagonists with tissue selectivity [Kurokawa, M. et al. J. Med. Chem. 1991, 34, 927—934]. These DBTs may confer antianginal activity without an effect on blood pressure. Structure-activity relationships showed that calcium antagonistic activity increased with a decrease of the angle between the planes of the two benzene rings in DBTs.

A number of dibenzothiazepinones and dibenzoxazepinones have been designed, assisted with molecular modeling. X-Ray and molecular mechanics calculations show that the DBTs in this study have smaller angles between the planes of the two benzene rings than the DBTs reported. As calcium antagonists, the DBTs synthesized in this study showed the potencies of their vasorelaxant activities to be comparable with that of DTZ at submicromolar concentration. Some dibenzothiazepinone derivatives also have anti-HIV activity.

Effects of all the DBTs and DTZ metabolites 4 and 5 on adenosine uptake by erythrocytes were also studied.

List of Abbreviations

न

,

4

The abbreviations used in this thesis are those detailed in the Notice to Authors in J. Med. Chem. 1991, 31, 11A-14A; except for those defined in the text.

:

.

Acknowledgments

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my supervisor Dr. P. S. Farmer for his guidance, support and encouragement throughout the project. I wish to thank Dr. M. A. Quilliam, National Research Council of Canada, Halifax, for obtaining mass spectra and allowing the use of PCMODEL. I would like to acknowledge Dr. S. E. Howlett, Department of Pharmacology, for her assistance of setting up the *in vitro* vasorelaxation experiments and use of her GraphPAD INPLOT program, equipment and hamsters. I wish to express my grateful appreciation to Dr. P. K. F. Yeung for his assistance in the adenosine uptake study. I feel grateful to Dr. D. Arnold for his valuable suggestions.

Thanks are also directed to Miss M. Xie for the HPLC work and to Mr. P. Seto and Mr. D. Leek for recording beautiful NMR spectra and to Mr. D. Embree for accurate mass measurements at the National Research Council of Canada, Halifax. My thanks are extended to Dr. T. S. Cameron, Department of Chemistry, for obtaining X-ray crystallographic data, to Mr. P. Nicholl in the Department of Pharmacology for obtaining hamster aortas, and to Ms. S. J. Mosher at the College of Pharmacy for her technical assistance in the *in vitro* adenosine uptake test.

I would like to thank the Killam Trust for an Izaak Walton Killam Memorial Scholarship, Faculty of Graduate Studies for a Graduate Fellowship, Parke-Davis for a Pharmaceutical Research Fellowship, Ciba-Geigy for a Studentship Award, and Novopharm Ltd. and the College of Pharmacy for financial support of part of this research.

Last, but not least, I would like to sincerely thank my wife, Yan, for her understanding, patience, encouragement and support.

INTRODUCTION

1. 1 General Introduction

Calcium ions (Ca^{2+}) play a vital role in many biological processes including a variety of enzymatic reactions, activation of excitable cells, coupling of electrical activation and cellular secretion, hemostasis. The regulation of the intracellular concentration of this ion makes it possible to control such Ca²⁺-dependent processes. The first drug shown to interfere with calcium function was verapamil.¹ At least five more different chemical families have been added according to the World Health Organization classification (Table 1 and Figure 1).² Calcium antagonists are a chemically heterogeneous group of

I .	Phenylalkylamines	II.	Dihydropyridines
	Verapamil		Nifedipine
	Gallopamil		Nitrendipine
	Anipamil		Felodipine
ш.	Benzothiazepines	IV.	Diphenylpiperazines
	Diltiazem		Flunarizine
			Cinnarizine
v.	Prenylamine Derivatives	VI.	Others
	Prenylamine		Bepridil
	Fendiline		Caroverine
	Terodiline		Perhexiline

Table 1.	Calcium	Antagonist	Classification
----------	---------	------------	----------------



Figure 1. Representative chemical structures of different classes of calcium antagorists

,

compounds. Of the agents modifying Ca^{2+} mobilization or Ca^{2+} action, only the first three classes have achieved general therapeutic significance, although flunarizine³ and lidoflazine⁴ were marketed outside of North America for the treatment of cerebral and peripheral cardiovascular disorders several years ago and flunarizine was introduced into the Canadian market in 1991⁵. Verapamil,⁶ diltiazem⁷ and nifedipine,⁸ representatives of first generation of calcium antagonists, are currently used for the treatment of angina and hypertension. In addition, verapamil is useful in correcting supraventricular arrhythmias.⁹

1. 1. 1 Mechanism of Action of Calcium Antagonists

1. 1. 1. 1 Role of Calcium

There are two principle contractile proteins in myocardium and vascular smooth muscle, actin and myosin. Contraction of all forms of muscle is an energy-requiring cyclic process involving interaction between myosin and actin. This process is calcium dependent.

In the specialized automatic and conducting cells in the heart, Ca^{2+} is involved in the genesis of the action potential, and in the myocardial contractile cells it links excitation to muscular contraction and controls energy storage and use. The lumina of systemic and coronary arteries are influenced by the movement of Ca^{2+} across the cell membranes of vascular smooth muscle.

In the relaxed state the concentration of Ca^{2+} —i.e., $[Ca^{2+}]$ —in the myocardial cytoplasm (myoplasm) is several orders of magnitude lower than the extracellular concentration. During activation of the cardiac cell there is a marked rise in $[Ca^{2+}]$ in the myoplasm, where it binds to a specific subunit of the regulatory protein, troponin. In the

presence of ATP this process allows contraction to occur. A reduction of myoplasmic $[Ca^{2+}]$ causes a dissociation of Ca^{2+} from troponin, which results in muscular relaxation.¹⁰

Although contraction of vascular smooth muscle, such as that in the walls of the coronary and systemic arterioles, also requires interaction between actin and myosin, there are important differences between the biochemical control of contraction in vascular smooth muscle and that in myocardium. The process that regulates contraction in vascular smooth muscle results from a cascade of reactions, the first of which involves a small Ca²⁺-binding protein called calmodulin. When the [Ca²⁺] in the vascular smooth muscle rises to approximately 10^{-6} M, Ca²⁺ binds to calmodulin, and the Ca²⁺-calmodulin complex activates the enzyme myosin kinase; this in turn phosphorylates a light chain of myosin, which permits myosin to interact with actin, thereby leading to contraction of muscle cell and arteriolar constriction.¹¹ Although there are notable differences in the contractile mechanisms of myocardium and vascular smooth muscle, it is clear that the myoplasmic [Ca²⁺] is critical to the contraction of both forms of muscle.

1. 1. 1. 2 Regulation of Myoplasmic [Ca²⁺] through the Calcium Channels

^h Myoplasmic [Ca²⁺] depends ultimately on the entry of Ca²⁺ into the cell. There are several mechanisms¹² that control the myoplasmic [Ca²⁺], one of which is through the calcium channel.

The sarcolemma is an ion-impermeable lipid bilayer composed of phospholipid molecules separating aqueous compartments. Macromolecular proteins that traverse the

lipid bilayer and selectively permit ions to move from one side of this barrier to the other are referred to as ion channels.

Calcium channels are such proteins that serve the dual function of carrying current and chemical information and serve to link both electrical and chemical membrane stimulusresponse coupling. Plasmalemmal calcium channels are usually categorized as receptoroperated (ROC) and potential-dependent (PDC) channels.¹³ Sometimes PDC are also called voltage-dependent channels. The latter are also well known as receptor-mediated modulation of potential-dependent calcium channels.^{14—17} The primary mode of action of calcium antagonists is at these PDC.

1. 1. 2 Current Status of Calcium Channels

1. 1. 2. 1 Classification of Calcium Channels

Plasmalemmal calcium channels are categorized as three distinct classes,^{18,19} i.e., L, T and N-type. They are distinguishable by several characteristics including electrophysiological and pharmacological properties and by tissue and cellular localization and function. The calcium antagonists—nifedipine, verapamil and diltiazem—have played a major role in the pharmacological and biological characterization of potential-dependent calcium channels. The L channels inactivate slowly, are of large conductance, and are of importance in tissues, including the cardiovascular system, where relatively sustained and large amounts of Ca²⁺ are required. By contrast the T or transient channels, inactivate rapidly, and are likely to be involved in the generation of rhythmic or pacemaker activities, and to serve as a trigger for the initiation of other ionic currents. N channels have thus far been described only in neuronal cells, and this selective localization could explain, in part, the insensitivity of many neuronal processes to the therapeutically available calcium antagonists.^{19,20}

1. 1. 2. 2 Modulation of Calcium Channels

Voltage-dependent calcium channels are modulated both positively and negatively by a variety of mechanisms. Several messenger systems interact with ion channels in general to control channel availability.¹⁴⁻¹⁶ These messenger systems, including cAMP, cGMP, protein kinase C, and calcium calmodulin, are frequently dually regulated by activating or inhibitory receptors. Additionally, the effect of a modulating process may differ according to the channel type and tissue localization. The enhancement of cardiac calcium channel function by cAMP-dependent protein phosphorylation has been particularly described.²¹ Both stimulatory and inhibitory effects of protein kinase C activation have been observed for calcium channels in neurons and other preparations.²²— ²⁴ Regardless of the specific messenger, it is likely that channel phosphorylation is the key modulatory event, and that a variety of mechanisms may be involved in the same and different channel types. Calcium channels are also regulated through interaction with guanine nucleotide (G) binding proteins. $^{25-27}$ The actions of calcium channel ligands at the 1,4-dihydropyridine sensitive L-type channel in sensory neurons are modulated by G protein ligands, whereby the antagonists in the presence of GTPyS potentiate calcium current, an effect that is blocked by pertussis toxin.²⁸ This suggests that G protein state influences the mode of drug interactions at these channels. This channel G protein interaction may be an important determinant of channel function and drug affinity and mechanism.

1. 1. 2. 3 Structure of Calcium Channels

The 1,4-dihydropyridines (1,4-DHPs) have been used as high-affinity probes for the purification of the calcium channel / drug receptor complex from skeletal muscle. As many as five putative subunits have been identified and designated α_1 , α_2 , β , γ and δ^{-16} , ²⁹⁻³² The full length amino acid sequences of three of these putative skeletal muscle subunits (α_1 , α_2 and β) have been deduced from cDNA clones ³³⁻³⁵ Studies indicate that only the α_1 subunit binds the calcium antagonists,³⁶ but it is likely that the other subunits are also concerned as an oligomeric assembly with calcium channel function ^{28,29}

Studies of calcium channels from different tissue sources show tissue-specific variation. Tissue-specific isoforms of DHP-sensitive calcium channels ("isochannels") have been shown to possess distinct electrophysiological, pharmacological, and structural properties. Molecular biological studies have revealed the primary sequences of both the skeletal muscle^{33,34} and cardiac muscle^{37,38} α_1 subunits. The cardiac and skeletal muscle α_1 subunits are similar and share structural features with other voltage-dependent cation channels. These α_1 subunits, like the α subunits of Na⁺ channels, are arranged in four repeating hydrophobic motifs, each consisting of six conserved transmembrane domains Partial amino acid sequences of tissue-specific α_1 subunits (skeletal, brain, cardiac and aorta) were compared. It suggests that differences among the species probably represent tissue specific variations of the α_1 subunits ³⁹

1. 1. 2. 4 A Number of Binding Sites for Calcium Antagonists

~

Over 70 compounds in various stages of clinical or preclinical development have been classified as calcium antagonists.⁴⁰ The major structural categories of ligands active at voltage-dependent calcium channels are the phenylalkylamine, 1,4-DHP and benzothiazepine classes depicted in Figure 1. These agents have been well characterized and act primarily at the L class of channel. There is good evidence that the phenylalkylamine, 1,4-DHP and benzothiazepine categories define three allosterically linked binding sites on a major protein component of the channel.⁴¹ Additionally, discrete sites of action in brain and smooth cardiac and skeletal muscle are defined by the neuroleptic diphenylpiperidines including pimozide, penfluridol, and fluspirilene⁴²⁻⁴⁴



Figure 2. Structures of neuroleptic diphenylpiperidines

(Figure 2) and a fourth binding site for fluspirilene has been demonstrated.⁴⁵ A fifth and a sixth, allosterically linked binding sites on the L type of calcium channel have been also defined with HOE 166^{46} (I in Figure 3) and SR 33557 (Figure 3),⁴⁷ respectively. It is clear that a very large number of structures possess some degree of calcium antagonistic activity.

1. 1. 3 Current Status of Calcium Antagonists

Besides currently used calcium antagonists, there are several new structural classes of ligands added,⁴⁸ some of which⁴⁶⁻⁵⁰ are shown in Figure 3. These calcium antagonists appear to exert their effects primarily at the L type of channels. Compound I (HOE 166),⁴⁶ combining structural features from several classes, binds with high affinity, K_D 10⁻¹⁰ M, to skeletal muscle with a similar density to that detuning other ligands. In smooth and cardiac muscle, I exhibits a potency intermediate between nifedipine and verapamil. Compound II,⁴⁹ possessing some structural similarity to I, showed the lowest cardioselectivity compared to verapamil and diltiazem. This suggests that compound II would exhibit fewer adverse effects due to cardiac inhibition than diltiazem and verapamil in therapeutic use. Compounds III-VI⁵⁰ represent a novel class of calcium antagonists. Compound III possessed the most potent calcium antagonistic activity *in vitro* in this series, being *ca*. 10 times more potent than that of diltiazem.

1. 2 Diltiazem and Its Metabolites

Diltiazem (DTZ) is a calcium antagonist widely used in the treatment of angina pectoris.^{51,52} It probably acts by increasing myocardial oxygen supply and decreasing



Figure 3. Some new structural classes of calcium antagonists

myocardial oxygen demand, mainly by coronary artery dilatation and / or via both direct and indirect hemodynamic alterations. In addition, it has also been shown to be effective as an antihypertensive^{53,54} and anti-arrhythmic agent particularly in the control of supraventricular tachycardia.^{55,56} Recently, some investigators reported that DTZ is effective in the prevention of reinfarction in patients with non-Q-wave infarction⁵⁷ and others have found it to be useful as an anti-platelet agent^{58,59} and in the treatment of Raynaud's phenomenon⁶⁰ and tardive dyskinesia.^{61,62} Thus DTZ is a therapeutic agent with a wide spectrum of activities.

DTZ is subject to significant first pass metabolism and is rapidly and extensively converted in humans to a variety of metabolites. Major metabolites are illustrated in Scheme I. Several of these have potent pharmacological activities. For instance, the coronary vasodilating potencies of deacetylated DTZ (1) and *N*-demethylated DTZ (2) are approximately 50% and 20%, respectively, of that of DTZ.⁶³ In contrast, 1 (deacetylated DTZ) and 3 (*O*-demethylated DTZ) are considerably more potent than DTZ in inhibiting platelet aggregation⁶⁴ and uptake of adenosine by erythrocytes.⁶⁵ In recent years, despite a rather safe record with its clinical use, many cases of serious adverse effects which might be linked to DTZ have been reported, including cutaneous vasculitis,⁶⁶ thrombocytopenia,⁶⁷ heart block,⁶⁸ parkinsonism,⁶⁹ and even fatal renal and hepatic toxicity.⁷⁰ The extent to which the metabolites contribute to both the therapeutic and adverse effects of DTZ needs to be investigated. Recently, three more new DTZ metabolites were detected from human urine and were tentatively identified as *N*,*O*-dimethylated DTZ (**5**)⁷¹ and diltiazem *N*-oxide (**6**). Their identifies were not confirmed since no authentic compounds were available.



Scheme I. Major Basic DTZ Metabolites Found in Human Urine

Chart I. Composition of DTZ and Its Metabolites



Compd	Name ^a	R ¹	R ²	R ³
DTZ		Me	Ac	NMe ₂
1	M1	Me	Н	NMe ₂
2	МА	Me	Ac	NHMe
3	M4	Н	Н	NMe ₂
4	MB	Н	Ac	NHMe
5	MX	Н	Ac	NMe ₂
6	DTZNO	Me	Ac	NOMe ₂
7	M2	Me	Н	NHMe
8	M6	Н	H	NHMe

^aFor unsystematic names of diltiazem metabolites, see lit.⁷² (M1, M2, M4, M6); lit.⁷³ (MA) and lit.⁷¹ (MB, MX).

ŧ

1. 3 A Novel Class of Coleium Antagonists, Dibenzotricyclic Systems (DBTs)

Calcium antagonists can influence cardiovascular hemodynamics by three principal actions: coronary arterial dilation, peripheral arterial dilation, and a negative inotropic effect. Nifedipine dilates the renal arteries, abolishing autoregulation in the experimental animal and, at least in humans, it also dilates the cerebral arteries. This widespread vasodilation reduces systemic vascular resistance both in animals and in humans,⁷⁴ increasing both contractility and heart rate. Nifedipine can also cause hypotension. Verapamil and diltiazem are less potent peripheral vasodilators than nifedipine.

Attempts to find tissue selective calcium antagonists have been made for more than a decade. Recently, a series of compounds with dibenzotricyclic structures (DBTs) were reported as a new class of calcium antagonists having selectivity for cardiac tissue over vascular tissue.⁵⁰ Compound III and its analogs (IV—VI) in Figure 4 represent this class of compounds. These DBTs may confer antianginal activity without an effect on blood pressure. Structure-activity relationships show that calcium anta_onistic activity increases with a decrease of the angle between the planes of the two benzene rings in DBTs, at least within the range of 120° to 127° (Table 2) and the electrostatic potential of the bridge portion in the dibenzotricyclic system is crucial for activity.⁵⁰

We thought that our dibenzothiazepinone derivatives (9—13 in Figure 4 and Chart II) should have more acute angles of flexure than those of reference compounds III—VI due to the smaller bond angle of the S atom and the planar amide bond in the central ring of the tricyclic system. The X-ray diffraction and molecular modeling confirmed this prediction and showed the angle between the planes of the flanking aromatic rings of



III



IV (X = S) $\mathbf{V} (\mathbf{X} = \mathbf{O})$

VI (X = CH_2)



Structure comparison of the DBTs in this study with DBTs in the Figure 4. literature⁵⁰

Compd ^a	Angle (deg)	Ca ²⁺ antagonistic activity pA ₂ b
III	119.37	8.98±0.08
IV	123.64	8.71±0.08
VI	126.41	8.03±0.06
v	126.93	7.48±0.11
diltiazem		7.42±0.05
verapamil		8.16±0.15
nifedipine		9.83±0.08

Table 2. Correlation of the Angles between the Planes of the Two Benzene Rings and the Calcium Antagonistic Activities of DBTs⁵⁰

^aDiltiazem, verapamil and nifedipine are listed here as reference for calcium antagonistic activity.

^bNegative logarithm of the molar concentrations of the test compounds that cause a shift by a factor of 2 toward higher concentration in the calcium concentration-response curve.

unsubstituted dibenzothiazepinone, 14 (Figure 4), to be 108.4° (X-ray) and 101° (MMX calculation), *ca.* 13 degrees smaller than that obtained from X-ray crystallographic data (121°) of the tricyclic nucleus of the reference compound III (see Discussion section). Compounds 9—13 might be expected to have enhanced calcium antagonistic activity compared with the DBTs previously reported⁵⁰ providing the minimum angle requirement has been met. To test the effect of flexure angle in DBTs with this substitution pattern, compounds 15—18 were designed. These compounds may have an angle of flexure (*ca.* 120°) comparable to those of the reference compounds III—VI. To test whether the 4-[4-(fluorophenyl)]piperazinyl moiety with a carbon spacer of appropriate length is essential for

activity or not, the known compounds **19** and **20** were also synthesized. Dibenzothiazepinones with N-benzyl-N-methylamino replacing 4-[4-(fluor_phenyl)]piperazinyl (**21**—**24**) were also prepared on suggestion by an individual from the company which reported compounds III—VI, Dainippon Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd (Sato, F., personal communication).

Chart II. Composition of Dibenzotricyclic Systems



Compd	Х	R	n
9	S		2
10 11	S S	same as above same as above	3 4
12 13 15	S S O	same as above same as above same as above	5 6 3
16 17	Ö O	same as above same as above	45
18 19 20	S	same as above —N(CH ₃) ₂	6 2 2
20	5	same as above	2
21	S	$-N(CH_3)CH_2 - $	3
2 3 2 4	S S	same as above same as above same as above	5

1.4 Effects of Calcium Antagonists on *In Vitro* Adenosine Uptake by Erythrocyte

Adenosine is an endogenous purine nucleoside that plays a pivotal role in maintaining adequate oxygen and energy supply throughout the body.⁷⁵ Whenever there is a mismatch in the myocardium between energy supply and energy demand, the nucleotides (ATP, ADP, AMP) are rapidly degraded by consecutive dephosphorylation to form adenosine.⁷⁶ The actions of adenosine are mediated through specific cell-surface receptors,⁷⁷ of which at least two subtypes are known. A1 and A2. Due to its potent actions on many organs and systems, adenosine is an obvious target for the development of new drugs.

The growing evidence for a major role of adenosine as a "natural defence" for cardioprotection has been recognized.^{78,79} It is known that adenosine is rapidly produced in response to myocardial ischemia.^{8,1} During hypoxia, adenosine released into the coronary circulation dilates the coronary arteries to increase blood flow, and hence oxygen supply, to the myocardium. At the same time, it decreases cardiac workload and thus oxygen demand, thereby protecting the heart from ischemic injury.^{81,82} The effect of adenosine is extremely short-lived because it is rapidly taken up by erythrocytes and metabolized mainly into inosine and hypoxanthine.⁸³

One mechanism involved in stimulating adenosine receptors indirectly, causing the actions of locally released adenosine to be prolonged, is believed to be .nrough nucleoside transport inhibition.⁷⁸ There are several classes of nucleoside transport inhibitors. The structures of some representative compounds are shown in Figure 5. There is also evidence to suggest that the calcium antagonists such as verapamil, nifedipine, diltiazem


DIPYRIDAMOLE







Figure 5 Structures of some representative nucleoside transport inhibitor.

1

and its metabolites may inhibit the uptake of adenosine, although they have considerably different potencies.^{65, 84--87}

Nucleoside transport inhibitors prolong the actions of locally released adenosine by interfering with its uptake into the cell. A classic example of a transport inhibitor is dipyridamole (Figure 5), which exerts its coronary vasodilation and inhibition of platelet aggregation by inhibiting adenosine uptake, thus enhancing its actions on coronary artery or platelet A₂ receptors.⁸⁸ Newer adenosine uptake inhibitors include mioflazine, lidoflazine, and R75231 (Figure 5) developed by Janssen Pharmaceuticals.^{89,90}

1.5 Anti-HIV Activity of Some Dibenzothiazepinone Derivatives

In the course of my synthesis of dibenzothiazepinone derivatives, I became aware that some pyridobenzo-, and dipyridodiazepinones,^{91,92} and pyridobenz-, and dibenzoxazepinones as well as their derivatives⁹³ (Figure 6) are very potent non-nucleoside inhibitors of HIV-1 reverse transcriptase (HIV-1 RT) with IC₅₀ values 20—80 nM.⁹¹ These compounds were the results of intensive lead optimization following a high capacity screening program specifically designed to identity a non-nucleoside inhibitor of HIV-1 RT in Boehringer Ingelheim Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Since 25 (Figure 6), an analog of VIII, could be readily synthesized from 14, it was prepared and submitted to National Institutes of Health (NIH), National Cancer Institute, Bethesda, Maryland, USA for evaluation of its anti-HIV activity. Compound 26 (Figure 6), which had been formed from a side reaction in the attempted acylation of 14 (see section 2. 2. 2), was also evaluated.

.4

Since the discovery of a retroviral cause for acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (AIDS)⁹⁴⁻⁹⁶ a decade ago, a tremendous effort has been made to search for and design

ŗ

new anti-human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) agents. The majority of these agents act by (a) inhibiting enzymes such as RT, protease, or glycosidase, (b) arresting expression of



Figure 6. Composition of reference compounds and DBTs tested for anti-HIV activity

genes or gene products, (c) inhibiting viral processes such as giant cell formation or viral binding to the target cell. The nucleoside RT inhibitors are the most widely studied agents at both preclinical and clinical levels. Their inability to cure AIDS has stimulated the

discovery of several novel non-nucleoside RT inhibitors, possessing a variety of structures and demonstrating activity at nanomolar concentrations. Among these are nevirapine (VII) and tricyclic pyridobenzoxazepinones and dibenzoxazepinones.

Nevirapine has been found to be a potent ($IC_{50} = 84$ nM) and specific noncompetitive ($K_i = 200$ nM) inhibitor of HIV-1 RT which acts at an allosteric site of the enzyme.^{91, 97} It blocks HIV-1 replication *in vitro* ($IC_{50} = 40$ nM) in CD4⁺ human T-cells (c8166), but is noncytotoxic except at significantly higher doses ($CC_{50} = 321,000$ nM).⁹⁸ In comparision, AZT (3'-azido-3'-deoxythymidine, the first therapeutic agent to treat AIDS) is a more potent inhibitor of HIV-1 replication *in vitro* ($IC_{50} = 6$ nM), but is more cytotoxic ($CC_{50} = 66,000$ nM) than nevirapine in the same assay.⁹¹ Like the diazepinone class of RT inhibitors, the oxazepinones are also inhibitors specific for HIV-1, exhibiting no inhibitory activity against HIV-2 RT or against mammalian DNA polymerases. However, as a class, oxazepinones are less potent inhibitors of HIV-1 RT than are diazepinones. In addition, oxazepinones suffer the disadvantage of being less soluble than diazepinones.

Unfortunately, the initial excitement of finding nevirapine and its congeners as nonnucleoside inhibitors of HIV-1 RT was dampened because resistance can develop in as little as a month.^{99, 100} However, the contribution of nevirapine to the crystal structure of HIV-1 RT is still having a great deal of impact on the rational design of new HIV-1 RT inhibitors.¹⁰¹ A crystal structure at 3.5 Å resolution of HIV-1 RT complexed with nevirapine was achieved. The structure of this complex suggests some mechanisms by which nevirapine inhibits HIV-1 RT and facilitates the design of new inhibitors that might prove to be effective drugs to control AIDS.

į

1.6 Objectives of the Project

The objectives of this project were: to synthesize the eight major DTZ metabolites shown in Chart I; to characterize the three unconfirmed DTZ metabolites (4—6) isolated from biological samples by comparing their retention times on reversed phase high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) and LC-MS / MS with those of synthetic DTZ metabolites; and to evaluate calcium antagonistic activity of DTZ metabolites and to study the effects of DTZ metabolites on the nucleoside transport, i.e., adenosine uptake by erythrocytes; assisted with molecular modeling to design and synthesize novel calcium antagonists, including dibenzothiazepinone and dibenzoxazepinone derivatives (9—13, 15—24, Chart II); to evaluate their calcium antagonistic activities and effects on adenosine uptake by erythrocytes, and to evaluate anti-HIV activity of some dibenzothiazepinone derivatives (9—14, 25 and 26).

Ŀ

DISCUSSION

2. 1 MOLECULAR MODELING

Molecular modeling is becoming an increasingly useful tool in determining the active conformation of known receptor ligands and in the prediction of novel, active compounds. In principle, when the structure of the target protein and the position of the active site are known, it is theoretically possible to rationally design compounds that will specifically interact with the receptor. When little is known about the structure of the receptor protein, much information can still be gleaned from studying the active conformations of receptor ligands.

Molecular mechanics is a valuable tool for rapid estimation of the structure and evaluation of the relative stabilities of conformers and diastereomers in σ -bonded organic compounds.¹⁰² The Allinger MM2 program¹⁰³ is most often used because of the breadth of compounds treated and the care with which parameters were selected. The program treats molecules as a collection of deformable balls (atoms) whose size is related to the van der Waals radius and these atoms are held together by springs (bonds) whose nateral lengths and angles, and harmonic stretching and bending force constants are chosen to reproduce the structure and strain energy of organic molecules. MMX¹⁰⁴ is an enhanced version of MM2 developed by the Department of Chemistry at Indiana University. This new program enhanced MM2 to give not only reasonable geometries for more exotic unsaturated hydrocarbons, but also heats of formation of conjugated π systems including radicals, cations, and anions. Some new parameters for many functional group types and a

new attractive term for hydrogen bonding were included in the program to overcome certain inadequacies of parameters and potential functions in MM2 for polar molecules.

It should be kept in mind that molecular mechanics calculates energies in a gas phase environment. For molecules containing polar functional groups in the presence of a solvent, especially water in real biological systems, the MMX minimized geometry might not reflect the real three-dimensional arrangment of atoms. In addition, none of the molecular mechanics programs can guarantee that the global minimum has been achieved. Any molecular mechanics program will minimize the potential energy of a molecule to a geometry in a local minimum, possibly in a global minimum, that closely resembles the input structure.

Molecular mechanics is one of the most conceptually straightforward of the techniques employed in computer-assisted drug design,¹⁰⁴⁻¹⁰⁶ and also one of the most widely used because conformational minimizations for even quite large drug molecules can be solved within minutes on microcomputers. There are some software packages such as PCMODEL available for personal computers.^{102,103,107,108}

2. 1. 1 Modeling of Reference Compound III and Dibenzothiazepinone 12

Compound 12 (Chart II) has been selected for molecular modeling for a better geometry comparison because it has the same numbers of atoms on the side chain as those of reference compound III (Figure 4 and Table 2), the most potent calcium antagonist in the series. Since compound 12 is an oil and its hydrochloride salt did not form a suitable crystal for X-ray crystallography, the X-ray crystallographic data of compound 14, the tricyclic nucleus of 12, were used as input for molecular mechanics calculations for 12. A single-crystal X-ray diffraction (Figure 7) reveals the crystal structure of 14 to adopt a "butterfly-like" conformation with a flexure angle of 108.4°, 13° smaller than that (121°) of the tricyclic nucleus of III from X-ray crystallographic data in the literature.¹⁰⁹ Due to electron delocalization effects, the amide moiety in the 7-membered ring adopts a virtually planar conformation, with a torsion angle (C12-C13-N1-C6) of -4.6°.

MMX was used to optimize the molecular geometries of compounds III and 12. X-Ray crystallographic data for the tricyclic nuclei of both compounds were used as input for molecular mechanics calculations. The structure of the tricyclic nucleus of compound III with labeled atom numbers is shown in Figure 8. Optimized molecular geometries of III and 12 are shown in Figure 9. The angles between the planes of the flanking aromatic rings are 119° for III and 101° for 12. The *para*-fluorophenyl group is almost perpendicular to the piperazine ring in both cases. Although the attachment point of the side chain of 12 is different from that of III, the five-carbon chain of 12 may allow the piperazine molety to achieve the same relative position with respect to the tricyclic nucleus.

The flexure angles of DBTs reported here may have errors of *ca.* 1° or 2°, since they were measured manually by a protractor on a print-out after MMX calculations. The errors may come mainly from the orientation of the molecules achieved by rotation of the MMX minimized structures. Due to a slight twist of the benzene rings in the DBTs, it is difficult to rotate the molecule to an orientation in which the flexure angle can be measured accurately. However, many print-outs with different orientations of the MMX-minimized structures were generated and the flexure angles were measured as accurately as possible. The PCMODEL-generated structure from the X-ray crystallographic data was also used as a control to ensure measurement was appropriate and correct.



·

Figure 7. X-Ray crystal structure of 14

.

١



.

,

Figure 8. Structure of the tricyclic nucleus of compound III



Figure 9. Structure comparison of reference compound III with dibenzothiazepinone 12 after energy minimization with MMX

;

I'

The angles between the planes of the flanking aromatic rings from molecular mechanics calculations in this study are smaller (2° and 7.4° for III and 12, respectively) than those of X-ray crystal structures of these dibenzotricyclic systems. The value reported for III with AM1 calculations with geometry optimization from the literature⁵⁰ is also 1.6° lower than that of the X-ray structure.¹⁰⁹ The large discrepancy of the flexure angle (7.4°) of 12 between X-ray and MMX calculation, in this study, may be due to a poorly parameterized S atom in the molecular mechanics program, while no more than a 2° difference between Xray and MMX calculation for compound III is expected since hydrocarbons are well parameterized for molecular mechanics. The X-ray crystallographic data of the tricyclic nucleus of III from literature¹⁰⁹ were used as input and the rest of the molecule was built using template fragment or standard bond length and angles available in PCMODEL for molecular mechanics calculations of reference compound III. The X-ray coordinates, parameters including intramolecular distances and bond angles of the tricyclic nucleus of III and the results of molecular mechanics calculations are listed in Tables 3-5. The molecular mechanics calculations for 14 using X-ray crystallographic data as input were performed. All parameters including intramolecular distances, bond angles and torsion angles are, in fact, very consistent with those from X-ray crystallographic data (Tables 6-9).

Atom	Х	Y	Z
C6	0.1517 (31)	0.1241 (4)	0.7326 (21)
C7	0.0720 (30)	0.1123 (4)	0.5525 (22)
<u>C8</u>	0.1991 (30)	0.1191 (4)	0.4433 (23)
<u>C9</u>	0.1206 (34)	0.1098 (4)	0.2767 (24)
C10	-0.0735 (38)	0.0961 (5)	0.2228 (26)
C11	-0.1993 (33)	0.0878 (5)	0.3268 (24)
C12	-0.1185 (29)	0.0934 (4)	0.4979 (23)
C13	-0.2418 (30)	0.0733 (4)	0.6002 (23)
C14	-0.1739 (29)	0.0561 (4)	0.7442 (24)
C15	0.0348 (32)	0.0526 (4)	0.8380 (23)
C16	0.0818 (33)	0.0156 (4)	0.9400 (24)
C17	0.2797 (35)	0.0068 (5)	1.0283 (23)
C18	0.4360 (32)	0.0341 (5)	1.0084 (22)
C19	0.3979 (30)	0.0720 (4)	0.9174 (21)
C20	0.1962 (28)	0.0819 (4)	0.8275 (19)

Table 3.Final X-Ray Fractional Coordinates for Non-hydrogen Atoms for theTricyclic Nucleus¹⁰⁹ of Reference Compound III

Estimated standard deviations in the least or second least significant figure are given in parentheses.

.

		Distance	
Atom	Atom	X-ray	MMX
C7	C6	1.55 (2)	1.509
C8	C7	1.39 (1)	1.406
C9	C8	1.43 (2)	1.397
C11	C10	1.36 (1)	1.395
C13	C12	1.46 (2)	1.480
<u>C15</u>	C14	1.45 (2)	1.479
C20	C15	1.42 (2)	1.407
C18	C17	1.38 (2)	1.401
C20	C19	1.43 (2)	1.407
C20	<u>C6</u>	1.53 (2)	1.509
C12	<u>C7</u>	1.38 (2)	1.407
C10	<u>C9</u>	1.34 (2)	1.401
C12	C11	1.45 (2)	1.409
C14	C13	1.32 (2)	1.351
C16	C15	1.43 (2)	1.410
C17	C16	1.39 (2)	1.395
C19	C18	1.39 (1)	1.397

Table 4.Intramolecular Distances of the Tricyclic Nucleus of Reference CompoundIII from X-ray109 and MMX Calculations

•

Distances are in angstroms (Å). Estimated standard deviations in the least significant figure are given in parentheses.

Table 5.Intramolecular Bond Angles of the Tricyclic Nucleus of ReferenceCompound III Involving the Non-hydrogen Atoms from X-ray¹⁰⁹ and MMXCalculations.

			Angle	
Atom	Atom	Atom	X-ray	MMX
C20	C6	C7	107.8 (1)	109.26
C12	C7	C6	121.6 (1)	120.88
C9	C8	C7	118.8 (1)	121.06
C12	C11	C10	118.6 (2)	120.87
C13	C12	C7	125.0 (1)	122.58
C14	C13	C12	126.8 (1)	125.38
C16	C15	C14	116.9 (2)	117.89
C20	C15	C16	118.6 (1)	119.40
C18	C17	C16	117.7 (1)	119.68
C20	C19	C18	120.9 (1)	121.20
C19	C20	C6	121.2 (1)	119.75
C8	C7	C6	119.4 (1)	119.92
C12	C7	C8	118.9 <u>(</u> 1)	119.20
C11	C10	C9	121.2 (2)	119.73
C11	C12	C7	120.3 (1)	119.42
C13	C12	C11	114.3 (1)	117.99
C15	C14	C13	129.5 (1)	125.51
C20	C15	C14	124.3 (1)	122.70
C17	C16	C15	122.7 (2)	120.97
C19	C18	C17	122.0 (2)	119.65
C15	C20	C6	120.9 (1)	121.16
C19	C20	C15	117.7 (1)	119.09

Angles are in degrees (°). Estimated standard deviations in the least significant figure are given in parentheses.

Atom	X	Y	Z
S1	0.1699 (2)	0.4762 (1)	0.1229 (1)
N1	0.1015 (4)	0.5457 (3)	0.3648 (3)
01	0.1613 (4)	0.3954 (2)	0.4708 (2)
C1	0.1658 (5)	0.6102 (4)	0.1747 (3)
C13	0.1999 (6)	0.4543 (4)	0.3902 (3)
C11	0.5262 (6)	0.3869 (3)	0.3935 (3)
C12	0.3662 (5)	0.4246 (3)	0.3285 (3)
C5	0.1337 (6)	0.7353 (4)	0.3271 (4)
C6	0.1368 (5)	0.6302 (4)	0.2878 (3)
C4	0.1581 (6)	0.8216 (4)	0.2574 (4)
C9	0.6832 (6)	0.3583 (4)	0.2273 (4)
C8	0.5265 (6)	0.3947 (4)	0.1613 (4)
C2	0.1912 (6)	0.6989 (4)	0.1047 (4)
C3	0.1866 (6)	0.8042 (4)	0.1453 (4)
C7	0.3675 (5)	0.4288 (3)	0.2109 (3)
C10	0.6849 (6)	0.3553 (4)	0.3436 (4)

Table 6.Final X-Ray Fractional Coordinates for Non-hydrogen Atoms for 14^a

Estimated standard deviations in the least significant figure given in parentheses.

		Distance	
Atom	Atom	X-ray	MMX
S1	C1	1.759 (5)	1.771
S 1	C7	1.775 (4)	1.772
N1	C13	1.346 (5)	1.353
N1	C6	1.421 (5)	1.367
O1	C13	1.250 (5)	1.218
C1	C6	1.396 (6)	1.403
C1	C2	1.393 (6)	1.401
C13	C12	1.497 (5)	1.491
C11	C12	1.397 (5)	1.406
C11	C10	1.383 (6)	1.399
C12	C7	1.395 (5)	1.409
C5	C6	1.376 (6)	1.402
C5	C4	1.366 (6)	1.400
C4	C3	1.380 (6)	1.399
C9	C8	1.380 (6)	1.401
C9	C10	1.378 (6)	1.398
C8	C7	1.392 (5)	1.400
C2	C3	1.383 (6)	1.400

Table 7.Intramolecular Distances of 14 from X-ray^a and MMX Calculations

Distances are in angstroms (Å). Estimated standard deviations in the least significant figure are given in parentheses.

[I		Angle		
Atom	Atom	Atom	X-ray	MMX	
C1	S1	C7	98.1 (2)	97.15	
C13	N1	C6	129.3 (3)	125.77	
S1	Cl	C6	120.5 (3)	120.65	
S1	C1	C2	121.2 (3)	119.39	
C6	C1	C2	118.2 (4)	119.96	
N1	C13	01	120.5 (4)	116.18	
N1	C13	C12	121.1 (4)	125.39	
01	C13	C12	118.3 (4)	118.42	
C12	C11	C10	121.3 (4)	120.91	
C13	C12	C11	117.2 (4)	118.80	
C13	C12	C7	123.9 (4)	122.18	
C11	C12	C7	118.8 (4)	119.00	
C6	C5	C4	121.3 (4)	120.63	
N1	C6	C1	122.6 (4)	123.19	
N1	C6	C5	117.4 (4)	117.42	
C1	C6	C5	119.9 (4)	119.37	
C5	C4	C3	120.0 (5)	119.83	
C8	C9	C10	120.5 (4)	119.74	
C9	C8	C7	120.6 (4)	120.64	
C1	C2	C3	121.1 (4)	120.35	
C4	C3	C2	119.4 (4)	119.82	
S1	C7	C12	121.4 (3)	121.58	
S1	C7	C8	119.1 (3)	118.51	
C12	<u>C7</u>	C8	119.5 (4)	119.89	
C11	C10	C9	119.2 (4)	119.81	

Table 8. Intramolecular Bond Angles of 14 Involving the Non-hydrogen Atomsfrom X-ray^a and MMX Calculations.

Angles are in degrees (°). Estimated standard deviations in the least significant figure are given in parentheses.

(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	Angle	
	, ,	. ,	. ,	X-ray	MMX
S1	C1	C6	N1	-2.8 (5)	-5.17
S 1	C1	C6	C5	-179.9 (3)	176.48
S1	C1	C2	C3	179.5 (3)	-177.87
S1	C7	C12	C13	2.7 (6)	-1.57
S1	C7	C12	C11	-179.8 (3)	179.73
S1	C7	C8	C9	179.4 (4)	-178.78
<u>N1</u>	C13	C12	C11	136.1 (4)	136.64
N1	C13	C12	C7	46.4 (6)	-42.06
N1	C6	C1	C2	(4)	175.89
N1	C6	C5	<u>C4</u>	-177.1 (4)	-176.32
O1	C13	N1	C6	170.9 (4)	172.62
<u>O1</u>	C13	C12	C11	-39.6 (6)	-44.52
O1	C13	C12	C7	138.0 (4)	136.78
C1	<u>S1</u>	C7	C12	62.6 (4)	63.43
<u>C1</u>	S1	C7	C8	-117.7 (4)	-118.23
C1	C6	N1	<u>C13</u>	52.6 (6)	56.42
<u>C1</u>	C6	C5	<u>C4</u>	0.2 (6)	2.13
<u>C1</u>	<u>C2</u>	C3	<u>C4</u>	0.6 (7)	0.66
<u>C13</u>	<u>N1</u>	<u>C6</u>	<u>C5</u>	-130.2 (5)	-125.20
<u>C13</u>	C12	C11	C10	178.5 (4)	179.72
C13	C12	C7	<u>C8</u>	-177.0 (4)	-179.89
C11	C12	C7	<u>C8</u>	0.5 (6)	1.41
<u>C11</u>	C10	C9	<u>C8</u>	1.4 (7)	0.39
<u>C12</u>	C13	N1	<u>C6</u>	-4.6 (7)	-8.51
<u>C12</u>	C11	C10	<u>C9</u>	-1.7 (7)	0.64
C12	C7	C8	C9	-0.9 (7)	-0.42
C5	C6	C1	C2	0.1 (6)	-2.47
C5	C4	C3	C2	-0.3 (7)	-1.01
C6	C1	S1	C7	-62.2 (4)	-63.53
C6	C1	C2	C3	-0.5 (6)	1.09
C6	C5	C4	C3	-0.1 (7)	-0.39
C2	C1	S1	C7	117.8 (4)	116.42
<u>C7</u>	C12	C11	C10	0.8 (6)	-1.53
C7	C8	C9	C10	-0.1 (8)	-0.49

Table 9.Torsion or Conformation Angles of 14 from X-raya and MMX Calculations

Angles are in degrees (°). Estimated standard deviations in the least significant figure are given in parentheses. The sign is positive if when looking from atom 2 to atom 3 a clockwise motion of atom 1 would superimpose it on atom 4.

2. 1. 2 Modeling of Dibenzothiazepinone 13 and Dibenzoxazepinone 18

Compounds 13 and 18 were selected for X-ray diffraction determination because they have suitable crystals for X-ray crystallography with the same chain length (6 carbon spacer) representative of dibenzothiazepinones and dibenzoxazepinones. X-Ray crystallographic data of 13 and 18 were used as input for molecular mechanics calculations. X-Ray coordinates, parameters including intramolecular distances, bond angles and torsion angles of 13 and 18 are shown in Tables 10—13 and Tables 14—17. The results of parameters after MMX calculations are listed in the corresponding X-ray crystallographic data tables. X-Ray structures of 13 is shown in Figures 10. The structure of 13 after geometry minimization with MMX (bond only) is shown in Figure 11. X-Ray structures of 18 is shown in Figure 12. The structure of 18 after geometry minimization with MMX (bond only) is shown in Figure 13. Structure comparisons of 13 with 18 after geometry minimization with MMX are shown in Figure 14.

Similarly to the crystal structure of 14, an X-ray diffraction (Figure 10) shows the crystal structure of the dibenzotricyclic system of 13 to adopt a "butterfly-like" conformation with a flexure angle of 108°. The flexure angle after MMX geometry minimization is 101°, the same as that of 14.

The parameters of **13** including intramolecular distances, bond angles after geometry minimization by MMX are very consistent with those of X-ray crystallographic data (Tables 11 and 12), while torsion angles involving N3 after MMX calculations are far



Figure 10. X-Ray crystal structure of 13

•

μ



Figure 11. Structure 13 after geometry minimization with MMX

Atom	X	Y	Z
S1	0.6733 (3)	0.0075 (4)	0.0966 (2)
F1	0.6178 (8)	1.5962 (7)	0.8464 (5)
O1	0.8842 (8)	-0.1170 (9)	0.3805 (6)
N1	0.9097 (8)	0.060 (1)	0.2723 (6)
N2	0.6745 (8)	0.7757 (9)	0.6047 (6)
N3	0.6201 (8)	1.071 (1)	0.6579 (6)
C1	0.919 (1)	0.110 (1)	0.1746 (9)
<u>C2</u>	1.031 (1)	0.181 (1)	0.1705 (8)
C3	1.047 (1)	0.239 (1)	0.082 (1)
<u>C4</u>	0.945 (2)	0.228 (1)	-0.001 (1)
C5	0.823 (1)	0.160 (2)	0.004 (1)
<u>C6</u>	0.816 (1)	0.101 (1)	0.092 (1)
<u>C7</u>	0.745 (1)	-0.170 (1)	0.129 (1)
<u>C8</u>	0.706 (1)	-0.279 (2)	0.064 (1)
C9	0.760 (2)	-0.420 (2)	0.087 (1)
C10	0.855 (2)	-0.443 (1)	0.172 (1)
<u>C11</u>	0.894 (1)	-0.331 (2)	0.234 (1)
C12	0.841 (1)	-0.192 (1)	0.216 (1)
C13	0.879 (1)	-0.081 (1)	0.2940 (9)
C14	0.937 (1)	0.168 (1)	0.3524 (7)
<u>C15</u>	0.814 (1)	0.245 (1)	0.3616 (8)
<u>C15</u>	0.850 (1)	0.367 (1)	0.4381 (8)
<u>C17</u>	0.732 (1)	0.449 (1)	0.4556 (8)
C18	0.766 (1)	0.581 (1)	0.5190 (7)
C19	0.645 (1)	0.647 (1)	0.5420 (8)
C20	0.559 (1)	0.810 (1)	0.6397 (8)
C21	0.583 (1)	0.940 (1)	0.7086 (8)
C22	0.732 (1)	1.036 (1)	0.6150 (8)
C23	0.702 (1)	0.905 (1)	0.5494 (7)
C24	0.625 (1)	1.203 (1)	0.7081 (8)
C25	0.729 (1)	1.296 (1)	0.7234 (8)
C26	0.731 (1)	1,433 (1)	0.7712 (9)
C27	0.624 (2)	1.463 (1)	0.8014 (9)
C28	0.517 (1)	1.378 (2)	0.787 (1)
C29	0.561 (1)	1.245 (1)	0.7409 (9)

 Table 10.
 Final X-Ray Fractional Coordinates for Non-hydrogen Atoms for 13^a

Estimated standard deviations in the least significant figure are given in parentheses. ^aData obtained by Dr. T. S. Cameron, Department of Chemistry. ŀ

1

;

1

		Dista	ance
Atom	Atom	X-ray	MMX
S1	C6	1.77 (1)	1.771
S1	C7	1.80 (1)	1.775
F1	C27	1.40 (1)	1.352
Ol	C13	1.24 (1)	1.218
N1	Cl	1.46 (1)	1.377
N1	C13	1.38 (1)	1.363
N1	C14	1.49 (1)	1.473
N2	C19	1.48 (1)	1.466
N2	C20	1.48 (1)	1.460
N2	C23	1.47 (1)	1.460
N3	C21	1.49 (1)	1.458
N3	C22	1.51 (1)	1.458
N3	C24	1.41 (1)	1.369
C1	C2	1.39 (1)	1.403
C1	C6	1.38 (1)	1.405
C2	C3	1.39 (1)	1.400
C3	C4	1.38 (2)	1.398
C4	C5	1.38 (2)	1.400
C5	C6	1.39 (2)	1.401
C7	C8	1.36 (1)	1.399
C7	C12	1.38 (1)	1.410
C8	C9	1.41 (2)	1.402
C9	C10	1.36 (2)	1.397
C10	C11	1.36 (2)	1.401
C11	C12	1.38 (1)	1.404
C12	C13	1.50 (1)	1.498
C14	C15	1.52 (1)	1.539
C15	C16	1.54 (1)	1.539
C16	C17	1.54 (1)	1.541
C17	C18	1.51 (1)	1.540
C18	C19	1.53 (1)	1.544
<u>C20</u>	C21	1.53 (1)	1.534
C22	C23	1.51 (1)	1.535
C24	C25	1.38 (1)	1.402
C24	C29	1.41 (1)	1.400
C25	C26	1.43 (1)	1.398
C26	C27	1.35 (2)	1.401
C27	C28	1.36 (2)	1.398
C28	C29	1.39 (1)	1.400

 Table 11.
 Intramolecular Distances of 13 from X-ray^a and MMX Calculations

Distances are in angstroms (Å). Estimated standard deviations in the least significant figure are given in parentheses.

			Angle					An	gle
Atom	Atom	Atom	X-ray	MMX	Atom	Atom	Atom	X-ray	MMX
C6	S1	C7	97.6 (6)	94.97	C10	C11	C12	123 (1)	120.80
C1	N1	C13	123.7 (9)	121.40	C7	C12	C11	117(1)	119.00
C1	N1	C14	117.7 (9)	117.74	C7	C12	C13	124(1)	121.77
C13	N1	C14	118.6 (9)	120.83	C11	C12	C13	119(1)	119.23
C19	N2	C20	108.1 (8)	112.32	01	C13	N1	120(1)	119.99
C19	N2	C23	111.8 (8)	113.26	01	C13	C12	119(1)	116.01
C20	N2	C23	107.4 (8)	109.11	N1	C13	C12	122 (1)	123.98
C21	N3	C22	110.3 (8)	119.53	N1	C14	C15	112.4 (8)	112.55
C21	N3	C24	115.7 (9)	119.88	C14	C15	C16	109.7 (8)	111.84
C22	N3	C24	117.8 (9)	120.16	C15	C16	C17	113.9 (9)	113.50
N1	C1	C2	116(1)	119.41	C16	C17	C18	114.3 (9)	111.41
N1	C1	C6	122 (1)	121.77	C17	C18	C19	111.2 (9)	114.03
C2	C1	C6	121 (1)	118.77	N2	C19	C18	112.9 (9)	112.77
C1	C2	C3	121 (1)	120.83	N2	C20	C21	111.2 (9)	110.35
C2	C3	C4	118 (1)	119.92	N3	C21	C20	110.7 (9)	112.33
C3	C4	C5	121 (1)	119.67	N3	C22	C23	110.8 (8)	112.84
C4	C5	C6	121 (1)	120.24	N2	C23	C22	111.1 (9)	110.93
S1	C6	C1	121 (1)	120.28	N3	C24	C25	123 (1)	120.35
S1	C6	C5	121 (1)	119.30	N3	C24	C29	119(1)	119.67
C1	C6	C5	118 (1)	120.38	C25	C24	C29	118(1)	119.98
S 1	C7	C8	118(1)	119.14	C24	C25	C26	123 (1)	119.86
S 1	C7	C12	120(1)	120.83	C25	C26	C27	114(1)	120.12
C 8	C7	C12	122 (1)	120.02	F1	C27	C26	118(1)	119.97
C?	C 8	C9	119(1)	120 47	F1	C27	C28	116(1)	119.99
C 8	C9	C10	120(1)	119.78	C26	C27	C28	126(1)	120.03
C9	C10	C11	120(1)	119.87	C27	C28	C29	119(1)	119.89
C24	C29	C28	119(1)	120.10		<u></u>			

Table 12. Intramolecular Bond Angles of 13 Involving the Non-hydrogen Atomsfrom X-ray^a and MMX Calculations.

Angles are in degrees (°). Estimated standard deviations in the least significant figure are given in parentheses.

	l			Angle	
(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	X-ray	MMX
S 1	C6	C1	N1	-8 (1)	-9.74
S1	C6	C1	C2	178.9 (8)	172.78
S1	C6	C5	C4	-178 (1)	-175.22
S1	C7	C8	C9	-180 (1)	177.61
S1	C7	C12	C11	-178.5 (9)	-176.28
<u>S1</u>	C7	C12	C13	9 (2)	4.15
F1	C27	C26	C25	-178 (1)	-179.97
F1	C27	C28	C29	178 (1)	179.93
O1	C13	N1	Cl	174 (1)	170.15
O1	C13	N1	C14	-5 (2)	-11.85
01	C13	C12	C7	129 (1)	131.42
<u>O1</u>	C13	C12	C11	-44 (2)	-48.14
<u>N1</u>	C1	C2	C3	-176.8 (9)	-174.25
N1	C1	C6	C5	176 (1)	172.73
N1	C13	C12	C7	-51 (2)	-47.12
<u>N1</u>	C13	C12	C11	136 (1)	133.32
N1	C14	C15	C16	-174.0 (9)	-170.81
<u>N2</u>	C19	C18	C17	179.6 (9)	170.64
<u>N2</u>	C20	C21	N3	58 (1)	49.77
<u>N2</u>	C23	C22	N3	-59 (1)	-47.06
N3	C24	C25	C26	177 (1)	177.98
N3	C24	C29	C28	-178 (1)	-178.02
C1	N1	C13	C12	-6 (2)	-11.36
C1	N1	C14	C15	92 (1)	91.46
<u>C1</u>	C2	C3	C4	2 (2)	0.61
<u>C1</u>	C6	S1	C7	-62 (1)	-63.78
C18	C19	N2	C23	74 (1)	70.40
<u>C19</u>	N2	C23	C22	-179.8 (8)	-171.19
<u>C20</u>	C21	N3	C22	-53 (1)	-36.33
<u>C21</u>	N3	C22	C23	54(1)	35.00
C21	<u>N3</u>	C24	C29	-52 (1)	90.18
C22	N3	C24	C25	-3 (2)	98.51
C23	C22	N3	C24	-170.4 (9)	-152.47
C24	C29	C28	C27	-1 (2)	-0.34
C25	C26	C27	C28	-2 (2)	0.41
C26	C27	C28	C29	2 (2)	-0.44

Table 13.Torsion or Conformation Angles of 13 from X-ray^a and MMX Calculations

To be continued.

•

Table 13, continued.

				Angle	
(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	X-ray	MMX
Cl	C6	C5	C4	-2 (2)	2.34
C2	C1	N1	C13	-128 (1)	-118.05
C2	C1	N1	C14	51 (1)	63.90
C2	Cl	C6	C5	3 (2)	-4.75
C2	C3	C4	C5	-1 (2)	-3.08
C3	C2	C1	C6	-3 (2)	3.29
<u>C3</u>	C4	C5	C6	1 (2)	1.62
C5	C6	S 1	C7	114(1)	113.77
<u>C6</u>	<u>S1</u>	C7	C8	-117 (1)	-116.63
<u>C6</u>	S1	C7	C12	61 (1)	62.48
<u>C6</u>	<u>C1</u>	N1	C13	59 (1)	64.48
<u>C6</u>	<u>C1</u>	N1	<u>C14</u>	-122 (1)	-113.57
<u>C7</u>	<u>C8</u>	<u>C9</u>	<u>C10</u>	-3 (2)	-0.58
<u>C7</u>	<u>C12</u>	<u>C11</u>	<u>C10</u>	0 (2)	-2.10
<u>C8</u>	<u>C7</u>	<u>C12</u>	<u>C11</u>	-1 (2)	2.81
<u>C8</u>	<u>C7</u>	<u>C12</u>	<u>C13</u>	-174 (1)	-176.75
<u>C8</u>	<u>C9</u>	<u>C10</u>	<u>C11</u>	2 (2)	1.30
<u>C9</u>	<u>C8</u>	<u>C7</u>	<u>C12</u>	3 (2)	-1.50
<u>C9</u>	<u>C10</u>	<u>C11</u>	<u>C12</u>	0 (2)	0.05
<u>C10</u>	<u>C11</u>	<u>C12</u>	<u>C13</u>	173 (1)	177.48
<u>C12</u>	<u>C13</u>	<u>N1</u>	<u>C14</u>	175 (1)	165.63
<u>C13</u>	<u>N1</u>	<u>C14</u>	<u>C15</u>	-88 (1)	-86.61
<u>C14</u>	<u>C15</u>	<u>C16</u>	<u>C17</u>	-178.1 (9)	-179.32
<u>C15</u>	<u>C16</u>	<u>C17</u>	<u>C18</u>	-172 (1)	-179.66
<u>C16</u>	<u>C17</u>	<u>C18</u>	<u>C19</u>	-174.0 (9)	-176.58
<u>C18</u>	<u>C19</u>	<u>N2</u>	<u>C20</u>	-167.9 (9)	-165.41
<u>C19</u>	<u>N2</u>	<u>C20</u>	<u>C21</u>	177.9 (9)	169.28
<u>C20</u>	<u>N2</u>	<u>C23</u>	<u>C22</u>	62 (1)	62.89
<u>C20</u>	<u>C21</u>	<u>N3</u>	<u>C24</u>	170.1 (9)	151.12
<u>C21</u>	<u>N3</u>	C24	C25	130 (1)	-88.99
<u>C21</u>	<u>C20</u>	N2	C23	-61 (1)	-64.27
C22	<u>N3</u>	C24	C29	174 (1)	-82.33
<u>C24</u>	C25	C26	<u>C27</u>	1 (2)	0.40
C25	<u>C24</u>	C29	<u>C28</u>	0(2)	1.15
C26	C25	C24	C29	0 (2)	-1.18

Angles are in degrees (°). Estimated standard deviations in the least significant figure are given in parentheses. The sign is positive if when looking from atom 2 to atom 3 a clockwise motion of atom 1 would superimpose it on atom 4.

^aX-Ray data obtained by Dr. T. S. Cameron, Department of Chemistry.

.

away from those of X-ray data (Table 13). MMX calculates torsion angles C21-N3-C24-C29 of 90.18°, C22-N3-C24-C25 of 98.51°, C21-N3-C24-C25 of -88.99°, and C22-N3-C24-C29 of -82.33°, while X-ray values are -52° , -3° , 130° , and 174° , respectively. The MMX calculation shows that the *para*-fluorophenyl group is almost perpendicular to the piperazine ring for minimized geometry as expected.

An X-ray diffraction (Figure 12) shows the crystal structure of **18** also to adopt a "butterfly-like" conformation with a flexure angle of 116.9°, 4° smaller than that of the tricyclic nucleus of **III** from X-ray crystallographic data.¹⁰⁹ The MMX minimized geometry shows the flexure angle of 115°, only 2° different from that of X-ray crystallographic data. This probably is due to a well parameterized O atom in the PCMODEL program.

The flexure angles of DBTs reported here by MMX calculations may be different from those in the real biological system, in which a solvent (water) effect is taken into account. Hydrogen-bonding between water and the lone pair electrons on oxygen or sulfur in the DBTs, **18** and **13**, respectively may sandwich water molecules between the two benzene rings and this will make the flexure angles bigger than those calculated.

The MMX calculations showed that the intramolecular distances, bond angles and torsion angles of 18 were virtually the same as those of 13 except for those involving the bridged heteroatoms. The minimized geometries of 13 and 18 are almost superimposable (Figure 14). The only major difference is the flexure angle of sulfur-bridged DBT and that of its oxygen congener.

The results of electrostatic potential calculations after geometry minimization with MMX showed 13 and 18 with a negative potential around the surface of the bridge portion, while the reference compound III had a positive potential. A study of compounds III, IV and V (Figure 4) in the literature⁵⁰ showed that the differences in charge density



Figure 12. X-Ray crystal structure of 18



Figure 13. Structure 18 after geometry minimization with MMX

A 4	v	N N	7
	Δ	Y 0.0004 (2)	$\frac{L}{1}$
<u> </u>		0.8084(2)	0.0901(2)
	-1.0060 (4)	0.8561 (2)	0.8441 (2)
02	-1.1234 (3)	0.9448 (2)	0.5992 (2)
	-0.93/7 (4)	0.9566 (2)	0.7081(2)
<u>N2</u>	-0.2390 (4)	0.8239 (2)	0.3363 (2)
<u>N3</u>	0.0551 (4)	0.8017 (2)	0.2751 (2)
	-0.8827 (4)	0.9613 (3)	0.8036 (3)
<u>C2</u>	-0.7929 (5)	1.0176 (3)	0.8309 (3)
<u>C3</u>	-0.7366 (5)	1.0212 (3)	0.9224 (4)
<u>C4</u>	-0.7658 (6)	0.9706 (4)	0.9861 (4)
<u>C5</u>	-0.8555 (6)	0.9150 (3)	0.9604 (4)
<u>C6</u>	-0.9134 (5)	0.9121 (3)	0.8689 (4)
C7	-1.1527 (5)	0.8783 (3)	0.8285 (3)
<u>C8</u>	-1.2581 (6)	0.8527 (3)	0.8863 (3)
C9	-1.4026 (7)	0.8737 (4)	0.8706 (4)
C10	-1.4410 (6)	0.9182 (3)	0.7991 (5)
C11	-1.3362 (5)	0.9419 (3)	0.7394 (3)
C12	-1.1885 (5)	0.9220 (2)	0.7543 (3)
C13	-1.0808 (5)	0.9415 (3)	0.6823 (3)
C14	-0.8343 (5)	6.9688 (3)	0.6318 (3)
C15	-0.7636 (5)	0.9028 (2)	0.5988 (3)
C16	-0.6438 (4)	0.9192 (2)	0.5300 (3)
C17	-0.5691 (5)	0.8557 (3)	0.4915 (3)
C18	-0.4331 (5)	0.8732 (3)	0.4351 (3)
C19	-0.3676 (5)	0.8083 (3)	0.3926 (3)
C20	-0.2027 (5)	0.7634 (3)	0.2802 (3)
C21	-0.0757 (5)	0.7789 (2)	0.2190 (3)
C22	0.0197 (5)	0.8599 (2)	0.3355 (3)
C23	-0.1082 (5)	0.8410 (3)	0.3953 (3)
C24	0.1880 (5)	0.8059 (3)	0.2257 (3)
C25	0.2763 (6)	0.8652 (3)	0.2277 (3)
C26	0.4092 (6)	0.8661 (3)	0.1824 (4)
C27	0.4489 (5)	0.8084 (4)	0.1357 (4)
C28	0.3680 (6)	0.7489 (3)	0.1322 (3)
C29	0.2364 (5)	0.7480 (3)	0.1771 (3)

 Table 14.
 Final X-Ray Fractional Coordinates for Non-hydrogen Atoms for 18^a

Estimated standard deviations in the least significant figure are given in parentheses. ^aData obtained by Dr. T. S. Cameron, Department of Chemistry.

		Distance		
Atom	Atom	X-ray	MMX	
F1	C27	1.387 (5)	1.352	
O1	C6	1.408 (5)	1.357	
01	C7	1.408 (5)	1.359	
02	C13	1.235 (5)	1.220	
N1	C1	1.438 (5)	1.378	
N1	C13	1.367 (5)	1.364	
N1	C14	1.487 (5)	1.474	
N2	C19	1.476 (5)	1.465	
N2	C20	1.476 (5)	1.460	
N2	C23	1.466 (5)	1.460	
N3	C21	1.473 (5)	1.458	
N3	C22	1.461 (5)	1.458	
N3	C24	1.425 (5)	1.369	
Cl	C2	1.406 (6)	1.403	
C1	C6	1.369 (6)	1.403	
C2	C3	1.387 (6)	1.400	
C3	C4	1.370 (7)	1.399	
C4	C5	1,389 (7)	1.399	
C5	C6	1.391 (6)	1.400	
C7	C8	1.381 (6)	1.398	
<u>C7</u>	C12	1.385 (6)	1.409	
C8	C9	1.383 (7)	1.401	
C9	C10	1.371 (7)	1.399	
C10	C11	1.382 (7)	1.400	
C11	C12	1.403 (5)	1.407	
C12	C13	1.496 (6)	1.491	
C14	C15	1.512 (6)	1.539	
C15	C16	1.529 (6)	1.539	
C16	C17	1.517 (6)	1.541	
C17	C18	1.538 (6)	1.540	
C18	C19	1.524 (6)	1.544	
C20	C21	1.506 (6)	1.534	
C22	C23	1.514 (6)	1.534	
C24	C25	1.399 (6)	1.401	
C24	C29	1.397 (6)	1.401	
C25	C26	1.392 (6)	1.399	
C26	C27	1.355 (7)	1.400	
C27	C28	1.365 (7)	1.399	
C28	C29	1.379 (6)	1.399	

 Table 15.
 Intramolecular Distances of 18 from X-ray^a and MMX Calculations

Distances are in angstroms (Å). Estimated standard deviations in the least significant figure are given in parentheses.

^aX-Ray data obtained by Dr. T. S. Cameron, Department of Chemistry.

.

			Angle					Angle	
Atom	Atom	Atom	X-ray	MMX	Atom	Atom	Atom	X-ray	MMX
C6	01	C7	110.9 (3)	117.40	C10	C11	C12	119.6 (5)	120.84
C1	N1	C13	124.1 (4)	121.74	C7	C12	C11	118.5 (4)	118.61
C1	N 1	C14	118.8 (4)	117.67	C7	C12	C13	122.9 (5)	121.16
C13	N1	C14	117.2 (4)	120.51	C11	C12	C13	118.2 (5)	120.23
C19	N2	C20	109.7 (4)	112.41	O2	C13	N1	120.4 (4)	119.49
C19	N2	C23	111.8 (3)	113.24	O2	C13	C12	119.2 (5)	116.29
C20	N2	C23	107.5 (3)	109.07	N1	C13	C12	120.5 (4)	124.15
C21	N3	C22	111.1 (3)	119.52	N1	C14	C15	112.5 (4)	112.33
C21	N3	C24	115.3 (4)	119.99	C14	C15	C16	110.3 (4)	111.40
C22	N3	C24	117.4 (4)	120.10	C15	C16	C17	114.0 (4)	113.63
N1	C 1	C2	119.2 (5)	120.65	C16	C17	C18	113.1 (4)	111.12
N1	C1	C6	122.1 (5)	120.97	C17	C18	C19	111.2 (4)	114.19
C2	C 1	C6	118.7 (4)	120.74	N2	C19	C18	112.3 (4)	112.55
C1	C2	C3	119.2 (5)	120.78	N2	C20	C21	110.7 (4)	110.34
C2	C3	C4	121.2 (5)	120.08	N3	C21	C20	111.2 (4)	112.32
C3	C4	C5	120.3 (5)	119.49	N3	C22	C23	109.9 (4)	112.64
C4	C5	C6	118.3 (5)	120.10	N2	C23	C22	110.5 (4)	110.70
01	C6	C1	119.9 (4)	119.99	N3	C24	C25	122.2 (5)	120.29
01	C6	C5	117.8 (5)	119.20	N3	C24	C29	119.4 (5)	119.69
C1	C6	C5	122.3 (5)	120.74	C25	C24	C29	118.4 (4)	120.02
01	C7	C8	118.0 (5)	119.09	C24	C25	C26	120.5 (5)	119.85
01	C7	C12	119.9 (4)	120.48	C25	C26	C27	118.2 (5)	120.12
C8	C7	C12	122.1 (5)	120.42	Fl	C27	C26	118.9 (6)	119.96
C7	C8	C9	118.2 (5)	120.40	F1	C27	C28	117.2 (6)	119.99
C8	C9	C10	121.1 (5)	119.63	C26	C27	C28	123.9 (5)	120.05
C9	C10	C11	120.5 (5)	120.02	C27	C28	C29	117.9 (5)	119.89
C24	C29	C28	121.1 (5)	120.08	[· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	

Table 16. Intramolecular Bond Angles of 18 Involving the Non-hydrogen Atomsfrom X-ray^a and MMX Calculations.

I

...

Angles are in degrees (°). Estimated standard deviations in the least significant figure are given in parentheses.

r=				Angle	
(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	X-ray	MMX
F1	C27	C26	C25	179.9 (5)	179.93
F1	C27	C28	C29	-179.9 (4)	179.77
01	C6	C1	N1	-2.4 (7)	-12.61
01	C6	C1	C2	178.4 (4)	169.20
01	C6	C5	C4	-179.0 (4)	-173.51
01	C7	C8	C9	-179.3 (4)	177.00
01	C7	C12	C11	178.6 (4)	-175.56
01	C7	C12	C13	6.6 (7)	4.70
O2	C13	N1 ·	C1	173.1 (5)	167.88
02	C13	N1	C14	-6.7 (7)	-15.51
O2	C13	C12	C7	139.5 (5)	144.07
O2	C13	C12	C11	-32.5 (7)	-35.67
N1	C1	C2	C3	-178.3 (4)	-171.41
N1	C1	C6	C5	177.3 (4)	170.40
N1	C13	C12	C7	-41.3 (7)	-32.73
N1	C13	C12	C11	146.7 (5)	147.53
N1	C14	C15	C16	-172.5 (4)	-175.07
N2	C19	C18	C17	178.6 (4)	171.52
N2	C20	C21	N3	57.2 (5)	49.54
N2	C23	C22	N3	-60.0 (5)	-47.78
N3	C24	C25	C26	176.8 (5)	178.96
N3	C24	C29	C28	-176.9 (4)	-179.26
Cl	N1	C13	C12	-6.0 (7)	-15.42
C1	N1	C14	C15	92.1 (5)	91.05
C1	C2	C3	C4	0.6 (8)	-1.59
<u>C1</u>	C6	01	C7	-69.8 (5)	-62.58
<u>C18</u>	C19	N2	C23	74.1 (5)	70.70
C19	N2	C23	C22	-177.4 (4)	-170.69
<u>C20</u>	C21	N3	C22	-53.9 (5)	-36.51
C21	N3	C22	C23	54.7 (5)	35.63
C21	N3	C24	C29	-54.5 (6)	90.58
C22	N3	C24	C25	-5.4 (6)	98.22
C23	C22	N3	C24	-169.6 (4)	-151.62
C24	C29	C28	C27	-0.8 (8)	0.27
C25	C26	C27	C28	-1.6 (9)	0.33
C26	C27	C28	C29	1.5 (9)	-0.63

Table 17.Torsion or Conformation Angles of 18 from X-raya and MMX Calculations

To be continued.

-

Table 17, continued.

				Angle	
(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	X-ray	MMX
<u>C</u> 1	C6	C5	C4	1.3 (8)	3.42
C2	C1	N1	C13	-133.7 (5)	-125.73
C2	C1	N1	C14	46.1 (6)	57.56
C2	C1	C6	C5	-1.9 (7)	-7.70
C2	C3	C4	C5	-1.2 (9)	-2.84
C3	C2	C1	C6	0.9 (7)	6.79
C3	C4	C5	C6	0.3 (8)	1.93
C5	C6	O1	C7	110.5 (5)	114.37
C6	01	C7	C8	-117.3 (5)	-116.81
C6	01	C7	C12	65.6 (5)	62.04
<u>C</u> 6	C1	N1	C13	47.1 (7)	56.11
<u>C6</u>	C1	N1	C14	-133.1 (5)	-120.59
<u>C7</u>	C8	C9	C10	0.6 (9)	-0.49
C7	C12	C11	C10	0.6 (7)	-2.42
C8	C7	C12	C11	1.6 (7)	3.28
C8	C7	C12	C13	-170.3 (5)	-176.46
<u>C8</u>	C9	C10	C11	1.6 (9)	1.36
C9	C8	C7	C12	-2.3 (8)	-1.86
C9	C10	C11	C12	-2.2 (8)	0.11
<u>C10</u>	C11	C12	C13	173.0 (5)	177.33
C12	C13	N1	C14	174.2 (4)	161.20
C13	N1	C14	C15	-88.0 (5)	-85.70
<u>C14</u>	C15	C16	<u>C17</u>	-178.7 (4)	178.67
C15	C16	C17	<u>C18</u>	-170.8 (4)	-178.84
C16	C17	C18	C19	-176.4 (4)	-177.31
C18	C19	N2	C20	-166.8 (4)	-165.12
C19	N2	C20	C21	177.7 (4)	169.35
C20	N2	C23	C22	62.1 (5)	63.33
<u>C20</u>	C21	<u>N3</u>	<u>C24</u>	169.4 (4)	150.73
C21	N3	C24	C25	128.6 (5)	-89.06
C21	C20	N2	C23	-60.6 (5)	-64.19
C22	N3	C24	C29	171.6 (4)	-82.14
C24	C25	C26	C27	0.9 (8)	0.32
C25	C24	C29	C28	0.2 (8)	0.38
C26	C25	C24	C29	-0.2 (8)	- 0.68

Angles are in degrees (°). Estimated standard deviations in the least significant figure are given in parentheses. The sign is positive if when looking from atom 2 to atom 3 a clockwise motion of atom 1 would superimpose it on atom 4.



Figure 14. Structure comparison of 13 with 18 after geometry minimization with MMX (bond only)

;
around the bridge portion of those tricyclic systems correlated with different potencies of calcium antagonistic activities. The electrostatic potentials on the Connolly's solvent accessible surface of the dibenzotricyclic systems of III, IV and V were calculated using AM1 net charge.⁵⁰ The results revealed that compounds III and IV with a positive potential around the surface of the bridge portion had potent activity, while compound V with a negative potential showed a lower activity. The researchers claimed that this opposite electronic feature might be responsible for the difference of calcium antagonistic activities between the oxygen-containing congener (V) and other compounds (III and IV) having activities.

2. 2 CHEMISTRY

2. 2. 1 PREPARATION OF DILTIAZEM METABOLITES

2. 2. 1. 1 Short Sequence Synthesis of Diltiazem Metabolites

Attempts were made initially to prepare 5 from commercial DTZ by *O*-demethylation with BBr₃, apparently the most economic route (see Schume II). Boron



Scheme II. Short Sequence Synthesis of DTZ Metabolites

tribromide¹¹⁰ and boron trichloride¹¹¹ were reported to selectively demethylate methoxy groups and leave ester groups intact in aromatic molecules. However, in the case of DTZ, demethylation was also accompanied by extensive deacetylation, probably by HBr formed in the reaction, leading only to complex mixtures in which **3** was the major component.

5-[2-(Dimethylamino)ethyl]-2,3-dihydro-3-hydroxy-2-(4-hydroxyphenyl)-1,5-benzothiazepin-4(5H)-one (3). Compound 3 was obtained by degradation of commercial DTZ with boron tribromide. Even though 3 is a side product from the failure of preparation of 5, it still serves the purpose of contirming characterization of 3 in the multistep synthesis by comparison of their physicochemical, spectroscopic, chromatographic and optical rotatory properties.

For the same reason described above, 5-[2-(dimethylamino)ethyl]-2,3dihydro-3-hydroxy-2-(4-methoxyphenyl)-1,5-benzothiazepin-4(511)-one (1) was obtained by direct ester hydrolysis of commercial DTZ hydrochloride

2. 2. 1. 2 Multistep Synthesis of Diltiazem Metabolites

Since the short sequence synthesis failed, all DTZ metabolites shown in Chart I were obtained by the multistep sequence depicted in Scheme III DTZ *N*-oxide was obtained by reaction of DTZ with 3-chloroperbenzoic acid

Published procedures^{112—114} were modified to synthesize key intermediates (27, 28). The glycidic ester 29 was accessible by a Darzens condensation on 4benzyloxybenzaldehyde.^{72,115,116} Heterogeneous conditions described in the literature, in my hands, gave only little product A modified procedure using an appropriate mixture of methanol and dioxane to make the reaction homogeneous gave satisfactory yields.



2-Nitrothiophenol (30) was obtained in quantitative yield by reduction of bis(2nitrophenyl)disulfide with sodium borohydride in tetrahydrofuran (THF)¹¹⁷ A direct coupling of freshly prepared 30 with 29 or 31 (Aldrich) in the presence of tin (II) chloride^{119,120} gave 32 and 33, respectively Reduction of nitro esters 32 and 33 to amino esters 34 and 35 with FeSO₄ / NH₄OH was achieved in yields of 65% and 86%, respectively, compared with reported¹¹² yields of 43% and 71% Ester hydrolysis with 5% NaOH¹¹² gave 36 and 37 in high yield. Cyclization of the amino carboxylic acids (36 and 37, respectively) in boiling xylene¹¹² gave the corresponding cyclic amides (27 and **28**) in quantitative yields One of the alkylating agents, benzyl (2-chloroethyl)-Nmethylcarbamate,¹²¹ was prepared in quantitative yield by reacting 2-chloroethylamine hydrochloride with benzyl chloroformate in basic solution 122. The alkylation of 27 or 28 with 2-chloroethyldimethylamine hydrochloride or benzyl (2-chloroethyl)-Nmethylcarbamate gave 1, 38-40 in the presence of either NaH / DMSO or K₂CO₃/ acetone. Acetylation of 38-40 with acetic anhydride in the presence of pyridine furnished 41—43. The final products (2, 4, 5) were obtained by deprotection with 25% (w/w) HBr-HOAc Deacetylated metabolites 8, 3 and 7 can be obtained either from 38, **39** and **40**, respectively, by deprotection or from 4, 5 and 2, respectively, by acid or base hydrolysis.

Methyl 3-(4-benzyloxyphenyl)glycidate (29). Darzens condensation was utilized to prepare 29 (Scheme IV) The reaction is considered as a nucleophilic addition at a carbonyl group followed by intramolecular nucleophilic displacement of a leaving group present in the nucleophile The first step in the reaction is addition of the carbanion of methyl chloroacetate to the carbonyl group of 4-benzyloxybenzaldehyde The alkoxide oxygen formed in the addition then effects nucleophilic attack, displacing the chloride and forming an α , β -epoxy ester, i.e., **29**.



Scheme IV. Darzen's Condensation

This synthesis failed at the first trial when the general procedure^{115,117} was followed exactly. Little product was formed when a mixture of 4-benzyloxybenzaldehyde and methyl chloroacetate in sodium methoxide / methanol was stirred overnight. Using freshly distilled methanol to ensure a reactive methoxide also gave the same result. In an effort to make the mixture homogeneous, three times more methanol than that used in the literature was added. However, the reaction still proceeded no further. It was suspected that the probable reason for failure was that the reaction mixtures were either not homogeneous or were too dilute. A search was made for a suitable solvent for 4-benzyloxybenzaldehyde; dioxane was found to be a good solvent for this reaction. A 50% yield was obtained after using dioxane as a co-solvent. Finally a 74% yield (see synthesis of **29** in Experimental section) was achieved when less methanol was used to make the reaction mixture more concentrated than that in the literature. The result indicates that reactants in homogeneous and concentrated enough solution are essential for the reaction to occur satisfactorily.

There was no stereochemical information available for **29** in the original literature.^{72,115,116} An attempt was made to assign the stereochemistry of **29** by comparing proton NMR data of **29** with known glycidate derivatives. The chemical shifts and coupling constants of the two methine protons of **29** are identical with those of methyl *trans*-(\pm)-3-(4-methoxyphenyl)glycidate (**31**, from Aldrich), i.e., δ 3.51 (d, J = 1.7Hz, 1H, CH), δ 4.05 (d, J = 1.7Hz, 1H, CH). It has been well established that the coupling constant of methine protons of a *cis*-epoxide is usually larger than that of its *trans*-isomer. The coupling constant between α , β protons of *tert*-butyl *cis*- β -phenylglycidate is 5 Hz, while that of the *trans* isomer is 2 Hz.¹²³ The optical rotation of **29** is zero. All the pieces of evidence support the contention that **29** is methyl *trans*-(\pm)-3-(4-benzyloxyphenyl)-glycidate.

2-Nitrothiophenol (30). Normally, thiols may be stored as stable disulfides and the thiols regenerated as needed by reduction with any of several reducing reagents. The reagents utilized include lithium aluminum hydride,¹²⁴ sodium borohydride,¹²⁵ sodium borohydride/aluminum chloride,¹²⁶ zinc / acetic acid,¹²⁷ triphenylphosphine,¹²⁸ as well as other miscellaneous reagents.^{118,129} For the purpose of the reduction of bis(2-nitrophenyl) disulfide to **30**, sodium borohydride¹¹⁷ was used (Scheme V), because it is cheap and convenient, and it gives desirable results. The optimal reaction conditions include a three hour reaction time at 25°C, a ratio of disulfide to sodium borohydride of 1 to 3.5 giving a good yield and a solitary product. Since this reduction reaction is almost quantitative, there is no need to purify the product. Furthermore, since **30** can be readily oxidized, at least in part, back to the disulfide during the purification process, the crude product of **30** was used directly for the subsequent coupling reaction.



Scheme V. Reduction of Disulfide

Methyl 3-(4-benzyloxyphenyl)-2-hydroxy-3-(2-nitrophenylthio)propionate (32) and methyl 2-hydroxy-3-(4-methoxyphenyl)-3-(2-nitrophenylthio)propionate (33). It was known¹¹⁹ that in the reaction of 30 with *trans* 3phenylglycidic esters carrying various substituents on the benzene ring, both reactivity and stereoselectivity of the oxirane ring-opening of the glycidates are markedly influenced by the electronic nature of the substituents. The presence of electron-donating groups is favorable for both reactivity and the preferential formation of *cis*-opening products, while the reverse is true for electron-withdrawing groups. A plausible mechanistic explanation is shown in Scheme VI (only one isomer of *trans-29* shown). As shown below, the nucleophilic attack of 29 by 30 may generate either *cis*- or *trans*- oxirane ring-opening products. It is anticipated that (\pm) -trans-29 may produce four stereoisomers, two threoisomers through intermediate 29-I-1 and two erythro-isomers through intermediate 29-I-2. The intermediate 29-I-1 would provide suitable geometry in the reactants for selective cis-ring opening as well as electronic activation of the oxirane ring in the transition state, leading to ready and highly stereoselective formation of the threo- ester, while the intermediate 29-I-2 would be suitable for selective trans-ring opening and provide erythroester.¹¹⁹ The *threo* isomer pair corresponds to the configuration of 2S, 3S and 2R, 3R, while the *erythro* pair to that of 2R, 3S and 2S, 3R.





Ring Opening of Epoxide

. مسع

It was reported¹¹⁹ that the tin-catalysed reaction of *cis*-glycidate (*cis*-**31**) with **30** was also highly stereospecific and gave the *erythro*-isomer (>95%), the *cis*-opening product. This result ruled out another possible mechanistic explanation of the reaction, which involves formation of the benzylic carbocation followed by stereoselective attack of nucleophile. If this were the case, the *threo*-isomer would be obtained from either the *trans*- or *cis*-glycidates due to the characteristics of planar geometry of the benzylic carbocation.

Both 29 and 31 have electron-donating groups (benzyloxy- and methoxy-, respectively). The *cis*-opening resulting from attack of the thiol group of freshly prepared 30 from the side of the oxirane ring (29 and 31), in the presence of tin (II) chloride, gives 32 and 33, respectively. The reaction must be carried out under an inert atmosphere since 30 is readily oxidized to disulfide when exposed to air. Stirring at 0°C for the first hour of reaction and gradually returning to room temperature afterwards is absolutely essential since this coupling reaction generates heat.

Methyl 2-acetyloxy-3-(4-benzyloxyphenyl)-3-(2-nitrophenylthio)propionate (44) and methyl 2-acetyloxy-3-(4-methoxyphenyl)-3-(2-nitrophenylthio)propionate (45). To evaluate the stereochemistry of the oxirane ring opening, 44 and 45 were prepared by acetylation of 32 and 33, respectively, with acetic anhydride in the presence of pyridine. Even though stereoselective *cis*-opening of glycidates is well established,¹¹⁹ evaluation of the ratio of the isomeric nitro- esters (32 and 33) is still necessary. Synthesis of these acetylated derivatives serves the purpose of characterization of the *cis*- and *trans*-lactams later formed to ensure the right isomer has been obtained. ¹H NMR spectroscopy was used for the characterization,¹¹⁹

Methyl 3-(2-aminophenylthio)-3-(4-benzyloxyphenyl)-2-hydroxy-

propionate (34) and methyl 3-(2-aminophenylthio)-2-hydroxy-3-(4methoxyphenyl)propionate (35). Compounds 34 and 35 were prepared with the method developed by the Japanese researchers¹¹² except for the work-up procedure. There is no difficulty working on a few millimole scale; however, when the reaction was carried out on a large scale (20—30 times more than those in the literature¹¹²), the gel-like darkened products were very difficult to separate. Hence, co-solvents dichloromethane and methanol, in which the desired product is much more soluble than in ethyl acetate (used in the literature), were used to extract the product more efficiently. For such a large scale, mechanical stirring is necessary to ensure good mixing of the reactants. The yield obtained was 12% higher than that of the Japanese work in the synthesis of 35, probably benefitting from better stirring and more efficient extraction.

3-(2-Aminophenylthio)-3-(4-benzyloxyphenyl)-2-hydroxypropionic acid (36) and 3-(2-aminophenylthio)-2-hydroxy-3-(4-methoxyphenyl)propionic acid (37). Direct cyclization of amino ester (34 or 35) by heating with acid (20% sulfuric acid or acetic acid) in the literature¹¹² gave very poor yields, probably because the benzothiazepine ring is acid-labile when hot. Instead, a two-step synthesis from amino ester was utilized to get the cyclization product. Hydrolysis of amino esters (34 and 35) with 5% NaOH gave 36 and 37 in high yield.

2-(4-Benzyloxyphenyl)-2,3-dihydro-3-hydroxy-1,5-benzothiazepin-4(5H)-one (27) and 2,3-dihydro-3-hydroxy-2-(4-methoxyphenyl)-1,5benzothiazepin-4(5H)-one (28). Cyclization of the amino carboxylic acids (36 and 37, respectively) in boiling xylene gave the corresponding cyclic amides, 27 and 28, respectively. It was initially found that the cyclization of the methoxy compound (37) was much easier than that of the benzyloxy congener (36). Benzothiazepinone 28 was obtained by refluxing 37 for only two hours in xylene with an almost quantitative yield, whereas 27 required longer time refluxing in the same solvent for a 54% yield. The major difference is probably the relative solubilities of the amino carboxylic acids in xylene. While 37 is readily soluble in boiling xylene, 36 is not. Another critical observation was made. The aqueous solutions of both amino carboxylic acids (36 and 37) must be adjusted to pH *ca*. 5 during the work-up in order to have a high yield in the successive cyclization reaction. At this pH, either the amino or carboxyl group is in the salt form. Infrared spectroscopy suggested that the zwitterionic forms of these amino acids predominate at pH 5. Nevertheless, sufficient undissociated amine was present for nucleophilic attack of the undissociated carboxyl. After optimal reaction conditions were worked out, a quantitative cyclization for both 36 and 37 was eventually achieved.

2-Chloroethylmethylamine hydrochloride (46). Compound 46 was easily prepared in high yield by reacting 2-methylaminoethanol with thionyl chloride by a standard procedure.¹²¹

Benzyl (2-chloroethyl)-*N*-methylcarbamate (47). Compound 47 was prepared in quantitative yield by reacting 2-chloroethylmethylamine hydrochloride with benzyl chloroformate in basic solution. It has been reported that the product, 47, is subject to intermolecular cyclization¹²² on attempted distillation at reduced pressure (20 mm Hg) at 170—180°C. Fortunately, compound 47 did not need to be purified. The crude product showed only one spot on TLC (CH₂Cl₂/ hexane, 1:1). The IR spectrum showed the expected functional groups. However, ¹H NMR in CDCl₃ showed extra signals: two pairs of multiplets for the ethylene group (δ 3.54—3.60 and 3.71—3.76), a pair of broad singlets for the methyl group (δ 2.89—2.93) and a broad singlet for the benzylic methylene group (δ 5.09). These correspond to ¹³C NMR at 25°C: a pair of equal intensity signals for methyl group (δ 34.38 and 34.60), three pairs of signals for methylenes (δ 41.65 and 41.98, δ 49.46 and 50.00, δ 66.14 and 66.33) and two equal intensity signals for carbonyl group (δ 155.29 and 155.56). These were shown to be due to the presence of *cis*- and *trans*-isomers of 47 caused by π -bonding between nitrogen atom and carbonyl group at room temperature. Each pair of equal intensity ¹³C signals was expected to coalesce into a singlet when decoupled ¹³C NMR spectra were recorded at higher temperature. This was confirmed by ¹³C NMR spectra at 60°C (see Experimental section).

5-[2-(N-Benzyloxycarbonyl-N-methylamino)ethyl]-2-(4-benzyloxyphenyl)-2,3-dihydro-3-hydroxy-1,5-benzothiazepin-4(5H)-one(38).

Ţ

Attempts to prepare compound **38** were made by three methods. The first method was the alkylation in the presence of dimethylsulfinyl carbanion.⁷² Although the procedure of alkylation of **27** with **47** in NaH / DMSO was followed exactly, the first trial was not very successful. Only a 14% yield of the presumed product was obtained after a separation of the reaction mixture by column liquid chromatography. The IR spectrum of the presumed product showed two carbonyl absorption bands at 1735 and 1665 cm⁻¹ in chloroform corresponding to carbamate and amide, respectively. The second method was the alkylation in NaH / DMF. Since the first method involved the generation of dimethylsulfinyl carbanion, which might make the reaction more complicated, NaH / DMF was used to simplify the reaction conditions. However, the result was similar to that in method 1. The last method was the alkylation in K₂CO₃ / DMF. The result showed no difference from those from the methods mentioned above. An attempt was made to

determine whether the reagents, especially NaH, were of poor quality. Finally a 43% yield was achieved when the alkylation reaction was carried out in the presence of dimethylsulfinyl carbanion generated with newly purchased NaH and anhydrous DMSO under a dry nitrogen atmosphere. Recovery of an additional 32% of one of the starting materials (27) from the reaction was achieved with methanol.

2-(4-Benzyloxyphenyl)-5-[2-(dimethylamino)ethyl]-2,3-dihydro-3-

hydroxy-1,5-benzothiazepin-4(5H)-one (39). Compound 39 was prepared by two methods. The alkylation of 27 with 2-chloroethyldimethylamine hydrochloride in NaH (old) / DMSO gave results comparable to those in the the first trial of the preparation of 38. The presumed product constituted only 20—30% of the reaction mixture according to TLC and was not separated. However, when switched from NaH (old) / DMSO to K₂CO₃ / DMF, the alkylation gave a satisfactory result (51% yield).

5-[2-(N-Benzyloxycarbonyl-N-methylamino)ethyl]-2,3-dihydro-3hydroxy-2-(4-methoxyphenyl)-1,5-benzothiazepin-4(5H)-one (40). Compound 40 was prepared in 29% yield by the alkylation of 28 with 47 in the presence of NaH (new) / DMSO.

5-[2-(Dimethylamino)ethyl]-2,3-dihydro-3-hydroxy-2-(4-methoxy-

phenyl)-1,5-benzothiazepin-4(5H)-one (1). A 58% yield was achieved by refluxing 28 with 2-chloroethyldimethylamine hydrochloride in the presence of anhydrous K_2CO_3 in acetone under nitrogen.

For the alkylation reactions described above, suitable solvents include DMSO, DMF and acetone depending upon the solubility of the cyclic amide. For the benzyloxy cyclic amide, DMSO or DMF must be used in order to make the reaction mixture homogeneous. For the methoxy cyclic amide, acetone is preferred because it is easy to remove.

The alkylation reaction described above may be classified as indirect and direct in terms of generation of anions of **27** or **28** In an indirect alkylation (Scheme VII), the





Alkylation in the Presence of Dimethylsulfinyl Carbanion

dimethylsulfinyl carbanion was generated by hydride first; then anion of 27 or 28 was formed by the dimethylsulfinyl carbanion under fairly mild conditions; finally the product was achieved by nucleophilic attack of alkylating agents. In the case of direct alkylation, anion of 27 or 28 was generated directly by hydride or carbonate as depicted in Scheme VIII. Using NaH / DMF, the reaction was homogeneous; when K_2CO_3 / DMF or acetone were used, the base gradually went into solution. Different yields obtained from these three methods may be related to the basicities of bases used, solvent effects, the nature of the substrates and the alkylating agents, and ambient conditions.



Scheme VIII. Alkylation in the Presence of Simple Base

(A). The basicity of bases utilized. Generally speaking, relative basicities of different bases can be estimated with relative acidities of their conjugate acids in a reversed order of magnitude. The acidity normally can be measured as the pK_a value, the negative logarithm of the dissociation constant of an acid, formally defined by equation 1. The base strength is normally solvent-dependent.

$$H - A = H^+ + A^-$$
 (Eqn 1)

(B). Solvent effects. It is very important to recognize that the pK_a values are solvent dependent.¹³⁰ The pK_a value depends upon the ability of solvent to solvate the proton, the anion, and the undissociated acid. Since solvation of the proton is constant in a given solvent and solvation of most neutral acids is small compared to that of their conjugate bases, differences in acidity brought about by structure variations or solvent changes are usually caused by changes in the energies of the anions. Carbonate is a weak base in a protic solvent like H₂O, but its basicity will be stronger in an aprotic solvent such as DMSO. In H₂O, carbonate anion can be stabilized with hydrogen bonding by H₂O. In aprotic solvents like acetone, DMF or DMSO, the situation is different. The resonance structures of those aprotic solvents are shown in Scheme IX. On the right hand of the



Scheme IX. Aprotic Solvent Effect

scheme, all these solvents show naked negative charges on oxygen and sterically hindered positive charges on carbon, nitrogen and sulfur atoms. These naked negative charges of the solvents can destabilize the already negatively charged carbonate species. This may contribute to the fact that carbonate is a strong enough base to pull the proton off the nitrogen of 27 or 28 in above aprotic solvents.

(C). The nature of the substrates. In structure 27 or 28, there are three protons susceptible to deprotonation by a strong base, the one on nitrogen, the one on oxygen and the one at the C3 position. As mentioned previously, the acidities are solvent dependent. Let us consider DMSO as solvent. The proton on nitrogen is the most acidic ($pK_a ca$. 20)¹³⁰ of all because it is doubly activated by both the benzene ring and the carbonyl group; the anionic charge formed can be efficiently delocalized in the system. The methine proton at C3 position is less acidic ($pK_a ca$. 22—26).¹³⁰ The alcoholic proton is the least acidic ($pK_a ca$. 30 like methanol).¹³⁰ It is anticipated that the site of anion to be generated should be on nitrogen (anions of 27 or 28).

(D). The nature of the alkylating agents. The alkylating agents used here are 2chloroethyldimethylamine and benzyl (2-chloroethyl)-*N*-methylcarbamate (47). The intermediates 38 and 40 which result from alkylation by 47 always had lower yields whereas yields of 39 and 1 from alkylation by 2-chloroethyldimethylamine were higher (see Experimental section). Two possible considerations to take into account are the electronic and steric characters of the alkylating agents. The carbonyl group in the carbamate moiety has an electron-withdrawing feature. This makes chlorine in the side chain a worse leaving group than in the case of 2-chloroethyldimethylamine where the corresponding substituent is a methyl group with electron-donating character. Also, in the case of 47, the reactivity of anions of 27 or 28 may be masked by flipping-around of the side chain or hydrophobic interactions between the benzyl group of the side chain and the aromatic moieties of anions of 27 or 28.

(E). Ambient conditions. The most sensitive external factor affecting this alkylation reaction is probably humidity during the reaction. In most cases, yields were higher when the reaction was done in drier weather. Theoretically, the presence of H₂O in the reaction should not hinder the alkylation reaction because H₂O ($pK_a ca 32$)¹³⁰ is less acidic than 27 or 28 ($pK_a ca . 20$)¹³⁰ in DMSO However, H₂O is more acidic than DMSO ($pK_a ca . 35$)¹³⁰. The following reaction (Scheme X) might have occurred and anions of 27 cr 28 could not be generated for further alkylation reaction.

$$CH_3 - \overset{O}{S} - \overset{O}{CH_2} + H_2O \longrightarrow CH_3 - \overset{O}{S} - CH_3 + ^-OH$$

Scheme X. Effect of Humidity on Alkylation

3-Acetyloxy-5-[2-(N-benzyloxycarbonyl-N-methylamino)ethyl] 2-(4benzyloxyphenyl)-2,3-dihydro-1,5-benzothiazepin-4-(5H)-one (41), 3acetyloxy-2-(4-benzyloxyphenyl)-5-[2-(dimethylamino)ethyl]-2,3-dihydro-1,5-benzothiazepin-4(5H)-one (42) and 3-acetyloxy-5-[2-(N-benzyloxycarbonyl-N-methylamino)ethyl]-2,3-dihydro-2-(4-methoxyphenyl)-1,5benzothiazepin-4(5H)-one (43). Compounds 41, 42 and 43 were prepared by reacting the corresponding precursors with acetic anhydride in the presence of pyridine. 3-Acetyloxy-2,3-dihydro-2-(4-hydroxyphenyl)-5-[2-(methylamino)ethyl]-1,5-benzothiazepin-4(5H)-one (4), 3-acetyloxy-5-[2-(dimethylamino)ethyl]-2,3-dihydro-2-(4-hydroxyphenyl)-1,5-benzothiazepin-4(5H)one (5) and 3-acetyloxy-2,3-dihydro-2-(4-methoxyphenyl)-5-[(2-methylamino)ethyl]-1,5-benzothiazepin-4(5H)-one (2). Compounds 4, 5 and 2 were obtained by deprotection of the corresponding precursors (41, 42 and 43, respectively) with 25% HBr-HOAc. This reagent efficiently hydrolyses the benzyl or benzyloxycarbonyl groups while keeping the ester moiety intact.

2,3-Dihydro-3-hydroxy-2-(4-hydroxyphenyl)-5-[2-(methylamino)ethyl]-1,5-benzothiazepin-4(5H)-one (8) and 5-[2-(dimethylamino)ethyl]-2,3-dihydro-3-hydroxy-2-(4-hydroxyphenyl)-1,5-benzothiazepin-4(5H)-

one (3). Compounds 8 and 3 were prepared from 4 and 5, respectively by ester hydrolysis in HBr-MeOH. The use of HBr-MeOH in these cases avoids the troublesome procedures used in the literature,⁷² and simplifies the work-up procedure.

Both 8 and 3 have phenol functional groups. They are a secondary and a tertiary amine, respectively. The amphoteric properties of these compounds complicate their preparation from 38 and 39. First of all, for instance, deprotection by 25% HBr-HOAc must be accompanied by acetylation of the hydroxyl group in 38 and 39. The second step described⁷² is hydrolysis of this acetate ester with NaOH-EtOH, followed by acidifiying the resultant reaction mixture with 10% HCl. In this step, mixtures of the HCl and HBr salts of 8 or 3 would be expected. Finally, treatment of the resultant salts with NaHCO₃ followed by extraction into EtOAc seemed to be inappropriate. Even though bicarbonate is

more acidic than phenol, carbonic acid $(pK_a = 6.37)^{131}$ is much more acidic than the HX salt of 8. There is no pK_a value available for HX salt of 8; however, the pK_a of the salt of another secondary amine, piperidine hydrochloride, is 11.123 at 25°C.¹³²

2,3-Dihydro-3-hydroxy-2-(4-methoxyphenyl)-5-[2-(methylamino)ethyl]-1,5-benzothiazepin-4(5H)-one(7). Tompound 7 can be obtained by either ester hydrolysis of 2 in alkaline conditions or deprotection of 40 with HBr-HOAc. However, 2 was obtained as a major product in the latter route. This probably resulted from the simultaneous acetylation of hydroxyl group in 40. Compound 7 was obtained in 89% yield by saponification of 2.

3-Acetyloxy-2,3-dihydro-5-[2-(dimethylamino)ethyl]-2-(4-methoxyphenyl)-1,5-benzothiazepin-4(5H)-one-*N*-oxide(6). Compound 6 was prepared by oxidation of commercial DTZ hydrochloride with 3-chloroperbenzoic acid.⁷²

2. 2. 2 Preparation of Dibenzotricyclic Systems (DBTs)

2. 2. 2. 1 Preparation of Dibenzo[b,f]-1,4-thiazepine Nucleus

The tricyclic dibenzothiazepine nucleus is accessible by published procedures.^{133,134} Dibenzo[b, f]-1,4-thiazepin-11(10H)-one (14) was prepared by the two-step synthesis (48 as intermediate) depicted in Scheme XI. The cyclization in xylene

متسا

k



Scheme XI. Synthesis of Dibenzothiazepine Nucleus

gave a very good yield (83%), as expected since a similar reaction has been carried out in the synthesis of DTZ metabolites.

2. 2. 2. 2 Preparation of Target DBTs

10,11-Dihydro-10-methyldibenzo[b,f]-1,4-thiazepin-11-one (25)

Compound 25 was prepared by methylation of 14 with methyl iodide in the presence of NaH.

10-(Cyclopropyl)carbonyl-10,11-dihydrodibenzo[b,f]-1,4-thiazepin-

11-one (26) Compound **26** was obtained as side product in an attempt to prepare 10-acyl DBT derivatives.

10-(Dimethylaminoethyl)-10,11-dihydrodibenzo[b,f]-1,4-thiazepin-

11-one (19) Compound **19** was prepared by reacting (2-chloroethyl)dimethylamine hydrochloride with **14** in the presence of excess of NaH.

10-(Dimethylaminopropyl)-10,11-dihydrodibenzo[*b,f*]-1,4-thiazepin-

11-one (20) Compound 20 was obtained using a method analogous to that of 19.

10-(ω -Chioroalkyl)-10,11-dihydrodibenzo[b_xf]-1,4-thiazepin-11-one (49-53) Compounds 49-53 were obtained as principle components, mixed with their ω -bromo counterparts, by reaction of 14 and ω -bromochloroalkane.¹³⁵ These intermediates were characterized with FAB MS and used directly for the next step without further purification.

10-[\omega-[4-(4-Fluorophenyl)-1-piperazinyl]alkyl]-10,11-dihydro-

dibenzo[b,f]-1,4-thiazepin-11-one (9-13) (n = 2-6) Conversion to 9-13 was effected by a Finkelstein halide exchange *in situ* in the presence of 2 equivalents of 4-fluorophenylpiperazine.

 $10-[\omega-(N-\text{Benzyl-}N-\text{methylamino})alky1]-10,11-dihydrodibenzo-[b,f]-$ 1,4-thiazepin-11-one (21-24) (n = 3-6) Compounds 21-24 were prepared using the same method as that of preparation of compounds 9-13.

10-(ω -Chloroalkyl)-10,11-dihydrodibenz[b_xf]-1,4-oxazepin-11-one (54-57) Alkylation of commercially available 10,11-dihydrodibenzo[b_xf]-1,4-oxazepin-11-one with ω -bromochloroalkanes afforded compounds 54-57 using the same method as that of 49-53, again used directly for the next step without further purification.

dibenz[b,f]-1,4-oxazepin-11-one (15-18) (n = 3-6) Compounds 15-18 were obtained using the same method as preparation of compounds 9-13. Scheme XII shows the general outline to achieve these dibenzotricyclic derivatives.

10-[\omega-[4-[4-Fluorophenyl])-1-piperazinyl]alkyl]-10,11-dihydro-

6.



49—53 (X=S, n = 2—6) **54—57** (X=O, n = 3—6)









$$21-24$$
 (X = S, n = 3-6)



Synthesis of Target DBTs

2. 3 Characterization with Spectroscopic and Chromatographic Methods

2. 3. 1 Spectroscopy

Infrared (IR) and ¹H NMR spectroscopy were used for the characterization of every intermediate and target product throughout the synthesis of DTZ metabolites and DBTs. D₂O exchange experiments were performed whenever the molecule included exchangeable protons. The stereochemical characterization of some intermediates leading to synthetic DTZ metabolites was achieved by ¹H NMR. The chemical shifts of protons from stereoisomers and the coupling constants between the specific protons of DTZ metabolites provide reliable information about the stereochemistry of molecules investigated (see section 2.4. for details).

The ¹³C NMR spectrum can provide a good deal of information about the carbon backbone of molecules. When ¹³C NMR was used in combination with ¹H NMR as well as IR and MS, structural elucidation was made more easily. ¹³C NMR spectroscopy was used successfully to characterize the intermediate benzyl (2-chloroethyl)-*N*-methyl carbamate (47) (see section 2. 2. 1. 2 for details).

Distortionless Enhancement Polarization Transfer (DEPT) was used to determine multiplicities of ¹³C resonances. For synthetic DTZ metabolites and DBTs, the ¹³C NMR spectra of only key intermediates, **27** and **28**, and target products were taken to save spectrometer time.

DEPT is a special pulse sequence. It is very useful for the observation of low- γ nuclei which are J-coupled to ¹H, ¹⁹F, or ³¹P. It can generate separate carbon sub-spectra for methyl (up), methylene (down), and methine (up) signals. This is the same kind of

79

Į.

information traditionally obtained by off-resonance decoupling. Both sensitivity and resolution of DEPT spectra are far superior to those of the off-resonance decoupled spectra because the former can be acquired with broadband decoupling.

Mass spectrometry involves the formation, separation and detection of gas phase ions derived from the test molecule. Early ionization techniques such as electron impact (EI) and chemical ionization (CI) required the volatilization of compounds to the gas phase prior to ionization. These techniques were thus limited to thermally stable organic compounds which can be heated up to 200—300°C without significant decomposition. However, for DTZ metabolites, most of which possess polar functional groups (-OH, -NHR), special ionization techniques are required in order to produce an abundant molecular ion and to avoid thermal decomposition.

There are several ionization methods. The two methods commonly used to produce ions from thermally volatile materials are EI and CI. In the former technique, a 70 eV electron beam is used to ionize an organic molecule in the gas phase. This energy is also sufficient to cause extensive fragmentation, giving rise to a pattern of fragment ions which can help to characterize the compound. A disadvantage is the frequent absence of a molecular ion. This problem may be avoided by the use of CI mass spectrometry.¹³⁶ In this technique, a reagent gas (e.g., methane, isobutane, or ammonia) is allowed to pass into the ion chamber at a pressure of almost 10^{-4} mmHg. This gas is ionized by using electrons with energies up to 300 eV. For example, the generation of a CI spectrum using methane is depicted in Scheme XIII. If sample ions are volatilized into this mixture of ions, the CH₅⁺ acts as a strong acid and protonates the sample. Thus in a positive CI spectrum, molecular weight information is obtained from protonation of sample molecules, and the observed m/z value for MH⁺ is one unit greater than the true molecular weight.

I



Scheme XIII. Chemical Ionization Mechanism

Another method used to obtain molecular weight information for polar or thermolabile samples is fast atom bombardment (FAB).¹³⁷ This method is based upon giving a large pulse of energy to the sample. The effect of this is to put a relatively large amount of energy into cranslational modes involving sample molecules. Thus, intermolecular bonds involving the sample (e.g., hydrogen bonds) are broken in preference to covalent bonds, and the sample is desorbed from its environment into the gas phase. Thermal decomposition is reduced, or avoided, by avoiding an equilibrium distribution of the large amount of available energy. This is because the sample molecule leaves its solid or liquid environment within a time in the order of 10^{-12} s.

In FAB, the energy is provided by a beam of atoms or ions, respectively, of large translational energies (several keV). The sample may be bombarded in its solid state, but more commonly is first dissolved in a matrix of low volatility such as glycerol. FAB spectra frequently contain structurally useful fragment ions, but MH⁺ is usually the most abundant ion, making molecular weight determination extremely easy by these techniques.

Ion-spray (IS) is an atmospheric pressure ionization technique.¹³⁸ A $[M + H]^+$ ion can be generated from very labile and high molecular weight compounds without thermal

degradation. In IS, an electric field is generated at the tip of the sprayer by applying a high voltage directly to the sprayer, with a counter electrode located a few milimeters away. Ions of one polarity are preferentially drawn to the surface of the drops by the electric field Each droplet contains many ions of both signs Only the excess ions of one polarity are available for evaporation.

2. 3. 2 CHROMATOGRAPHY

Chromatography encompasses a range of very powerful experimental techniques for separating mixtures of organic compounds Since chromatography was originally invented by the Russian scientist Tswett in 1903,¹³⁹ there has been enormous progress in both theory and application.

Thin layer chromatography (TLC) is one of the most widely used forms of chromatography, and is of enormous value for quick qualitative analysis of mixtures, for monitoring reactions and for determining the operating parameters to be used in preparative scale column chromatography

Throughout the synthesis, TLC was used to monitor reactions and check the purity of the products. TLC aluminum sheets (Silica gel 60 F_{254}) were used When illuminated with an UV lamp (254 nm) the adsorbent then glows a pale green color and the organic compounds show up usually as dark spots because they quench the fluorescence. An iodine chamber was used only occasionally as a visualization technique since almost all intermediates and target products can be seen under the UV lamp Under given conditions (adsorbent and solvent) the R₁ value of a compound is characteristic. Thus a match of the R_f value of a compound in a mixture with that of an 'authentic' sample of the compound provides a good indication that they are likely the same. Since the condition of the adsorbent vary and solvent mixtures are difficult to to produce accurately, it is necessary to demonstrate that the R_f values are the same by running the mixture and 'authentic' sample side by side and with co-thin-layer by adding a little of the 'authentic' to a separate sample of the mixture to see whether the spots exactly coincide.

For checking the purity of the target products, their R_f values were determined on silica gel TLC with different solvents along with reversed phase HPLC. The purity of the compound may be confirmed if there is only one spot on the normal phase TLC and one peak besides the solvent peak on the reverse^A phase HPLC.

HPLC is a small scale form of column chromatography. It is an extraordinarily versatile technique, which can be used for the qualitative and quantitative analysis of mixtures of all kinds of compounds—volatile or non-volatile, thermally stable or not, polar and non-polar. Various detectors may be used with the UV absorbance detector being the most common. A retention time on HPLC is characteristic of a compound under a particular set of operating conditions. This can be used for provisional identification by comparison with an 'authentic' sample. The results may be subject to some degree of uncertainty. However, this can be overcome with the combination technique of LC-MS (see section 2. 5 for details). The pure synthetic DTZ metabolites were shown by HPLC along with LC-MS and LC-MS / MS to be identical to newly discovered DTZ metabolites in biological samples (see Experimental for details).

For preparative purposes, dry-column flash chromatography was used. This technique was developed by Dr. L.M. Harwood in the early 1980s.¹⁴⁰ It requires no special equipment and provides separating power that is at least as good as flash chromatography and that can be comparable with the resolution of an analytical TLC plate. The unusual advantage of this technique is its economy in terms of time and solvent compared with conventional or even flash column chromatography. Separation of two

grams (2 g) of reaction mixtures took only about an hour with *ca*. 90 mL of silica and *ca*. 200 mL of solvents.

2. 3. 3 Polarimetry

Many transparent substances that are characterized by a lack of symmetry in their molecular or crystalline structure have the ability to rotate the plane of polarized radiation. Materials possessing this property are said to be optically active. The angle through which the plane is rotated varies widely from one compound to another. The rotation is said to be *dextro* (+) if it is clockwise to an observer looking toward the light source, and *levo* (-) if counterclockwise. The reading of the rotation in degrees is given directly from a Perkin-Elmer model 141 polarimeter. For any given compound, the extent of rotation depends on the number of molecules in the path of the solution, determined by the concentration and the length of the cell containing it. It is also dependent on the wavelength of the light and on the temperature. The specific rotation, represented by the symbol $[\alpha]^{t}$, is defined by the formula

$$\left[\alpha\right]_{\lambda}^{t} = \frac{100 \alpha}{l c}$$

where α is the angle (measured in degrees) through which the plane is rotated by a solution of concentration c grams of solute per 100 mL of solution, contained in a cell l decimeters in length; t designates the temperature and λ the wavelength. The latter is commonly specified as 589.3 nm, the "D-line" of a sodium vapor lamp, so $[\alpha]_{\lambda}^{l}$ then becomes $[\alpha]_{D}^{l}$.

5

ļ

...

2. 4 Stereochemistry of Intermediates and Synthetic DTZ Metabolites

3-Acetyloxy-5-[2-(dimethylamino)ethyl]-2,3-dihydro-2-(4-methoxyphenyl)-1,5benzothiazepin-4(5H)-one has four diastereoisomers. It was initially reported¹⁴¹ that, when injected into the femoral vein of the anesthetized dog, the (\pm)-*cis*-isomers produced a significant increase in the coronary sinus outflow, whereas the (\pm)-*trans*-isomers were inactive. On the other hand, the d-*cis*-isomer (CRD-401, later called diltiazem), whose absolute configuration was assigned as (2S,3S)-*cis*,¹⁴² was 1.5 to 2 times as active as the (\pm)-*cis*-isomers, while the potency of (2R,3R)-*cis*-isomer was very low in comparison with that of the (\pm)-*cis*-isomers.

It is very important to make certain that the appropriate isomer is obtained throughout the synthesis. Methyl (\pm)-*trans*-3-(4-methoxyphenyl)glycidate (**31**) is commercially available. No stereochemical information for methyl 3-(4benzyloxyphenyl)glycidate (**29**) was available in the literature.^{72,115,116} The stereochemistry of **29** was assigned by ¹H NMR in our study. It has been well established that the coupling constants of methine protons of *cis*-epoxides are usually larger (*ca*. 5Hz) than those of their *trans*-isomers (*ca*. 2Hz).¹²³ The chemical shifts and coupling constants of the two methine protons of **29** are identical to those of **31**, i.e., δ 3.51(d, J = 1.7Hz), and δ 4.05(d, J = 1.7Hz). Hence, **29** is assigned as methyl (\pm)-*trans*-3-(4benzyloxyphenyl)glycidate.

The coupling of **31** with **30** is stereoselective.¹¹⁹ The *threo /erythro* ratios in the products (corresponding to the *cis-/trans*-lactams, respectively) were determined by measuring the ratios of the intensities of methyl ¹H NMR signals in the acetylated derivatives as described by Hashiyama *et al.*¹¹⁹ The *threo /erythro* ratios (peak integration) for **44** and **45** were found to be 95 / 5 and 97 / 3, respectively (Table 18).

85

Compds	δ (ppm) (<i>threo erythro</i>)	Ratios (threo / erythro)	
44	2.12 / 2.20	95/5	
45	2.11 / 2.19	97/3	

Table 18. Threo / Erythro Ratios Determined by ¹H NMR Method.

Finally, the *cis*-configuration was confirmed by ¹H NMR spectroscopy on the synthetic metabolites themselves. Coupling constants of the two methine protons (C2 and C3) of all synthetic metabolites measured from 7.24 to 7.70 Hz (Table 19), consistent with that of diltiazem (7.71 Hz).¹⁴³ The corresponding coupling constants of *trans*-diltiazem have a typical *antiperiplanar* value of 11.0 Hz.¹⁴³ All metabolites of diltiazem obtained by multistep synthesis were confirmed to be (\pm)-*cis* isomers by optical rotatory measurements (Table 19).

A commercial sample of diltiazem hydrochloride has a specific optical rotation of +115°.¹⁴⁴ Compounds 1 and 3 obtained from commercial DTZ by short sequence synthesis (Scheme II), and 6 directly from commercial DTZ proved to be optically active (Table 20). This is expected because the degradation or oxidation reactions do not change the stereochemistry.

Compds	[α] _D ²¹	³ J _{HH} (Hz)
DTZ*	+115.0°	7.68**
1	+0.5°	7.24
2	-4.6°	7.62
3	+1.1°	7.32
4	+0.7°	7.68
5	-0.5°	7.70
7	-1.2°	7.44
8	+1.3°	7.36

N

,

 Table 19. Specific Rotation and ¹H NMR Coupling Constants of DTZ and Metabolites

 Synthesized by Multistep Route

*Commercial; **Reference¹⁴³: *cis*-DTZ, 7.71, *trans*-DTZ, 11.0 Hz.

Table 20. Specific Rotation and ¹H NMR Coupling Constants of DTZ and Metabolites

 Obtained by Degradation of Commercial DTZ

Compds	[α] _D ²¹	³ J _{HH} (Hz)
DTZ*	+115.0°	7.68**
1	+134.5°	7.25
3	+163.8°	7.30
6	+114.0°	7.79

*Commercial; **Reference¹⁴³: cis-DTZ, 7.71, trans-DTZ, 11.0 Hz.

2. 5 Identification of DTZ Metabolites

2. 5. 1 **Purities of Synthetic DTZ Metabolites**

To determine purities of all synthetic metabolites, both reversed phase HPLC and normal phase thin layer chromatography (TLC) were used. Detailed HPLC and TLC conditions are described in the Experimental section. Retention times on reversed phase HPLC and R_f values on normal phase TLC of all synthetic metabolites and their purities are tabulated in Table 21.

Table 21. Chromatographic Properties and Purities of Synthetic DTZ Metabolites

Compds	TLC^{a} $R_{f} \pm SD,(n=3)$	HPLC ^b t _r (min.)	Percent purity
DTZ	0.57±0.05	16.17	
1	0.50±0.04	8.53	≥ 99.5
2	0.36±0.04	14.87	≥ 99.6
3	0.47±0.04	4.55	≥ 95
4	0.32±0.03	6.37	≥ 97
5	0.46±0.03	6.74	≥ 98
6	0.25±0.02	17.51	≥ 99.6
7	0.23±0.02	8.03	≥ 98
8	0.22±0.02	4.34	≥ 96

^aSilica gel 60 F₂₅₄, 0.2 mm, (Merck), CHCl₃ / MeOH(1:1); $22 \pm 2^{\circ}$ C, monitored at 254 nm.

^bColumn: Zorbax Rx-C8, 4.6 x 250mm; flow rate: 1.0mL / min; isocratic, 30% CH₃CN + 0.1%TFA; column temperature: 40°C; wavelength of diode-array detector: 237nm.

ļ

L

2. 5. 2 Identity of Synthetic DTZ Metabolites with Biological Samples

Improved chromatographic conditions were developed by Xie et al.^{145,146} to reduce the peak tailing observed in the early methods.¹⁴⁷ The surface-deactivated Zorbax column gave outstanding performance with an acetonitrile / water mobile phase containing 0.1% trifluoroacetic acid (TFA) as both ion-pair and acidification reagent. The HPLC retention times (Table 21) of the synthetic metabolites were found to be identical with those of the metabolites from human urine (see Figure 15) as well as from other species such as rabbit, dog and rat. The combination of HPLC with tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS) is a powerful tool for the detection, identification and quantitation of drugs and drug metabolites. The recent introduction of the ion-spray LC-MS interface has allowed the analysis of medium to highly polar compounds with high sensitivity (10-100 pg detection limits) and ease of use. Ion-spray provides very simple spectra dominated by the protonated molecule, [M+H]⁺. The lack of structure information in such spectra may be overcome by the use of MS / MS to provide fragment ion spectra.¹⁴⁵ In this study, ionspray LC-MS/MS has been used for the confirmation of all previously synthesized DTZ metabolites and for the identification of three unconfirmed metabolites (4, 5 and 6). Ionspray LC-MS and LC-MS / MS spectra for DTZ in human urine are shown in Figure 16. Ion-spray LC-MS / MS spectra for 4, 5 and 6 are shown in Figures 17–19. The assignment of fragment ion structures is indicated in each of Figures 16-19. The match of retention times and MS / MS spectra of synthetic compounds with those from human urine supports the assigned structures. A detailed paper on the LC-MS / MS analysis of DTZ and its metabolites will be published elsewhere.¹⁴⁸

',;

No S-oxidation product was found in the DTZ N-oxide (6) isolated from the oxidation of DTZ with 3-chloroperbenzoic acid. The ¹H NMR of DTZ N-oxide demonstrated a tremendous down-field shift of the protons of the dimethylaminoethyl side chain due to the formation of N-oxide instead of S-oxide compared with the ¹H NMR of DTZ (Table 22). The two methyl groups on nitrogen became nonequivalent, and their proton signals were shifted down-field from δ 2.28 to δ 3.23 and 3.33. The four protons of the ethylene side chain are also shifted down-field. Therefore, there is no chemical shift change of the remainder of the protons, especially the two methine protons at C2 and C3 positions. The chemical shifts of these two methine protons should change for the S-oxide (either sulfoxide or sulfone). HPLC of synthetic DTZ N-oxide only showed one peak with the same retention time at that from biological sample and matched LC-MS / MS spectra (Figure 18). If there were sulfoxides formed, HPLC would be expected to have two peaks since the sulfoxide would be a di sterecomeric pair.

Т

90
Table 22. ¹H NMR Data of DTZ and DTZ *N*-Oxide



DTZ

DTZ-NO

DTZ (CDCl3) δ	DTZ N-Oxide (CDCl ₃) δ
1.90 (s, 3H, CH ₃ CO)	1.91 (s, 3H, CH ₃ CO)
2.28 (s, 6H, N(CH ₃) ₂)	3.23 (s, 3H, NCH ₃), 3.33 (s, 3H, NCH ₃)
3.82 (s, 3H, CH ₃ O)	3.83 (s, 3H, CH ₃ O)
2.42-2.53 (m, 1H, NCH)	3.42—3.61 (m, 1H, NCH)
2.67-2.77 (m, 1H, NCH)	3.80-3.93 (m, 1H, NCH)
3.68—3.80 (m, 1H, NCH)	4.36–4.53 (m, 1H, NCH)
4.40—4.50 (m, 1H, NCH)	4.56—4.75 (m, 1H, NCH)
5.02 (d, 1H, CH)	5.03 (d, 1H, CH)
5.14 (d, 1H, CH)	5.15 (d, 1H, CH)
6.88-7.72 (m, 8H, aromatic H)	6.90-7.70 (m, 8H, aromatic H)



Figure 15. HPLC analysis of standard mixture of DTZ and its metabolites. Synthetic standard (A), a human urine extract (B) and human urine blank (C). a = 8, b = 3, c = 3 *N*-oxide, d = 4, e = 5, f = 7, g = 1, h = 1 *N*-oxide, i = 2, j = diltiazem, k = 6



Figure 16 Ion-spray LC-MS (A) and LC-MS / MS (B) spectra for DTZ in human urine



.

Figure 17. Ion-spray LC-MS / MS spectra for 4 (MB) from synthetic standard (A) and human urine extract (B)



1

ł

Figure 18. Ion-spray LC-MS / MS spectra for 5 (MX) from synthetic standard (A) and human urine extract (B)



Figure 19. Ion-spray LC-MS / MS spectra for 6 (DTZNO) from synthetic standard (A) and human urine extract (B)

2. 6 Biological Evaluation

2. 6. 1 In Vitro Vasorelaxant Activity

2. 6. 1. 1 Vasorelaxant Activity of DTZ Metabolites on Hamster Aorta

In order to evaluate calcium antagonistic activity of synthetic DTZ metabolites, we used young hamster (72—85 days old, weighing 104—136 g) aorta ring preparations (*ca.* 3 mm rings) depolarized with potassium as discussed in the Experimental section. DTZ and its metabolites were dissolved in distilled water for the tests. The vasorelaxant activity recorded in this study is a reliable routine method for determining the activity of calcium channel antagonists.¹⁴⁹ For each experiment, DTZ was used as a control. The IC₅₀ values (Table 23), reported for vasorelaxant activity, were calculated by a sigmoidal non-linear regression program according to the concentration response data. Some of the IC₅₀ values were obtained by extrapolation because complete relaxation could not be achieved at the concentrations of metabolites used without compromising accuracy due to changes of organ bath volume. Calcium antagonism measured as the contraction of hamster aoraa preparations against the concentration of DTZ metabolites is shown in Figures 20 and 21.



Table 23. In Vitro Vasorelaxant Activity of DTZ and Synthetic Metabolites

Compd	R ¹	R ²	R ³	IC ₅₀ a	n
DTZ	Ме	Ac	NMe ₂	0.98±0.17	8
1 (M1)	Ме	Н	NMe ₂	2.5±0.2	3
2 (MA)	Ме	Ac	NHMe	3.3±0.5	4
3 (M4)	Н	Н	NMe ₂	46±9.0	4
4 (MB)	Н	Ac	NHMe	112±17	4
5 (MX)	Н	Ac	NMe ₂	40±7.7	4
7 (M2)	Me	Н	NHMe	20±5.3	4
8 (M6)	Н	Н	NHMe	126±14	3

^aMicromolar concentration (μ M) required to block Ca²⁺-induced contraction of K⁺depolarized hamster aorta by 50%, IC₅₀ ± SE (n = 3—8 rings for each compound).

ł

*~_*__

1



Figure 20. Vasorelaxant activity of DTZ metabolites (I)



Figure 21. Vasorelaxant activity of DTZ metabolites (II)

2. 6. 1. 2 Vasorelaxant Activity of DBTs on Hamster Aorta

Isolated aorta ring preparations (about 3 mm rings) were used to evaluate vasorelaxant potencies of our dibenzotricyclic compounds. Several conditions were slightly different from those used for diltiazem metabolites. First of all, organ bath temperature was set at $37^{\circ}C^{150}$ (standard protocol) instead of $29^{\circ}C$ (experiments done sharing a single thermal control). Secondly, the age and weight of hamsters used in this study covered a larger range (30—200 days old, weighing 75—164 g). Thirdly, 50% EtOH was used to make a stock solution (10^{-2} M) of each compound, and either 30% EtOH or distilled water was used to dilute this such that the final concentration of EtOH in the muscle bath was always less than 0.01%.¹⁵⁰ We found that concentrations of EtOH up to 0.05% had no effect on muscle contractile responses. Diltiazem was used as a control in these vasorelaxant tests. The IC₅₀ values (Table 24), reported for vasorelaxant activity, were calculated by a sigmoidal non-linear regression program according to the concentration response data. For those compounds for which IC₅₀ values could not be determined, values for % relaxation of hamster aorta at up to 1.0 μ M of cumulative dose are reported. The results are shown in Table 24 and Figures 22—28.





Compd	x	R	m	IC ₅₀ (µМ) ^а	% Relaxation ^b	n
DTZ				0.21 ± 0.11		8
9	S		2		16 ± 0.2	4
10 11 12 13 15 16 17 18	S S S O O O O	same as above same as above	3 4 5 6 3 4 5 6	$\begin{array}{c} 0.79 \pm 0.11 \\ 0.88 \pm 0.11 \\ 0.47 \pm 0.13 \\ 0.92 \pm 0.11 \\ 0.78 \pm 0.12 \\ 0.70 \pm 0.10 \\ 0.73 \pm 0.11 \\ 0.52 \pm 0.11 \end{array}$		4 4 5 4 5 4
19 20	S S	-N(CH ₃) ₂ same as above	2 3		0 0	4 4
21	S	$-N(CH_3)CH_2$	3		22 ± 3.3	4
2 2 2 3 2 4	S S S	same as above same as above same as above	4 5 6		27 ± 8.2 32 ± 4.7 27 ± 9.1	4 4 4

^aMicromolar (μ M) concentration required to block Ca²⁺-induced contraction of K⁺depolarized hamster aorta by 50%, IC₅₀ ± SE (n = 4—8 rings).

b% Relaxation of hamster aorta at 1.0 μ M of cumulative dose, % ± SE (n = 4 rings).

2



Figure 22. Vasorelaxant activity of 10



• 1

Figure 23. Vasorelaxant activity of 11



Figure 24. Vasorelaxant activity of 12



Figure 25. Vasorelaxant activity of 13

•



~

Figure 26. Vasorelaxant activity of 16



Figure 27. Vasorelaxant activity of 17



Figure 28. Vasorelaxant activity of 18

2. 6. 2 Effects of Calcium Antagonists on *In Vitro* Adenosine Uptake by Erythrocytes

2. 6. 2. 1 Effects of DTZ Metabolites on *In Vitro* Adenosine Uptake by Erythrocytes

A published protocol^{65,86,87} was used to evaluate effects of DTZ metabolites on *in vitro* adenosine uptake of human whole blood. The results^{65,86,87} are shown in Table 25. Details of the uptake experiment are described in the Experimentai section.

Compd ^b	Name ^c IC ₅₀ (µM) ^d	
Dipyridamole		0.2
Diltiazem		301
(+)-1	M1	93
(+)-2	MA	538
(+)-3	M4	186
(±)- 4	(±)-MB	118
(±)-5	(±)-MX	96
(+)-7	M2	> 1000
(+)-8	M6	> 1000

 Table 25.
 Effects of DTZ Metabolites on Adenosine Uptake^a

^aData were obtained from Dr. P. K. F. Yeung with permission.

^bOnly (\pm)-4 and (\pm)-5 are synthetic DTZ metabolites in this project; (+)-isomers are gifts from the Tanabe Seiyaku Co. (Osaka, Japan).

^cFor unsystematic names of DTZ metabolites, see lit.⁷² (M1, M2, M4, M6); lit.⁷³ (MA) and lit.⁷¹ (MB, MX).

^dMicromolar concentration (μ M) of inhibitors at which there was 50% inhibition of adenosine uptake.

Among DTZ and its metabolites, the order of potency is: (+)-1 (M1) $\geq (\pm)-5$ (MX) > $(\pm)-4$ (MB) > (+)-3 (M4) > DTZ > (+)-2 (MA) > (+)-7 (M2) = (+)-8 (M6).

2. 6. 2. 2 Effects of DBTs on In Vitro Adenosine Uptake by Erythrocytes

DBTs 9-13, 21-24 and 15-18 were evaluated by the same protocol. Although DBTs are calcium antagonists, they are inactive on adenosine uptake.

2. 6. 3 Anti-HIV Activity of Dibenzothiazepinone Derivatives

In vitro anti-HIV activity of dibenzothiazepinone derivatives (9—14, 25 and 26) was evaluated by the National Cancer Institute (NCI) *In Vitro* Anti-Aids Drug Discovery Program. A published procedure¹⁵¹ was used in the NCI test for agents active against Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV). After T4 lymphocytes are treated with a small amount of HIV, with or without the addition of a test compound, the culture is allowed to go through a complete cycle of virus production and cytolysis is measured. Agents that interact with the virus / cell system to interfere with viral activities will protect cells from destruction. All tests are compared with at least one positive (e.g., AZT-treated) control done at the same time under identical conditions. Compounds 14, 25, 26 were shown to have moderate anti-HIV activity, while compounds with more elaborate side chains (9—13) were inactive. The results are shown in Table 26 and Figures 29—32.



Compd	R	IC ₅₀ ^b	EC ₅₀ ^c	TI ₅₀ (IC/EC)
9	$(CH_2)_2 - N \longrightarrow F$	> 200 ^d		
10	$(CH_2)_3 - N \longrightarrow F$	35 ^d (35, 34)	_	
11	$(CH_2)_4 - N \longrightarrow F$	> 200 ^d		_
12	$(CH_2)_5 - N \longrightarrow F$	9 ^d (9.4, 8.3)		
13	$(CH_2)_6 - N \longrightarrow F$	11 ^d (12, 9)		
14	Н	> 110°	2.8 ^d (2.4, 3.1)	> 39
25	CH ₃	83 ± 19^{f}	5.1 ± 1.7^{f}	16 ^f
26		> 64 ^c	27±6.1g	> 2.4

^aEvaluated by National Cancer Institute, Bethesda, MD.

^bMicromolar (μ M) concentration of compounds killing 50% of HIV-uninfected cells, relative to uninfected, untreated controls.

^cMicromolar (μ M) concentration of compounds protecting 50% of HIV-infected cells from dying, relative to uninfected, untreated controls.

^d2 determinations.

e4 determinations.

^f6 determinations (IC₅₀ or EC₅₀ $\pm \beta$ E).

g3 determinations (EC₅₀ \pm SE).



Figure 29. Anti-HIV activity of 14



Figure 30. Anti-HIV activity of 25



ę

Figure 31. Anti-HIV activity of 26



Figure 32. Anti-HIV activity of 9

2. 7 Structure Activity Relationships

2. 7. 1 DTZ Metabolites

In our functional test for calcium antagonism, we found the vasorelaxant activities of DTZ metabolites on hamster aorta^{152,153} to have the following rank order of potency: $DTZ > 1 \ge 2 > 7 > 5 \ge 3 > 4 \ge 8$ (Table 23). This is consistent with the ranking of coronary-vasodilating activity of DTZ and its known metabolites,⁶³ and the following structure-activity relationships may be inferred. (a) The para-methoxy substituent on the 2phenyl group seems to be most important for vasorelaxant activity among DTZ metabolites, perhaps either by interacting with the diltiazem binding site on the receptor or by masking an unfavorable interaction of the phenolic hydroxyl. Thus diltiazem, 1, 2 and 7 have dramatically greater potencies than 5, 3, 4 and 8, respectively. (b) The O-acetyl group is not so important for activity, and 1 is the most potent metabolite studied. Similarly, 8 and 3 have comparable potencies with 4 and 5, respectively. This finding is consistent with an earlier report that the *cis*-acetyloxy group at C3 of diltiazem is not a prerequisite for calcium channel blocking activity.¹⁵⁴ (c) N-Monodemethylation likewise has little effect on metabolite potency, with diltiazem, 5 and 3 all being only about three times as potent as 2, 4 and 8, respectively. (d) While loss of either acetyl or N-methyl had little effect on biological activity, loss of both decreased activity tenfold. Thus 7 is significantly less potent than either 1 and 2.

Since 1 and 2 are nearly equipotent with the parent drug, diltiazem, in calcium antagonistic activity, they may reinforce the therapeutic effect of diltiazem. The extent of this contribution depends upon how much 1 and 2 are formed from diltiazem and their

extent of diffusion to the sites of action. Diltiazem can be metabolized to 1 by esterases present in the liver. On the other hand, 2 might be formed mainly by mixed function oxidase in the liver. Since most of the diltiazem metabolites possess hydroxyl, phenol or secondary amine functional groups, they are further metabolized by conjugation. This may nullify their action as calcium antagonists.

2. 7. 2 Dibenzotricyclic Compounds

A number of DBTs^{155—158} synthesized in this study have different vasorelaxation properties. Dibenzothiazepinones (9—13) and dibenzoxazepinones (15—18) have very similar *in vitro* vasorelaxation potencies (Table 24) regardless of different flexure angles (108.4° and 116.9°, respectively, from X-ray). This might be due to lack of critical angle requirements for the receptor in this flexure angle range, or flexure angle alterations by solvent participation involving H-bonding between water and heteroatoms in the central ring of the dibenzotricyclic compounds. *In vitro* vasorelaxation potencies of 10—13 and 15—18 range from 0.47 to 0.92 μ M (Table 24) although the chain spacer changes from 3 to 6 carbons. A possibility to enable 13 (6 carbon spacer) to bind to the same site on the receptor as 10 (3 carbon spacer) is to bend the 6 carbon chain of 13. This is readily achievable since a longer chain has more degrees of freedom.

A 4-(4-fluorophenyl)piperazinyl group attached to a carbon spacer is essential for vasorelaxant activity. Compounds 10—13 and 15—18 are calcium antagonists with IC₅₀ in submicromolar concentrations, while compounds 19 and 20 with dimethylaminoethyl or dimethylaminopropyl side chains are inactive. Compounds 21—24 with N-benzyl-N-methylaminoalkyl groups are less active than their 4-(4-fluorophenyl)piperazinylalkyl congeners.

Reference compound III has previously been reported to be 10 times more potent than DTZ in rat aorta.⁵⁰ In the present study, the most potent compound in the series, **12**, was found to be almost half as potent as DTZ in hamster aorta. These findings raise a number of interesting possibilities. (a) These results suggest that, provided our DBTs (9-13, 15–18) bind to receptors on the calcium channel in the same way as reference compounds III—VI, potencies of our DBTs are relatively insensitive to the flexure angle. This could be due to the flexure angles of our DBTs being below the optimal range. An optimal flexure angle may be required for optimal binding to receptors on the calcium channel. As reported by Kurokawa et al.,⁵⁰ too large an angle leads to diminished calcium antagonistic activity. Too small an angle of flexure may not facilitate the ligand binding to the receptor either. (b) Activity may also be affected by different orientations of the side chains. Even though free rotation of the carbon chain may allow the 4fluorophenylpiperazine moiety in compounds 9–13 and 15–18 to bind at the same site on the calcium channel receptor as compound III, the chains are attached differently to the dibenzotricyclic nucleus. This may alter the orientation of the chain, thereby precluding optimal binding. (c) An acidic hydrogen and a carbonyl group in III are absent from the side chain in compounds 9-13 and 15-18. Kurokawa et al.⁵⁰ inferred the acidic hydrogen and the carbonyl group might be prerequisite for interaction with the receptor. (d) A negative potential around the surface of the bridge portion of dibenzothiazepinones and dibenzoxazepinones (13 and 18 as representatives) may reduce calcium antagonistic activity compared with the reference compound III and IV. Indeed, Kurokawa et al.⁵⁰ found a positive charge distribution in this portion of their molecules to correlate with higher activity, and a negative potential with lower activity. Our results are consistent with this suggestion.

EXPERIMENTAL

3. 1 Molecular Mechanics Calculations

Molecular mechanics calculations were performed on a PC 486 personal computer with Serena Software PCMODEL (version 4.0)¹⁰⁸ at the Institute for Marine Biosciences, National Research Council (NRC), Halifax, N. S. Atomic coordinates of X-ray diffraction data of compounds **14**, **13** and **18** were obtained by Dr. S. Cameron of the Department of Chemistry, Dalhousie University. The atomic coordinates of X-ray diffraction data of compound **III** tricyclic nucleus were obtained from the literature.¹⁰⁹

An X-ray crystal structure input with WordPerfect 5.1 (WP51) was written in the following file format: Line 1: Title character string of up to 80 characters; Line 2: Cell parameters A,B,C, α , β , γ ; Line 3 to end: X,Y,Z coordinates and atom symbol. This was saved as DOS. file and read by PCMODEL as an X-ray file. The MMX-Minimize command instructs the program to minimize the energy of the structure. First, the total energy of the structure will be computed and listed. Then iterative energy minimization is performed, the atomic movement (in 10⁻⁵ angstrom units) and the energy (in kcal / mole) is listed every 5 iterations. If energy starts to increase or if the energy stabilizes but with large atomic movement, the program will pause to check the effect of each atom's movement on the total energy. Atoms whose movement causes the energy to rise will became fixed until the next atom movement check. When the energy stabilizes, the minimized structure will be redrawn and the energy summary will be listed in the upper right-hand corner of the screen.

After a minimized structure is obtained, all parameters including intramolecular distances, intramolecular bond angles and torsion angles can be obtained using a Query

command under the Display mode. The angles between the planes of the two benzene rings of DBTs were measured manually with a protractor since the program has no such a function.

3. 2 Synthesis

All chemicals were purchased from Aldrich Chemical Company, Inc. All melting points were measured on a Thomas-Hoover Unimelt apparatus and are uncorrected. Purities of synthetic DTZ metabolites were confirmed with normal phase TLC (a single spot developed by up to three different solvent systems), reversed phase HPLC (a major peak with \geq 95% purity) and microanalysis. Elemental analyses were performed by Canadian Microanalytical Service Ltd.(Delta, B.C) and were within 0.4% of the theoretical values. Chromatography and spectroscopy methods are described separately in Section 3. 3.

3. 2. 1 Synthesis of DTZ Metabolites

3. 2. 1. 1 Short Sequence Synthesis of DTZ Metabolites

2,3-Dihydro-5-[2-(dimethylamino)ethyl]-3-hydroxy-2-(4-hydroxyphenyl)-1,5-benzothiazepin-4(5H)-one (3). Commercial DTZ hydrochloride (4.0 g, 8.8 mmol) was dissolved in 1 N NaOH (ca. 8.8 mL). The resultant solution was extracted with CH₂Cl₂ (3 x 10 mL). The organic layer was washed with water and then dried over anhydrous MgSO₄. After solvent evaporation, diltiazem free base (3.6 g, 98%)

was obtained. A solution of DTZ free base (2.0 g, 4.8 mmol) in CH₂Cl₂ (18 mL) was placed in a two-neck 100 mL round bottomed flask fitted with a rubber septum and with a reflux condenser protected by a drying tube, and boron tribromide (1.21 g, 4.8 mmol) in 2 mL of CH₂Cl₂ was added by syringe at -80°C (cooled with dry ice-acetone bath). The reaction mixture turned yellow upon addition of boron tribromide and some white precipitate fell out. After stirring at -80°C for 1.5 h, 0°C for another 1.5 h and 20°C for two h, the reaction mixture (brown) was hydrolyzed by carefully shaking with 20 mL water, then extracted with diethyl ether (3 x 40 mL). The aqueous layer was neutralized with 5%Na₂CO₃, then extracted with CH₂Cl₂. The organic layer was dried over anhydrous MgSO₄. After solvent removal, the residue was converted to the hydrochloride salt, which was recrystallized from 70% EtOH to give HCl salt of 3 (0.76 g, 40%): mp 218-221°C; TLC $R_f = 0.47$ (CH₂Cl₂ / MeOH, 1:1); $[\alpha]^{21}D = +163.8$ (c = 0.334, H₂O); IR (KBr) 3500–2600 (br, NH⁺), 3200 (OH), 1660 (C=O) cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (d_{6} -DMSO) δ 2.81 (br s, 6 H, N(CH₃)₂), 3.00-3.20 and 3.25-3.60 (m, 2 H, CH₂N+), 4.00-4.16 and 4.40—4.60 (m, 2 H, CONCH₂), 4.21 (dd, J = 6.8 Hz, 1 H, OCH), 4.79 (d, J = 6.9 Hz, 1 H, OH), 4.85 (d, J = 7.3 Hz, 1 H, SCH). 6.71–7.72 (m, 8 H, aromatic H), 9.53 (s, 1 H, phenolic OH), 10.40 (br s, 1 H, NH⁺); ¹³C NMR (d_6 -DMSO) δ 42.24 (2 CH₃), 43.58 (CH₂), 52.88 (CH₂), 56.08 (CH), 69.73 (CH), 114.74–157.36 (m, aromatic C), 171.45 (CO); FAB MS m/z 359 (M+1). 3 was obtained by converting the HCl salt with NH₄OH, mp 138—140°C (lit.⁷³ mp 135—138°C).

2,3-Dihydro-5-[2-(dimethylamino)ethyl]-3-hydroxy-2-(4-methoxy-

phenyl)-1,5-benzothiazepin-4(5*H*)-one (1). Direct ester hydrolysis of diltiazem hydrochloride with diluted NaOH / EtOH gave 1. HCl salt of DTZ (0.45 g, 1 mmol) was stirred in 5% NaOH / EtOH (10 / 90 mL) for two h at room temperature. The reaction

mixture was neutralized with 10% HCl. Solvents were removed under reduced pressure. The residue was treated with dilute NaOH and extracted with EtOAc. The organic layer was dried over anhydrous MgSO4. After the solvent was removed, the residue was dissolved in HBr-MeOH (10%, w / w) and concentrated to give the crude hydrobromide salt. Recrystallization from EtOH afforded HBr salt of 1 (0.36 g, 80 %): mp 223—225 °C (lit.⁷² mp 225—228°C); $[\alpha]^{21}_{D}$ = +134.5 (c = 0.460, H₂O); IR (KBr) 3400 (OH), 3300—2600 (br, NH⁺), 1640 (C=O), 1250 (C—O) cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (*d*₆-DMSO) δ 2.81(br s, 6 H, N(CH₃)₂), 3.12—3.14 and 3.36—3.44 (m, 2 H, CH₂N⁺), 3.76 (s, 3 H, OCH₃), 3.97—4.17 and 4.39—4.58 (m, 2 H, CONCH₂), 4.24 (dd, J = 7.1 Hz, 1 H, OCH), 4.39—4.58 (m, 1 H), 4.88—4.92 (two d, J = 6.6 and 7.2 Hz, 2 H, SCH, OH), 6.90—7.73 (m, 8 H, aromatic H), 9.64 (br s, 1 H, NH⁺); ¹H NMR after D₂O exchange showed a doublet (J = 7.3 Hz, 1 H) at 4.23 ppm and disappearance of a doublet (J = 6.6 Hz) at 4.88—4.92 and of the broad singlet at 9.64 ppm.

3. 2. 1. 2. Multistep Synthesis of DTZ Metabolites

Methyl (\pm)-*trans*-3-(4-benzyloxyphenyl)glycidate (29). A modification of procedures by Falco *et al.*¹¹⁵ was used to prepare 29. Into a 500 mL three-neck round bottom flask equipped with drying tube and addition funnel, 100 mL of methanol (freshly distilled and dried with 4Å molecular sieves) were placed and sodium metal (8.3 g, 360 mmol) was added with stirring (cooled with ice-water bath). 4-Benzyloxybenzaldehyde (50.0 g, 240 mmol) and methyl chloroacetate (39.0 g, 360 mmol) were dissolved in dioxane (100 mL) and then added into the sodium methoxide solution during 30 min. This reaction mixture was stirred overnight at room temperature and checked with TLC (toluene / EtOAc, 9:1), $R_f = 0.30$ for product. The reaction mixture was poured onto ice (*ca.* 1000 g), neutralized with acetic acid and then extracted with CH₂Cl₂ (4 x 200 mL). The organic layer was dried over anhydrous MgSO₄. After the solvents were removed under reduced pressure, the residue was recrystallized from methanol to give white pellets of **29** (49.4 g, 74%): mp 107—108°C (lit.¹¹⁵ 80%, mp 107—108°C); TLC $R_f = 0.30$ (toluene / EtOAc, 9:1); $[\alpha]^{23}D = +1.3^{\circ}$ (c = 1.0, CHCl₃); IR (KBr) 1750 (C=O), 1250 (C—O) cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 3.51 (d, J = 1.7 Hz, 1 H, CH), 3.82 (s, 3 H, OCH₃), 4.05 (d, J = 1.7 Hz, 1 H, CH), 5.07 (s, 2 H, CO₂CH₂), 6.96—7.44 (m, 9 H, aromatic H). The coupling constant between the two methine protons is similar with that (1.7 Hz) of commercial methyl (±)-*trans*-3-(4-methoxyphenyl) glycidate (**31**).

2-Nitrothiophenol (30). Compound 30 was obtained using the method by Cashman and Liu¹¹⁷. Bis(2-nitrophenyl)disulfide (30.0 g, 97.3 mmol) was suspended in dry THF (145 mL) and a slurry of NaBH₄ (12.9 g, 341 mmol) in THF (50 mL) was added under nitrogen. The reaction mixture turned red-brown immediately upon addition of NaBH₄. The reaction was stirred at room temperature for three h and monitored by TLC (CH₂Cl₂), R_f values of disulfide and 30 being 0.61 and 0.56, respectively. The reaction was quenched with ice-water (200 mL), acidified with 15% sulfuric acid (color changed from red-brown to yellow) and then extracted with CH₂Cl₂ (4 x 200 mL). The organic layer was dried over anhydrous MgSO₄ for two h. The solvent was removed under reduced pressure to give 29 g (97%) of 30 as yellow solid, r.np 49—53°C (lit¹¹⁸ mp 58°C) which was used in the next step without further purification.

Methyl 3-(4-benzyloxyphenyl)-2-hydroxy-3-(2-nitrophenylthio)-

propionate (32). To a solution of freshly prepared 30 (29.0 g, 180 mmol) in dioxane (220 mL) under N₂ were added compound 29 (50.5 g, 180 mmol) and tin (II) chloride

(2.2 g, 11.6 mmol) in an ice-water bath. The mixture was stirred for one h at 0°C and then 21 h at room temperature. The solvent was removed under reduced pressure. The residue was recrystallized from EtOAc (*ca.* 100 mL) to give **32** (52 g, 67%) as yellow needles: mp 142—143°C (lit.⁷³ 53%, mp 138—140°C); TLC R_f = 0.09 (CH₂Cl₂) and 0.6 (CH₂Cl₂/ EtOAc). IR (KBr) 3490 (OH), 1738 (C=O), 1515 and 1340 (NO₂), 1240 (C—O) cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 3.25 (d, J = 5.5 Hz, 1 H, OH), 3.75 (s, 3 H, CO₂CH₃), 4.56—4.59 (dd, J = 3.3 and 5.4 Hz, 1 H, OCH), 4.73 (d, J = 3.2 Hz, 1 H, SCH), 5.04 (s, 2 H, OCH₂), 6.92—8.05 (m, 13 H, aromatic H). The ¹H NMR after D₂O exchange showed a doublet (J = 3.3 Hz, 1 H, OCH) at 4.56 ppm and a doublet (J = 3.2 Hz, 1 H, SCH) at 4.73 ppm and disappearance of a doublet (J = 5.5 Hz, 1 H, OH) at 3.25 ppm.

Methyl 2-acetyloxy-3-(4-benzyloxyphenyl)-3-(2-nitrophenylthio)-

propionate (44). Compound 32 (200 mg, 0.45 mmol) was acetylated by heating with acetic anhydride (2.6 g, 25 mmol) and pyridine (5 drops) for 2 h on a boiling water bath. Acetic anhydride, acetic acid and pyridine were evaporated off completely under reduced pressure. 44 (160 mg, 74%) was obtained as a yellow oil: TLC $R_f = 0.22$ (CH₂Cl₂); IR (CDCl₃) 1750 (br, C=O), 1510 and 1340 (NO₂), 1220 (C—O) cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 2.11 (s, 3 H, CH₃CO), 3.63 (s, 3 H, CO₂CH₃), 4.88 (d, J = 5.3 Hz, 1 H, CH), 5.03 (s, 2 H, CH₂), 5.39 (d, J = 5.3 Hz, 1 H, CH), 6.93—8.05 (m, 13 H, aromatic H).

Methyl 2-hydroxy-3-(4-methoxyphenyl)-3-(2-nitrophenylthio)-

propionate (33). A similar procedure was used to synthesize **33**. A solution of **31** (26.9 g, 130 mmol), freshly prepared **30** (20 g, 130 mmol) and tin (II) chloride (1.6 g, 8.4 mmol) in dioxane (100 mL) was stirred under N_2 at 0°C for one h and then at room temperature for 18 h. The solvent was removed under reduced pressure. The residue was

recrystallized from EtOAc to give **33** (24 g, 51 %) as yellow needles: mp 160—161°C (lit.¹⁰⁹, 56%, mp 157—158°C); TLC $R_f = 0.07$ (CH₂Cl₂); IR (KBr) 3490 (OH), 1720 (C=O), 1510 and 1340 (NO₂), 1240 (C=O) cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 3.25 (d, J = 5.6 Hz, 1 H, OH), 3.76 (s, 3 H, CO₂CH₃), 3.80 (s, 3 H, OCH₃), 4.56—4.59 (dd, J = 3.3 and 5.5 Hz, 1 H, OCH), 4.73 (d, J = 3.3 Hz, 1 H, SCH), 6.87—8.03 (m, 8 H, aromatic H).

Methyl 2-acetyloxy-3-(4-methoxyphenyl)-3-(2-nitrophenylthio)propionate (45). A procedure analogous to that used for preparation of 44 was followed and yellow crystals of 45 were obtained (75%): mp 100—102°C. TLC R_f = 0.23 (CH₂Cl₂); IR (CHCl₃) 1750 (br, C=O), 1510 and 1345 (NO₂), 1250 (C—O) cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (CHCl₃) δ 2.10 (s, 3 H, CH₃CO), 3.64 (s, 3 H, CO₂CH₃), 3.78 (s, 3 H, OCH₃), 4.88 (d, J = 5.3 Hz, 1 H, CH), 5.40 (d, J = 5.3 Hz, 1 H, CH), 6.86—8.07 (m, 8 H, aromatic H).

Methyl 3-(2-aminophenylthio)-3-(4-benzyloxyphenyl)-2-hydroxy-

propionate (34). Into a solution of **32** (35.4 g, 81 mmol) in MeOH (390 mL) was added a solution of ferrous sulfate (FeSO₄•7H₂O) (168.0 g, 605 mmol) in H₂O (390 mL). The mixture was refluxed for 30 min with mechanical stirring. Though an addition funnel was added concentrated NH₄OH (28—30%, 106 mL) during 30 min. The reaction mixture darkened upon addition of NH₄OH. The mixture was refluxed for an additional 30 min then allowed to cool. The solids were collected by suction filtration. MeOH was removed from the filtrate under reduced pressure. The resultant aqueous phase was extracted with CH₂Cl₂ (3 x 200 mL). '1 he filtration residue was washed with three 200-mL portions of MeOH / CH₂Cl₂ (1:1). This organic phase was combined with the CH₂Cl₂
layer from the filtrate extract and dried over anhydrous MgSO₄. Solvents were removed under reduced pressure. The residues were recrystallized from methanol (*ca.* 110 mL) to give **34** as pale crystals (21.4 g, 65%): mp 121—122°C (lit.⁷³ 43%, mp 119—120°C); TLC R_f = 0.51 (CH₂Cl₂ / EtOAc, 1:1); IR (KBr) 3460 (br) and 3360 (NH₂ and OH), 1720 (C=O), 1240 (C—O) cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 3.56 (s, 3 H, CO₂CH₃), 3.90 (br s, 1 H, OH), 4.31 (br s, 2 H, NH₂), 4.49 (br s, 2 H, CHCH), 5.05 (s, 2 H, OCH₂), 6.60—7.45 (m, 13 H, aromatic H).

Methyl 3-(2-aminophenylthio)-2-hydroxy-3-(4-methoxyphenyl)-

propionate (35). A mixture of 33 (22.7 g, 62.5 mmol) in MeOH (350 mL) and FeSO₄•7H₂O (130.0 g, 469 mmol) in H₂O (350 mL) was refluxed for 30 min. To this mixture was added dropwise concentrated NH₄OH (28—30%, 83 mL) with mechanical stirring. The mixture was refluxed for an additional 30 min. Work-up in the same manner as that for 34 described above gave crude solid, recrystallization of which from 70% ethanol gave 35 (17.8 g, 86%) as pale crystals: mp 90—91°C (lit.¹⁰⁹ 71%, 93—94°C); TLC R_f = 0.55 (CH₂Cl₂ / EtOAc, 1:1); IR (KBr) 3530 (OH), 3450 and 3360 (NH₂), 1735 (C=O), 1250 (C—O) cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 3.57 (s, 3 H, CO₂CH₃), 3.79 (s, 3 H, OCH₃), 3.90 (br s, 1 H, OH), 4.32 (br s, 2 H, NH₂), 4.50 (br s, 2 H, CHCH), 6.61—7.35 (m, 8 H, aromatic H).

3-(2-Aminophenylthio)-3-(4-benzyloxyphenyl)-2-hydroxypropionic

acid (36). Compound 34 (27.0 g, 66 mmol) was heated with 5% NaOH (264 mL, 330 mmol) on a boiling water-bath until all the starting material dissolved (*ca*.10 min) and then allowed to cool. The solution was neutralized with 10% HCl to pH *ca*. 5. The resultant precipitate was collected by filtration and recrystallized from ethanol to give 36 (24.7 g,

95%) as colorless crystals: mp 174—175°C (dec.); TLC $R_f = 0.35$ (CHCl₃ / MeOH, 1:1); IR (KBr) 3300 (OH), 3100—2500 (br, NH⁺), 1610 (CO₂⁻), 1240 (C—O) cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (*d*₆-DMSO) δ 4.27 (br d, J = 5.2 Hz, 1 H, CH), 4.34 (br d, J = 5.1 Hz, 1 H, CH), 5.03 (s, 2 H, OCH₂), 5.60—6.25 (br s, NH₂) 6.33—7.40 (m, 13 H, aromatic H); FAB MS m/z 396 (M+1).

3-(2-Aminophenylthio)-2-hydroxy-3-(4-methoxyphenyl)propionic

acid (37). Compound 35 (13.4 g, 40.2 mmol) was heated with 5% NaOH (160 mL, 201 mmol) on a boiling water-bath for *ca*. five min and then allowed to cool. The resultant clear solution was diluted with H₂O (*ca*. 150 mL) and acidified with 10% HCl to pH *ca*. 5. The precipitated crystals were collected by suction filtration and recrystallized from ethanol (*ca*. 150 mL) to give 37 (12.3 g , 96%): mp 178—179°C (lit.¹⁰⁹ 86%, mp 167—170°C); TLC R_f = 0.36 (CHCl₃ / MeOH, 1:1); IR (KBr) 3320 (OH), 3100—2500 (br, NH⁺), 1620 (CO₂⁻), 1240 (C—O) cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (*d*₆-DMSO) δ 3.69 (s, 3 H, OCH₃), 4.25 (br d, J = 5.5 Hz, 1 H, CH), 5.70—6.25 (br s, NH₂), 6.31—7.17 (m, 8 H, aromatic H).

2-(4-Benzyloxyphenyl)-2,3-dihydro-3-hydroxy-1,5-benzothiazepin-

4(5*H***)-one (27).** Compound **36** (1.75 g, 4.4 mmol) was refluxed for 7 h in xylene (60 mL) in a flask fitted with a Dean-Stark trap. After cooling, the crystalline product was collected on a filter to give **27** (1.57 g, 95%) as colorless prisms: mp 235-237°C (lit.⁷³ mp 230-232°C); TLC R_f = 0.52 (CH₂Cl₂ / EtOAc, 1:1); IR (KBr) 3320 (OH), 1681 C=O, amide I), 1640 (C=O, amide II), 1240 (C-O) cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (*d*₆-DMSO) δ 4.27 (br dd, 1 H, OCH), 4.83 (br d, 1 H, OH), 5.03 (d, J = 6.7 Hz, 1 H, SCH), 5.09 (s, 2 H, CH₂), 6.98-8.41 (m, 13 H, aromatic H) , 10.30 (s, 1 H, NH). ¹³C NMR (*d*₆-DMSO) δ

57.09 (CH), 69.62 (CH), 69.23 (CH₂), 113.3—158.1 (m, aromatic C), 172.49 (s, CO); FAB MS m/z 378 (M+1).

2,3-Dihydro-3-hydroxy-2-(4-methoxyphenyl)-1,5-benzothiazepin-4(5H)-one (28). Compound **37** (0.9 g, 2.8 mmol) was refluxed for two h in xylene (25 mL) in a flask fitted with a Dean-Stark trap. After cooling, the crystals were collected by filtration to give **28** (0.8 g, 94%) as light-grey needles: mp 168—169°C (lit.¹⁰⁹ 63%, mp 167—170°C); TLC R_f = 0.76 (CHCl₃ / MeOH, 1:1); IR (KBr) 3350 (br OH), 1680 (C=O, amide I), 1650 (C=O, amide II), 1250 (C—O) cm⁻¹;. ¹H NMR (*d*₆-DMSO) δ 3.76 (s, 3 H, OC'H₃), 4.29 (br dd, J = 6.6 Hz, 1 H, OCH), 4.77 (br d, J = 6.7 Hz, 1 H, OH), 5.05 (d, J = 6.7 Hz, 1 H, SCH), 6.88—7.60 (m, 8 H, aromatic), 10.32 (s, 1 H, NH).

(2-Chloroethyl)methylamine hydrochloride (46). Into 2-methylaminoethanol (7.5 g, 100 mmol) in CHCl₃ (10 mL) was added SOCl₂ (15.5 g, 130 mmol) in CHCl₃ (15 mL) during one h. The reaction mixture was stirred for an additional 10 min. Solvent and excess SOCl₂ were removed under reduced pressure at a bath temperature not exceeding 75°C. The residue was recrystallized from acetone to give 46 (12.1 g, 93%) as needles: mp 115—117°C; ¹H NMR (D₂O) δ 2.57 (s, 3 H, CH₃N⁺), 3.24 (t, J = 5.3 Hz, 2 H, CH₂N⁺), 3.68 (t, J = 5.3 Hz, 2 H, ClCH₂).

Benzyl (2-chloroethyl)methylcarbamate (47). Compound **46** (12.0 g, 92 mmol) was dissolved in 4 N NaOH (50 mL) and cooled in an ice-cold water bath. To this solution were added simultanously benzyl chloroformate (15.7 g, 92 mmol) and 4 N NaOH (25 mL, 100 mmol) with stirring over 30 min and the stirring was continued for an additional 30 min. The reaction mixture was extracted with ether (3 x 30 mL). After

drying with Na₂SO₄, the ether was removed under reduced pressure. The residue (oil, quantitative yield) showed only one spot on TLC R_f = 0.14 (CH₂Cl₂ / hexane, 1:1); IR (CHCl₃) 1680 (C=O) cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (*d*₆-DMSO) δ 2.89—2.93 (two br s, 3 H, NCH₃), 3.54—3.60 (m, 2 H, NCH₂), 3.74 (t, J = 6.3 Hz, 2 H, ClCH₂), 5.09 (br s, 2 H, OCH₂), 7.28—7.46 (m, 5 H, aromatic H); ¹³C NMR (*d*₆-DMSO) δ at 25°C: 34.38 and 34.60 (two equal intensity CH₃), 41.65 and 41.98 (two equal intensity CH₂), 49.46 and 50.00 (two equal intensity CH₂), 66.14 and 66.33 (two equal intensity CH₂), 127.23—136.68 (aromatic C), 155.29 and 155.56 (two equal intensity C=O). ¹³C NMR (*d*₆-DMSO) δ at 60°C: 34.19 (CH₃), 41.36 (CH₂), 49.62 (CH₂), 66.00 (CH₂), 126.04—136.58 (aromatic C), 155.12 (C=O).

5-[2-(N-Benzyloxycarbonyl-N-methylamino)ethyl]-2-(4-benzyloxyphenyl)-2,3-dihydro-3-hydroxy-1,5-benzothiazepin-4(5H)-one (38).

Compound **38** was prepared by alkylation of **27** with **47** in the presence of dimethylsulfinyl carbanion. To 80% NaH in mineral oil (0.43 g, 14.4 mmol) was added DMSO (39 mL) under N₂. The mixture was heated with stirring at 70°C for one h. After cooling to room temperature, the mixture was treated with **27** (4.5 g, 12 mmol). The resultant mixture was stirred for one h at room temperature. Compound **47** (2.73 g, 12 mmol) was added. The mixture was stirred overnight at 50—55°C, then poured into icewater (*ca.* 250 mL). Solvent was removed under reduced pressure (70°C, 0.5 mmHg), and the residue was extracted with toluene (3 x 100 mL). Toluene extracts were combined and dried over anhydrous MgSO₄. Solvent was removed under reduced pressure and the residue was recrystallized from EtOAc to give **38** (2.95 g, 43%): mp 122—123°C (lit.⁷³ 68%, mp 122—123°C); TLC R_f = 0.60 (CH₂Cl₂ / EtOAc, 1:1); IR (KBr) 3400 (OH), 1702 (C=O), 1660 (C=O) cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (*d*₆-DMSO) δ 2.74—2.88 (m, 1 H, OH), 3.05

(s, 3 H, NCH₃), 3.62—3.77 (m, 2 H, NCH₂), 4.04—4.40 (m, 2 H, NCH₂), 4.40—4.50 (m, 1 H, OCH), 4.88—4.92 (m, 1 H, SCH), 5.17 (br s, 4 H, 2 OCH₂), 6.95—7.69 (m, 18 H, aromatic H); ¹³C NMR (*d*₆-DMSO) δ 35.16 (CH₃), 46.52 (CH₂), 47.25 (CH₂), 56.65 (CH), 67.20 (CH₂), 69.48 (CH), 70.06 (CH₂), 114.64—159.25 (m, aromatic C), 171.86 (CON). Starting material, **27**, was recovered in 32% yield.

2-(4-Benzyloxyphenyl)-2,3-dihydro-5-[2-(dimethylamino)-ethyl]-3-

hydroxy-1,5-benzothiazepin-4(5*H*)-one (39). Compound 39 was obtained by alkylation with (2-chloroethyl)dimethylamine hydrochloride in the presence of K₂CO₃/ DMF. A mixture of 27 (4.5 g, 11.9 mmol), (2-chloroethyl)dimethylamine hydrochloride (1.89 g, 13.1 mmol) and K₂CO₃ (3.78 g, 27.4 mmol) in DMF (120 mL) was stirred at 50---55°C under N₂ and kept at the same temperature for 20 h. Inorganic compounds were removed by filtration. The filtrate was evaporated to dryness under reduced pressure. The residue was recrystallized from CHCl₃ / MeOH (1:2, 18 mL total) to give 39 (2.21 g, 38%): mp 145.5-146.5°C; TLC R_f = 0.52 (CHCl₃ / MeOH, 1:1); IR (KBr) 3400 (OH), 1670 (C=O), 1240 (C-O) cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 2.28 (s, 6 H, N(CH₃)₂), 2.43-2.51 and 2.66-2.75 (m, 2 H, NCH₂), 2.88 (br d, J = 7.2 Hz, 1 H, OH), 3.67-3.76 and 4.44-4.53 (m, 2 H, CONCH₂), 4.31 (br dd, J = 7.2 Hz, 1 H, OCH), 4.90 (d, J = 7.2 Hz, 1 H, SCH), 5.07 (s, 2 H, OCH₂), 6.98-7.70(m, 13 H, aromatic H).

5-[2-(N-Benzyloxycarbonyl-N-methylamino)ethyl]-2,3-dihydro-3hydroxy-2-(4-methoxyphenyl)-1,5-benzothiazepin-4(5H)-one (40).

Compound 40 was obtained in a similar manner as 38. NaH (0.6 g, 20 mmol, 80% oil dispersion) in DMSO (54 mL) was heated at 70°C for one h under N₂. To this solution was added 28 (5.9 g, 16.6 mmol) at room temperature. After one h stirring, 47 (3.78 g,

16.6 mmol) was added and the mixture was kept at 50—55°C for 24 h. The reaction mixture was poured onto ice-water (*ca*. 250 mL) and extracted with toluene (3 x 100 mL). Toluene extracts were combined, treated with Norite and dried over Na₂SO₄. Solvent removal gave a yellow oil (7.23 g) which was treated with MeOH (10 mL) to precipitate one of the starting materials (25% of **28** was recovered). After MeOH was evaporated, the resulting oil was treated with ether (3 x15 mL) to remove **47**. Compound **40** (2.37 g, 29%) was obtained as gel-like oil and was used in the next step without further purification: TLC R_f = 0.50 (CH₂Cl₂/EtOAc, 1:1); IR (CHCl₃) 3500 (OH), 1700 (C=O), 1670 (C=O) cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 2.82—2.87 (m, 1 H, OH), 3.01 (s, 3 H, NCH₃), 3.50—3.75 (m, 2 H, NCH₂), 3.80 (s, 3 H, OCH₃), 3.90—4.40 (m, 2 H, NCH₂), 4.40—4.45 (m, 1 H, OCH), 4.85—4.90 (m, 1 H, SCH), 5.10 (br s, 2 H, OCH₂), 6.88—7.69 (m, 13 H, aromatic H).

2,3-Dihydro-5-[2-(dimethylamino)ethyl]-3-hydroxy-2-(4-methoxy-

phenyl)-1,5-benzothiazepin-4(5*H*)-one (1). A mixture of 28 (301.0 mg, 1 mmol), (2-chloroethyl)dimethylamine hydrochloride (158.5 mg, 1.1 mmol) and K₂CO₃ (318.0 mg, 2.3 mmol) in acetone (20 mL) was refluxed for 3 days. Inorganic compounds were removed by filtration. The filtrate was reduced to about 5 mL and converted into HCl salt with HCl-EtOH (10%, w / w). After solvent was removed under reduced pressure, the residue was recrystallized from EtOH to give the HCl salt of 1 (260 mg, 58%) as white crystals: mp 224—225.5°; TLC R_f = 0.50 (CHCl₃ / MeOH, 1:1); $|\alpha|^{21}D = +0.5°$ (c = 0.407, H₂O); IR (KBr) 3400—2600 (br, OH and NH+), 1640 (C=O), 1250 (C—O) cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (*d*₆-DMSO) δ 2.80 (br s, 6 H, N(CH₃)₂), 3.12—3.14 and 3.36—3.44 (m, 2 H, CH₂N+), 3.76 (s, 3 H, OCH₃), 3.97—4.17 and 4.39—4.58 (m, 2 H, CONCH₂), 4.24 (br t, J = 7.1 Hz, 1 H, OCH), 4.88—4.92 (two d, J = 6.6 and 7.2 Hz, 2 H, SCH, OH),

6.90—7.73 (m, 8 H, aromatic H), 10.46 (br s, 1 H, NH⁺); the ¹H NMR spectrum after D₂O exchange showed change of a broad triplet to a doublet at 4.24 ppm and disappearance of OH signal in 4.88—4.92 and of NH⁺ signal at 10.46 ppm; ¹³C NMR (d₆-DMSO) δ 42.22 (2 CH₃), 43.58 (CH₂), 52.88 (CH₂), 55.05 (CH₃), 55.85 (CH), 68.89 (CH), 113.30—159.07 (m, aromatic C), 171.38 (CO); FAB MS m/z 373 (M+1). The product was converted to its HBr salt, mp 224—226°C (lit.⁷³ 12%, mp 225—228°C).

Ì.

3-Acetyloxy-5-[2-(N-benzyloxycarbonyl-N-methylamino)ethyl]-2-(4benzyloxyphenyl)-2,3-dihydro-1,5-benzothiazepin-4-(5H)-one (41). A mixture of 38 (2.7 g, 4.7 mmol), acetic anhydride (3.9 g, 38 mmol) and pyridine (18.6 g, 235 mmol) was stirred for 24 h at room temperature and for two h on a boiling water bath. The reaction mixture was allowed to cool to ambient temperature and then poured into icewater (ca. 60 mL). The mixture was extracted with EtOAc and the extract was washed with 5% HCl, brine and water. The separated EtOAc layer was dried over anhydrous MgSO₄. Compound **41** (2.77 g, quantitative yield) was obtained as colorless crystals after the solvent was removed under reduced pressure: mp 51—53°C; TLC $R_f = 0.24$ (CHCl₃/ toluene / MeOH, 8:8:1); IR (KBr) 1740 (C=O, ester), 1695 (C=O, carbamate), 1675 (C=O, amide) cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 1.90 (s, 3 H, COCH₃), 2.99–3.02 (2 s, equal intensity, 3 H, NCH₃), 3.50-3.55 (m, 2 H, CH₂NCO₂), 3.85-4.00 and 4.23-4.32 (m, 2 H, CONCH₂), 4.99–5.17 (m, 6 H, 2 OCH₂, 2 CH), 6.95–7.68 (m, 18 H, aromatic H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) & 20.45 (CH₃), 35.16 (CH₃), 47.11 (2 CH₂), 54.43 (CH), 67.15 (CH₂), 70.01 (CH₂), 71.29 (CH), 114.66–159.06 (m, aromatic C), 156.03-156.31 (2 s, NCO₂), 167.36 (CO), 169.85 (NCO).

3-Acetyloxy-2-(4-benzyloxyphenyl)-2,3-dihydro-5-[2-(dimethyl-

amino)ethyl]-1,5-benzothiazepin-4(5*H*)-one (42). A mixture of **39** (1.5 g, 3.3 mmol), acetic anhydride (2.8 g, 27.6 mmol) and pyridine (13.6 g, 172 mmol) was stirred for 24 h at room temperature and then poured into ice-water (*ca.* 25 mL) and stirred for an additional 30 min. The same work-up as **41** gave compound **42** (1.6 g, quantitative yield) as needles: mp 225—227°C; TLC $R_f = 0.50$ (CHCl₃ / MeOH, 1:1); IR (KBr) 2700—2300 (br, NH⁺), 1745 (C=O, ester), 1680 (C=O, amide) cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (*d*₆-DMSO) δ 1.90 (s, 3 H, COCH₃), 2.88 (s, 6 H, N(CH₃)₂), 3.23—3.27 and 3.46—3.49 (m, 2 H, CH₂N⁺), 4.40—4.44 and 4.55—4.58 (m, 2 H, CONCH₂), 5.03 (d, J = 8.0 Hz, 1 H, CH), 5.08 (s, 2 H, OCH₂), 5.12 (d, J = 8.0 Hz, 1 H, CH), 6.98—7.72 (m, 13 H, aromatic H).

3-Acetyloxy-5-[2-(*N*-benzyloxycarbonyl-*N*-methylamino)ethyl]-2,3dihydro-2-(4-methoxyphenyl)-1,5-benzothiazepin-4(5*II*)-one (43). A mixture of 40 (0.8 g, 1.6 mmol), acetic anhydride (1.3 g, 13 mmol) and pyridine (6.4 g, 81 mmol) was stirred for 24 h at room temperature and then poured into ice-water (*ca.* 30 mL). The same work-up as 41 gave compound 43 (0.84 g, quantitative yield) as oil; TLC R_f = 0.48 (CH₂Cl₂ / EtOAc, 1:1); IR (liquid film) 1750 (C=O, ester), 1705 (C=O, carbamate), 1690 (C=O, amide) cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 1.90 (s, 3 H, COCH₃), 3.01—3.02 (2 s, equal intensity, 3 H, NCH₃), 3.40—3.60 and 3.62—3.78 (m, 2 H CH₂NCO₂), 3.81(s, 3 H, OCH₃), 3.85—4.05 and 4.16—4.38 (m, 2 H, CONCH₂), 4.99—5.18 (m, 4 H, OCH₂, CHCH), 6.88—7.67 (m, 13 H, aromatic H).

3-Acetyloxy-2,3-dihydro-2-(4-hydroxyphenyl)-5-[2-(methylamino)ethyl]-1,5-benzothiazepin-4(5H)-one (4). After 41 (2.0 g, 3.3 mmol) was stirred

in freshly prepared 25% (w / w) of HBr-AcOH (8 mL) for four h at room temperature, the reaction mixture was poured into ice-water (ca. 50 mL) and shaken with ether. The aqueous phase was separated and neutralized with powdered NaHCO₃ and then extracted with EtOAc. The organic layer was separated and dried over anhydrous MgSO₄. The solvent was removed under reduced pressure, the residue was titrated to pH ca. 4.5 with 9% (w / w) HBr-MeOH. Recrystallization of the residue from ethanol gave HBr salt of 4 (0.4 g, 27%): mp 260—262°C (dec.); TLC $R_f = 0.32$ (CHCl₃/MeOH, 1:1); $[\alpha]^{21}D = +$ 0.7° (c = 0.303, H₂O); IR (KBr) 3500-2700 (br, OH, NH⁺), 1750 (C=O, ester), 1675 (C=O, amide), 1240 (C-O) cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (d_6 -DMSO) δ 1.96 (s, 3 H, COCH₃), 2.78 (s, 3 H, NCH₃), 3.06-3.15 and 3.31-3.43 (m, 2 H, CH₂N⁺), 4.10-4.19 and 4.34-4.44 (m, 2 H, CONCH₂), 5.00 (d, J = 7.7 Hz, 1 H, CH), 5.06 (d, J = 7.7 Hz, 1 H, CH), 6.86-7.91 (m, 8 H, aromatic H), 8.91 (br s, 2 H, NH₂+), 9.24 (s, 1 H, phenolic OH); the ¹H NMR spectrum after D₂O exchange showed disappearance of two signals at 8.91 and 9.24 ppm; ¹³C NMR (*d*₆-DMSO) δ 19.42 (CH₃), 32.25 (CH₃), 44.72 (CH₂), 45.37 (CH₂), 53.18 (CH), 70.04 (CH), 114.34–156.84 (m, aromatic C), 166.89 (CO), 168.53 (CO); accurate mass by high-resolution FAB MS m/z (M+1) for C₂₀H₂₃N₂O₄S, calcd 387.1379, found 387.1373

3-Acetyloxy-2,3-dihydro-5-[2-(dimethylamino)ethyl]-2-(4-hydroxyphenyl)-1,5-benzothiazepin-4(5H)-one (5). Compound 42 (0.8 g, 1.65 mmol) was stirred in freshly prepared 25% (w / w) of HBr-AcOH (2 mL) at room temperature. After four h stirring, the mixture was poured into ice-water (*ca.* 25 mL) and shaken with ether. The aqueous phase was separated and neutralized with powdered NaHCO₃ and then extracted with EtOAc (5 x 20 mL). The organic layer was separated and dried over anhydrous MgSO₄. The solvent was removed under reduced pressure, the residue was titrated to pH *ca.* 4.5 with 9% (w / w) HBr-MeOH. After the solvent was removed under reduced pressure, the residue was recrystallized from EtOH to give the HBr sait of **5** (0.4 g, 51%): mp 233—235°C (dec.); TLC R_f = 0.46 (CHCl₃ / MeOH, 1:1); $[\alpha]^{21}D = -0.5^{\circ}$ (c = 0.310, H₂O); IR (KBr) 3500—2700 (br, OH, NH⁺), ¹740 (C=O, ester), 1675 (C=O, amide), 1230 (C—O) cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (*d*₆-DMSO) δ 1.84 (s, 3 H, COCH₃), 2.82 (s, 6 H, N(CH₃)₂), 3.00—3.22 and 3.30—3.60 (m, 2 H, CH₂N⁺), 4.00—4.20 and 4.30—4.50 (m, 2 H, CONCH₂), 4.98 (d, J = 7.6 Hz, 1 H, CH), 5.11 (d, J = 7.7 Hz, 1H, CH), 6.74—7.80 (m, 8 H, aromatic H), 9.58 (s, 1 H, phenolic OH), 9.61 (br s, 1 H, NH⁺); the ¹H NMR spectrum after D₂O exchange showed disappearance of two signals at 9.58 and 9.61 ppm; ¹³C NMR (*d*₆-DMSO) δ 20.14 (CH₃), 42.44 (2 CH₃), 43.76 (CH₂), 52.75 (CH₂), 53.22 (CH), 70.38 (CH), 114.64—157.42 (m, aromatic C), 167.08 (CO), 169.17 (CO); accurate mass by high-resolution FAB MS m/z (M+1) for C₂₁H₂₅N₂O₄S, calcd 401.1536, found 401.1531

3-Acetyloxy-2,3-dihydro-2-(4-methoxyphenyl)-5-[(2-methylamino)ethyl]-1,5-benzothiazepin-4(5*H*)-one (2). After compound 43 (0.8 g, 1.5 mmol) was stirred in freshly prepared 25% (w / w) HBr-AcOH (3 mL) for 7.5 h at room temperature, the reaction mixture was poured into ice-water (*ca.* 15 mL) and shaken with ether. The aqueous phase was separated and made alkaline with powdered Na₂CO₃. The resultant mixture was extracted with EtOAc and the organic extract was dried over anhydrous MgSO₄. After the solvent was removed under reduced pressure, the residue was treated with HCl-MeOH. The HCl salt of 2 (0.24 g, 37%) was obtained as crystals after the recrystallization from EtOH: mp 217—220°C; TLC R_f = 0.36 (CHCl₃ / MeOH, 1:1); $[\alpha]^{21}_{D} = -4.6^{\circ}$ (c = 0.437, H₂O); IR (KBr) 3450—2650 (br, NH⁺), 1750 (C=O, ester), 1680 (C=O, amide), 1240 (C—O) cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (*d*₆-DMSO) δ 1.84 (s, 3 H, COCH₃), 2.59 (s, 3 H, NCH₃), 2.87—3.12 and 3.22—3.33 (m, 2 H, CH₂N+), 3.78 (s, 3 H, OCH₃), 3.92—4.07 and 4.32—4.55 (m, 2 H, CONCH₂), 5.00 (d, J = 7.5 Hz, 1 H, CH), 5.16 (d, J = 7.6 Hz, 1 H, CH), 6.92—7.86 (m, 8 H, aromatic H), 8.96 (br s, 2 H, NH₂+); the ¹H NMR spectrum after D₂O exchange showed disappearance of only one signal at 8.96 ppm; ¹³C NMR (d_6 -DMSO) δ 20.15 (CH₃), 32.34 (CH₃), 44.69 (CH₂), 44.78 (CH₂), 52.94 (CH), 54.98 (CH₃), 70.24 (CH), 113.46—159.17 (m, aromatic C), 166.88 (CO), 169.13 (CO); CI MS m/z 401 (M+1). Treatment of the HCl salt with NH₄OH gave free **2**, mp 133—135°C. Anal. calcd for C₂₁H₂₄N₂O₄S•1/2H₂O: C, 61.59; H, 5.91; N, 6.84. Found: C, 61.81; H, 5.94; N, 6.70.

2,3-Dihydro-3-hydroxy-2-(4-hydroxyphenyl)-5-[2-(methylamino)-

ethyl]-1,5-benzothiazepin-4(5*H*)-one (8). Compound 8 was obtained by hydrolysis of 4. A mixture of the HBr salt of 4 (0.39 g, 1 mmol) and 9% HBr-MeOH (2 mL) in MeOH (50 mL) was refluxed for 8 h. After cooling, the solvent was removed under reduced pressure. The residue was recrystallized from EtOH to give the HBr salt of 8 (0.28 g, 67%): mp 170—172°C; TLC R_f = 0.22 (CHCl₃ / MeOH, 1:1); $[\alpha]^{21}D = + 1.9^{\circ}$ (c = 0.357, H₂O); IR (KBr) 3500—2600 (br, OH, NH⁺), 1660 (C=O) cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (*d*₆-DMSO) δ 2.62 (s, 3 H, NCH₃), 2.88—3.05 and 3.22—3.41 (m, 2 H, CH₂N⁺), 3.83—3.99 and 4.30—4.45 (m, 2 H, CONCH₂), 4.21 (br t, J = 7.3 Hz, 1 H, OCH), 4.73 (d, J = 7.1 Hz, 1 H, OH), 4.85 (d, J = 7.5 Hz, 1 H, SCH), 6.71—7.72 (m, 8 H, aromatic H), 8.47 (br s, 2 H, NH₂⁺), 9.49 (s, 1 H, phenolic OH); ¹H NMR spectrum after D₂O exchange showed a doublet (J = 7.5 Hz, 1 H) at 4.21 ppm and disappearance of signals at 4.73, 8.47 and 9.49 ppm; ¹³C NMR (*d*₆-DMSO) δ 32.66 (CH₃), 44.88 (CH₂), 45.26 (CH₂), 55.86 (CH), 68.57 (CH), 114.60—157.27 (m, aromatic C), 171.38 (CO); CI MS m/z 345 (M+1). The HBr salt of 8 was converted to the HCl salt with NH4OH followed by treatment with HCl / MeOH (10%), mp 240—244°C (lit.⁷³ mp > 235°C).

2,3-Dihydro-5-[2-(dimethylamino)ethyl]-3-hydroxy-2-(4-hydroxy-phenyl)-1,5-benzothiazepin-4(5H)-one (3). A mixture of **5·HBr** (0.2 g, 0.4 mmol) and 10% HBr-MeOH (6 mL) was refluxed for 15 min. After cooling, the solvent was removed under reduced pressure. The residue was recrystallized from EtOH to give the HBr salt of **3** (0.1 g, 57%): mp 217—220°C (dec.); TLC R_f = 0.47 (CHCl₃ / MeOH, 1:1); $[\alpha]^{21}_{D} = +1.1^{\circ}$ (c = 0.355, H₂O); IR (KBr) 3500—2600 (br, OH, NH⁺), 1660 (C=O) cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (*d*₆-DMSO) δ 2.84 (s, 6 H, N(CH₃)₂), 2.96—3.22 and 3.22—3.40 (m, 2 H, CH₂N⁺), 3.91—4.14 and 4.38—4.52 (m, 2 H, CONCH₂), 4.21(br t, J = 7.1 Hz, 1 H, OCH), 4.77 (d, J = 7.0 Hz, 1 H, OH), 4.85 (d, J = 7.4 Hz, 1 H, SCH), 6.71—7.73 (m, 8 H, aromatic), 9.45 (br s, 1 H, NH⁺), 9.49 (s, 1 H, phenolic OH); the ¹H NMR spectrum after D₂O exchange showed a doublet (J = 7.5 Hz) at 4.21 ppm and disappearance of signals at 4.77, 9.45 and 9.49 ppm; ¹³C NMR (*d*₆-DMSO) δ 42.57 (CH₃), 43.75 (CH₂), 53.10 (CH₂), 56.03 (CH), 68.68 (CH), 114.67—157.29 (m,aromatic C), 171.45 (CO); FAB MS m/z 359 (M+1). Treatment of the HBr salt with NH4OH gave free **25**, mp 136—139°C (lit.⁷³ mp 135—138°C).

2,3-Dihydro-3-hydroxy-2-(4-methoxyphenyl)-5-[2-(methylamino)ethyl]-1,5-benzothiazepin-4(5H)-one (7). After the HCl salt of 2 (0.5 g, 1.1 mmol) was stirred in 5% NaOH-EtOH (10 / 150 mL, v / v) for seven h at room temperature, the reaction mixture was neutralized with 10% HCl. The solvents were removed under reduced pressure and the residue was treated with 5% NaOH and extracted with EtOAc. The organic layer was separated and dried over anhydrous MgSO4. After the solvent was removed, the residue was treated with HCl-MeOH. Recrystallization of the residue from MeOH / EtOAc (1:6) gave the HCl salt of **7** (0.4 g, 89%): mp 200—202°C (lit.⁷³ 203—207°C); TLC R_f = 0.23 (CHCl₃ / MeOH, 1:1); $[\alpha]^{21}_{D} = -1.2^{\circ}$ (c = 0.424, H₂O); IR (KBr) 3500—2600 (br, OH, NH⁺), 1650 (C=O) cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (*d*₆-DMSO) δ 2.59 (s, 3 H, NCH₃), 2.85—3.05 and 3.25—3.40 (m, 2 H, CH₂N⁺), 3.76 (s, 3 H, OCH₃), 3.85—4.00 and 4.35—4.45 (m, 2 H, CONCH₂), 4.24 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 1 H, OCH), 4.82 (d, J = 6.9 Hz, 1 H, OH), 4.91 (d, J = 7.4 Hz, 1 H, SCH), 6.89—7.73 (m, 8 H, aromatic H), 8.45 (br s, 2 H, NH₂⁺); the ¹H NMR spectrum after D₂O exchange showed a doublet (J = 7.4 Hz) at 4.24 ppm and disappearance of signals at both 4.82 and 8.45 ppm; ¹³C NMR (*d*₆-DMSO) δ 32.54 (CH₃), 44.88 (CH₂), 45.22 (CH₂), 54.99 (CH₃), 55.65 (CH), 68.58 (CH), 113.20—159.04 (m, aromatic C), 171.36 (CO); CI MS m/z 359 (M+1).

3-Acetyloxy-2,3-dihydro-5-[2-(dimethylamino)ethyl]-2-(4-methoxyphenyl)-1,5-benzothiazepin-4(5H)-one N-oxide (6). A solution of diltiazem free base (0.9 g, 2.2 mmol) converted from commercial diltiazem hydrochloride and 3chloroperbenzoic acid (0.7 g, 2.2 mmol as 50-60% purity) in chloroform (15 mL) was stirred at room temperature (20°C) for two days. The solvent was removed under reduced pressure and the residue was passed through an alumina column using CHCl₃ / MeOH(9:1) as an eluent. The fractions containing two spots on TLC (CHCl₃ / MeOH, 1:1) were evaporated to dryness, the residue was dissolved in chloroform (50 mL). The resultant solution was shaken with H₂O (20 x 5 mL) until the TLC of the organic layer showed only one spot. The organic solvent was removed and the residue was recrystallized from MeOH-ether to give **6** (0.25 g, 27%): mp 65-68°C; TLC R_f = 0.25 (CHCl₃ / MeOH, 1:1); $[\alpha]^{21}D = + 114^{\circ}$ (c = 0.316, MeOH); IR (KBr) 1745 (C=O,ester), 1680 (C=O, amide), 1240 (C—O), 960 (N-O) cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 1.91 (s, 3 H, COCH₃), 3.23 (s, 3 H, NCH₃), 3.33 (s, 3 H, NCH₃), 3.42—3.61 and 3.80—3.93 (m, 2 H, CH₂N⁺), 3.83 (s, 3 H, OCH₃), 4.36—4.53 and 4.56—4.75 (m, 2 H, CONCH₂), 5.03 (d, J = 7.8 Hz, 1 H, CH), 5.15 (d, J = 7.8 Hz, 1 H, CH), 6.90—7.70 (m, 8 H, aromatic H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ 20.42 (CH₃), 45.53 (CH₂), 54.53 (CH), 55.26 (CH₃), 59.49 (CH₃), 60.13 (CH₃), 66.92 (CH₂), 71.27 (CH), 113.87—159.84 (m, aromatic C), 168.29 (CO), 169.85 (CO); accurate mass of **6** by high-resolution FAB MS m/z (M+1) for C₂₂H₂₇N₂O₅S, calcd 431.1641, found 431.1658. Anal. calcd for C₂₂H₂₆N₂O₅S·2H₂O: C, 56.64; H, 5.62; N, 6.00. Found: C, 56.83; H, 5.97; N, 5.91.

3. 2. 2 Synthesis of Dibenzotricyclic Systems (DBTs)

3. 2. 2. 1 Dibenzo[b,f]-1,4-thiazepine Derivatives

2-(2-Aminophenylthio)benzoic acid (48). A mixture of 5-iodobenzoic acid (99.0 g, 0.4 mol), 2-aminothiophenol (55.0 g, 0.4 mol), KOH (78.0 g, 1.4 mol) and Cu powder (5.0 g, 0.08 mol) in H₂O (900 mL) was stirred and refluxed for 6.5 h. It was filtered while hot and the filtrate was acidified with acetic acid (*ca*. 150 mL). The color of the filtrate changed from purple to blue. The precipitated product was collected by filtration and crystallized from aqueous acetic acid (HOAc / H₂O=*ca*. 450 / 100 mL). Compound **48** (92.0 g, 94%) was obtained as grey crystals: mp 162—164°C (lit.¹⁵⁹ mp 157—158°C); TLC R_f = 0.32 (CHCl₃ / MeOH, 9:1); IR (KBr) 3480 and 3380 (NH₂), 3200—2500, 1680 (C=O) cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 5.50—6.65 (br s, 2 H, NH₂), 6.75—8.17 (m, 8 H aromatic H); EI MS m/z 245 (98), 227 (100), 199 (32), 195 (35), 183 (20), 167 (40), 80 (*<*²) and 64 (52).

Dibenzo[*b*,*f*]-1,4-thiazepin-11(10*H*)-one (14). 2-(2-Aminophenylthio)benzoic acid (87.0 g, 0.35 mol) was refluxed for 12 h in xylene (450 mL) in a flask fitted with a Dean-Stark trap. After cooling, the product was collected on a filter to give offwhite crystals (67.0 g, 83%): mp 258—260°C (lit.¹⁶⁰ 258—260°C); TLC R_f = 0.64 (CHCl₃ / MeOH, 9:1); IR (KBr) 3180 (N-H), 1650 (C=O) cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (*d*₆-DMSO) δ 7.12—7.68 (m, 8 H, aromatic H), 10.72 (s, 1 H, NH); EI MS m/z 227 (100), 209 (15), 195 (28), 183 (13), 167 (17), 83 (80) and 65 (100). **10-Methyldibenzo**[*b*,*f*]-1,4-thiazepin-11(10*H*)-one (25). To a solution of 14 (1.0 g, 4.4 mmol) in DMF (25 mL) at 55°C under N₂ was added NaH (0.1320 g, 4.4 mmol, 80% oil dispersion). This mixture was stirred at the same temperature for an additional 30 min and then cooled in an ice bath. Methyl iodide (0.7 g, 4.8 mmol) was added dropwise over a period of 5 min through a syringe. The mixture was stirred for one h in an ice-water bath. TLC showed the reaction was complete. The reaction mixture was poured into H₂O (*ca.* 30 mL) and extracted with CH₂Cl₂ (3 x 30 mL). The organic layer was successively washed with H₂O and brine and then dried over anhydrous MgSO₄. Crystalline product (0.94 g, 88%) was obtained after the solvent was evaporated. TLC R_f = 0.74 (CHCl₃ / MeOH, 9:1). Crystallization from ether gave cubical diamonds: mp 102—104°C; IR (KBr) 1630 (C=O) cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 3.62 (s, 3 H, NCH₃), 7.09—7.77 (m, 8 H, aromatic H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ 38.89 (CH₃), 124.83, 126.13, 128.48, 129.50, 130.89, 130.95, 131.80, 133.07 (8 CH), 134.83, 137.93, 138.98, 144.90 (4 quarternary C), 168.94 (CO); FAB MS m/z 242 (M+H). Anal. calcd for C₁₄H₁₁NOS•1/4H₂O: C, 68.40; H, 4.72; N, 5.70. Found: C, 68.56; H, 4.45; N, 5.74.

10-Cyclopropylcarbonyldibenzo $[b_{3}f]$ -1,4-thiazepin-11(10H)-one

(26). A solution of compound 14 (0.76 g, 3.3 mmol) and NaH (0.1 g, 3.3 mmol, 80% oil dispersion) in DMF (10 mL) was stirred under N₂ at room temperature for 0.5 h. To this mixture was added 1-bromo-3-chloropropane (0.62 g, 3.3 mmol) through a syringe. The reaction mixture was stirred at room temperature for 22 h. After the solvent was removed under reduced pressure, the residue was treated with H₂O (10 mL) and extracted with a mixture of CH₂Cl₂ (20 mL) and EtOAc (60 mL). The organic layer was dried over anhydrous MgSO₄. After the solvents were evaporated, the residue was treated with MeOH (6 mL) to precipitate out unreacted 14. Compound 26 (60 mg) was obtained after

separation by dry-column flash chromatography with a gradient from 50 to 60% of CH₂Cl₂ in hexane: mp 145—147°C; IR (KBr) 1700 (C=O), 1670 (C=O) cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 0.80—1.61 (m, 4 H, CH₂CH₂), 2.51—2.64 (m, 1 H, COCH), 7.18—8.09 (m, 8 H, aromatic H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ 10.87 (CH₂), 11.21 (CH₂), 15.93 (CH), 128.27, 128.47, 129.00, 131.50, 131.94, 132.46, 132.76, 133.80 (8 CH), 135.02, 136.61, 138.21, 140.69 (4 quarternary C), 169.34 (CO), 176.21 (CO); FAB MS m/z 296 (M+H). Anal. calcd for C₁₇H₁₃NO₂S: C, 69.13; H, 4.44; N, 4.74. Found: C, 68.70; H, 4.35; N, 4.93.

10-[2-(Dimethylamino)ethyl]dibenzo[b,f]-1,4-thiazepin-11(10H)-one

(19). A mixture of 14 (2.0 g, 8.8 mmol), (2-chloroethyl)dimethylamine hydrochloride (1.65 g, 11.4 mmol) and NaH (0.74 g, 24.6 mmol, 80% oil dispersion) in DMF (25 mL) was stirred at *ca*. 55°C for 48 h. The reaction mixture was filtered through a glass fiber filter. After the filtrate was evaporated to dryness, the residue was treated with 5% NaOH (2 x 10 mL) and extracted with a mixture of CH₂Cl₂ (80 mL) and ether (20 mL). The organic layer was dried over anhydrous MgSO₄. The HCl salt of 19 (0.7 g, 24%) was obtained after treatment of the organic layer with HCl-ether and crystallization from abs. EtOH / ether (*ca*. 12 mL): mp 235—237°C; IR (KBr) 2600—2200 (br, NH⁺) and 1630 (C=O) cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 2.82 (br s, 3 H, CH₃), 2.94 (br s, 3 H, CH₃), 3.30—3.35 and 3.35—3.46 (m, 2 H, CH₂N⁺), 4.32—4.38 and 4.95—5.00 (m, 2 H, CONCH₂), 7.15—7.68 (m, 8 H, aromatic H), 12.86 (br s, 1 H, NH⁺); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ 42.62 (CH₃), 43.90 (CH₃), 46.56 (CH₂), 54.88 (CH₂), 125.85, 127.38, 128.90, 130.68, 131.20, 131.26, 131.38, 133.31 (8 CH), 135.56, 137.09, 138.77, 142.52 (4 quarternary C), 169.23 (CO). The free base 19 was obtained by treating the HCl salt with dilute NaOH, mp 138—140°C (lit.¹⁶¹, mp 141—142°C).

10-[3-(Dimethylamino)propyl]dibenzo[*b*,*f*]-1,4-thiazepin-11(10*H*)one (20). A mixture of 14 (2.0 g, 8.8 mmol), (3-chloropropyl)-dimethylamine hydrochloride (1.8 g, 11.4 mmol) and NaH (0.74 g, 24.6 mmol, 80% oil dispersion) in DMF (25 mL) was heated under N₂ at 55°C for 48 h. The reaction mixture was filtered through a glass fiber filter. After the solvent was removed under reduced pressure, the residue was recrystallized from Et₂O to give 20 (1.55 g, 56%); mp 115—116° (lit.¹⁶¹, mp 114—115°C); ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 1.78—1.84 (m, 2 H, CH₂), 2.15 (s, 6 H, N(CH₃)₂), 2.29—2.35 and 2.37—2.42 (m, 2 H, NCH₂), 3.62—3.67 and 4.73—4.79 (2 dt, J = 7.4 and 13.9 Hz, 2 H, CONCH₂), 7.09—7.70 (m, 8 H, aromatic H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ 26.36 (CH₂), 45.46 (2 CH₃), 49.23 (CH₂), 57.00 (CH₂), 125.96, 126.29, 128.51, 129.57, 130.59, 130.89, 131.40, 133.20 (8 CH), 136.75, 138.31, 139.18, 143.40 (4 quarternary C), 168.75 (CO). The maleate salt was obtained by treating 20 with maleic acid in Et₂O followed by recrystallization from EtOH / Et₂O (1:2): mp 143.5—145°C; IR (KBr) 2750—2250 (br) and 1640 (C=O) cm⁻¹.

General methods for preparation of compounds 49—53. A mixture of 14 (2.0 g, 8.8 mmol), the appropriate bromochloroalkane (1.3 eq) and NaH (0.32 g, 10.6 mmol as 80% oil dispersion) in DMF (25 mL) was stirred under N₂ at *ca*. 60° C for 24 h (49), 18 h (50), 2 h (51 and 52) and at room temperature for 1.5 h (53). The reaction mixture was filtered through a glass fiber filter while hot. The filtrate was removed under reduced pressure. The crude products were used directly for the next reaction without further purification. All crude products were characterized with TLC (CHCl₃/EtOAc, 1:1) and FAB MS.

10-(2-Chloroethyl)dibenzo[b,f]-1,4-thiazepin-11(10H)-one (49): R_f = 0.62; FAB MS m/z: 290 (M+H).

10-(3-Chloropropyl)dibenzo[b,f]-1,4-thiazepin-11(10*H*)-one (50): R_f = 0.63; FAB MS m/z: 304 (M+H).

10-(4-Chlorobutyl)dibenzo[b,f]-1,4-thiazepin-11(10H)-one (51): R_f = 0.62; FAB MS m/z: 318 (M+H).

10-(5-Chloropentyl)dibenzo[b,f]-1,4-thiazepin-11(10H)-one (52): R_f = 0.65; FAB MS m/z: 332 (M+H).

10-(6-Chlorohexyl)dibenzo[$b_{s}f$]-1,4-thiazepin-11(10*H*)-one (53): R_f = 0.66; FAB MS m/z: 346 (M+H).

General methods for preparation of compounds 9—13. A mixture of the respective crude product from the previous step, 4-fluorophenylpiperazine (2 eq) and NaI (1 eq) in DMF (25 mL) was stirred at *ca*. 80°C for *ca*. 24 h. After the solvent was removed under reduced pressure, the residue was treated with 5% NaOH and extracted with ether (9, 13) or EtOAc (10—12). The organic layer was dried over anhydrous MgSO₄. After the solvent was removed, the residue was crystallized from an appropriate solvent. Hydrochloride salts of 9—13 were obtained by treatment of the crude product with HCl-Et₂O followed by recrystallization from appropriate solvents. Yields are reported from 14.

10-[2-[4-(4-Fluorophenyl)-1-piperazinyl]ethyl]dibenzo[b,f]-1,4-

thiazepin-11(10*H*)-one (9) hydrochloride. 8% Yield; mp 260—262°C (EtOH); IR (KBr) 2500—2000 (br, NH⁺), 1635 (C=O) cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (CD₃OD + CDCl₃) δ 3.00—4.00 (br m, 10 H, 5 NCH₂), 4.29 (dt, J = 7.3 and 14.0 Hz, 1 H, CONCH), 4.93 (dt, J = 6.3 and 13.8 Hz, 1 H, CONCH), 6.96—7.72 (m, 12 H, aromatic H); ¹³C NMR (CD₃OD + CDCl₃) δ 47.00 (CH₂), 48.66 (2 CH₂), 53.28 (CH₂), 55.14 (2 CH₂), 116.26, 116.56, 119.83, 119.93, 126.45, 128.28, 129.62, 131.21, 131.76, 131.91, 132.32, 134.07 (12 CH), 136.89, 137.66, 139.70, 143.31, 146.93 (5 quarternary C), 159.06 (d, J = 239.3 Hz, C—F), 171.02 (CO); accurate mass of 9 by high-resolution FAB MS m/z (M+1) for C₂₅H₂₅FN₃OS, calcd 434.1702, found, 434.1711. Anal. calcd for C₂₅H₂₅ClFN₃OS: C, 63.89; H, 5.15; N, 8.94. Found: C, 63.65; H, 5.38; N, 8.91.

10-[3-[4-(4-Fluorophenyl)-1-piperazinyl]propyl]dibenzo[*b,f*]-1,4**thiazepin-11(10***H***)-one (10). 48% Yield; mp 130—132°C (abs. EtOH); IR (KBr) 1635 (C=O) cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) \delta 1.85—1.95 (m, 2 H, CH₂), 2.40—2.65 (m, 6 H, 3 NCH₂), 2.95—3.12 (m, 4 H, 2 NCH₂), 3.70 (dt, J = 6.7 and 13.4 Hz, 1 H, CONCH), 4.80 (dt, J = 7.1 and 13.5 Hz, 1 H, CONCH), 6.81—7.71 (m, 12 H, aromatic H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) \delta 25.49 (CH₂), 49.25 (CH₂), 50.15 (2 CH₂), 53.09 (2 CH₂), 55.43 (CH₂), 115.31, 115.81, 117.69, 117.78, 125.96, 126.30, 128.59, 129.59, 130.67, 130.92, 131.44, 133.24 (12 CH), 136.68, 138.34, 139.14, 143.67, 148.07 (5 quarternary C), 157.13 (d, J = 238.5 Hz, C—F), 168.78 (CO); Accurate mass of 10** by high-resolution FAB MS m/z (M+1) for C₂₆H₂₇FN₃OS, calcd 448.1859, found 448.1862. Anal. calcd for C₂₆H₂₆FN₃OS: C, 69.77; H, 5.86; N, 9.39. Found: C, 69.85; H, 5.97; N, 9.40. The HCl salt of **10**: mp 238—241°C (EtOH / Et₂O, 3:2); IR (KBr) 2600---2100 (br, NH⁺) and 1640 (C=O) cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 2.06—2.28 and 2.42—2.62 (m, 2 H, CH₂), 2.81—3.16 (m, 2 H, CH₂), 3.16—3.38 (m, 2 H, CH₂), 3.38—3.72 (m, 6 H, 3 CH₂), 3.72 —3.87 (m, 1 H, CONCH), 4.83 —5.00 (m, 1 H, CONCH), 6.93—7.75 (m, 12 H, aromatic H), 12.11 (br s, 1 H, NH⁺); the ¹H NMR spectrum after D₂O exchange showed disappearance of signal at 12.11 ppm; ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ 22.95 (CH₂), 47.73 (2 CH₂), 48.21 (CH₂), 50.01 (CH₂), 52.30 (CH₂), 55.58 (CH₂), 115.84, 116.14, 119.53, 119.66, 126.04, 127.13, 128.94, 130.33, 131.08, 131.08, 131.29, 133.49 (12 CH), 136.38, 137.83, 138.73, 142.59, 146.16 (5 quarternary C), 158.35 (d, J = 241.7 Hz, C—F), 169.37 (CO).

10-[4-[4-(4-Fluorophenyl)-1-piperazinyl]butyl]dibenzo[b,f]-1,4-

thiazepin-11(10*H*)-one (11). 65% Yield; mp 162—163°C (EtOAc), IR (KBr) 1635 (C=O) cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 1.52—1.84 (m, 4 H, 2 CH₂), 2.37 (t, J = 7.0 Hz, 2 H, NCH₂), 2.55 (t, J = 4.9 Hz, 4 H, 2 NCH₂), 3.09 (t, J = 5.0 Hz, 4 H, 2 NCH₂), 3.63 (dt, J = 7.1 and 13.5 Hz, 1 H, CONCH), 4.77 (dt, J = 7.4 and 13.6 Hz, 1 H, CONCH), 6.83—7.71 (m, 12 H, aromatic H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ 24.08 (CH₂), 26.03 (CH₂), 50.14 (2 CH₂), 50.66 (CH₂), 53.16 (2 CH₂), 58.04 (CH₂), 115.30, 115.59, 117.66, 117.76, 125.84, 126.27, 128.53, 129.56, 130.63, 130.89, 131.48, 133.26 (12 CH), 136.77, 138.37, 139.12, 143.45, 148.08 (5 quarternary C), 157.21 (d, J=239.1 Hz, C—F), 168.74 (CO); accurate mass of 11 by high-resolution FAB MS m/z (M+1) for C₂₇H₂₉FN₃OS, calcd 462.2015, found 462.2050. Anal. calcd for C₂₇H₂₈FN₃OS: C, 70.25; H, 6.11; N, 9.10. Found: C, 70.53; H, 6.15; N, 9.14. The HCl salt of 11: mp 270—272°C (90% EtOH), IR (KBr) 2600—2100 (br, NH+) and 1630 (C=O) cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (CD₃OD + CDCl₃) δ 1.60—1.86 (m, 2 H, CH₂), 1.86—2.16 (m, 2 H, CH₂), 2.80—3.70 (m, 10 H, 5 CH₂), 3.75 (dt, J = 6.0 and 13.9 Hz, 1 H, CONCH), 4.86 (dt, J = 6.7 and 14.4 Hz, 1 H, CONCH), 6.94—7.67 (m, 12 H, aromatic H); ¹³C NMR

 $(CD_3OD + CDCl_3) \delta 21.80 (CH_2), 25.48 (CH_2), 48.40 (CH_2), 49.82 (2 CH_2), 52.66 (CH_2), 57.15 (2 CH_2), 116.22, 116.51, 119.76, 119.87, 126.69, 127.74, 129.48, 130.82, 131.51, 131.69, 131.79, 133.99 (12 CH), 137.40, 138.54, 139.63, 143.06, 146.86 (5 quarternary C), 158.98 (d, J = 239.0 Hz, C--F), 170.73 (CO).$

10-[5-[4-(4-Fluorophenyl)-1-piperazinyl]pentyl]dibenzo[*b*,*f*]-1,4**thiazepin-11(10***H***)-one (12). 47% Yield; mp 163—165°C (EtOH / Et₂O, 2:1), IR (KBr) 2700—2200 (br, NH+), 1625 (C=O) cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (***d***₆-DMSO) \delta 1.24—1.44 (m, 2 H, CH₂), 1.44—1.64 (m, 2 H, CH₂), 1.64—1.89 (m, 2 H, CH₂), 2.90—3.22 (m, 6 H, 3 NCH₂), 3.43—3.60 (m, 2 H, NCH₂), 3.60—3.80 (m, 3H, NCH₂ + CONCH), 4.62 (dt, J = 7.5 and 13.7 Hz, 1 H, CONCH), 7.00—7.67 (m, 12 H, aromatic H), 10.94 (br s, 1 H NH+); ¹³C NMR (***d***₆-DMSO) \delta 22.54 (CH₂), 23.42 (CH₂), 26.95 (CH₂), 45.94 (2 CH₂), 49.32 (CH₂), 50.40 (2 CH₂), 55.06 (CH₂), 115.23, 115.52, 117.66, 117.77, 126.30, 126.50, 128.73, 130.11, 130.69, 130.84, 131.03, 132.91 (12 CH), 135.56, 137.99, 138.19, 142.59, 146.36 (5 quarternary C), 156.47 (d, J = 236.4 Hz, C—F), 167.43 (CO); accurate mass of 12 by high-resolution FAB MS m/z (M+1) for C 28H₃₁F N₃OS, calcd 476.2172, found 476.2179. Anal. calcd for C28H₃₁ClFN₃OS•3/4H₂O: C, 63.99; H, 6.33; N, 7.99. Found: C, 64.00; H, 6.15; N, 7.99.**

10-[6-[4-(4-Fluorophenyl)-1-piperazinyl]hexyl]dibenzo[b,f]-1,4-

thiazepin-11(10*H*)-one (13). 39% Yield; mp 133.5—135°C (abs. EtOH); IR (KBr) 1630 (C=O) cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 1.12—1.55 (m, 6 H, 3 CH₂), 1.55—1.72 (m, 2 H, CH₂), 2.34 (t, J = 7.2 Hz, 2 H, NCH₂), 2.57 (br s, 4 H, 2 NCH₂), 3.11 (br s, 4 H, 2 NCH₂), 3.57 (dt, J = 6.9 and 13.5 Hz, 1 H, CONCH), 4.73 (dt, J = 7.5 and 13.4 Hz, 1

H, CONCH), 6.85–7.71 (m, 12 H, aromatic H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ 26.78 (2 CH₂), 27.20 (CH2), 28.00 (CH2), 50.15 (2 CH2), 50.85 (CH2), 53.28 (2 CH2), 58.60 (CH2), 115.32, 115.61, 117.68, 117.78, 125.88, 126.23, 128.51, 129.51, 130.59, 130.88, 131.47 and 133.23 (12 CH), 136.81, 138.39, 139.18, 143.49 and 148.06 (5 quarternary C), 157.22 (d, J = 238.4 Hz, C—F) 168.89 (CO); accurate mass of 13 by high-resolution FAB MS m/z (M+1) for C₂₉H₃₃FN₃OS, calcd 490.2328, found 490.2367. Anal. calcd for C₂₉H₃₂FN₃OS: C, 71.14; H, 6.59; N, 8.58. Found: C, 70.89; H, 6.61; N, 8.53. The HCl salt of 13: 210-211.5°C (EtOH / Et₂O, 3:1), IR (KBr) 2700-2100 (br, NH⁺) and 1630 (C=O) cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (d_6 -DMSO) δ 1.11–1.42 (m, 4 H, 2 CH₂), 1.42–1.61 (m, 2 H, CH₂), 1.61–1.81 (m, 2 H, CH₂), 2.93–3.18 (m, 6 H, 3 CH₂), 3.42–3.59 (m, 3 H, CH₂ + CONCH), 4.62 (dt, J = 7.5 and 13.7 Hz, 1 H, CONCH), 6.99–7.67 (m, 12 H, aromatic H), 10.76 (br s, 1 H, NH⁺); the ¹H NMR spectrum after D_2O exchange showed disappearance of signal at 10.76 ppm; ¹³C NMR (d_6 -DMSO) δ 22.81 (CH₂), 25,63 (2 CH₂), 27.10 (CH₂), 45.98 (2 CH₂), 49.30 (CH₂), 50.45 (2 CH₂), 55.17 (CH₂), 115.24, 115.53, 117.67, 117.77, 126.29, 126.46, 128.72, 130.08, 130.68, 130.81, 131.03, 132.89 (12 CH), 135.57, 138.03, 138.18, 142.60, 146.36 (5 evarter (Fry C), 156.48 (d, J = 236.9 Hz, C—F), 167.40.

General method for preparation of compounds 21—24. A mixture of the crude respective chloroalkyl DBT (50—53, 8.8 mmol), N-benzyl-N-methylamine (2.1 g, 17.6 mmol) and NaI (1.3 g, 8.8 mmol) in DMF (25 mL) was stirred at *ca.* 80°C for 24 h (21, 22) or at *ca.* 70°C overnight (23, 24). In the case of 23 and 24, the reaction mixtures were filtered through glass fiber filters. After the solvent was removed under reduced pressure, the residue was treated with 5% NaOH and extracted with ether (21),

EtOAc (22) or CHCl₃ (23, 24). The organic layer was dried over anhydrous MgSO₄ to give crude 21—24. Yields are reported from 14.

10-[3-(N-Benzyl-N-methylamino)propyl]dilenzo-[b,f]-1,4-thiazepin-11(10H)-one (21). Compound 21 (2.3 g, 66%) was obtained as yellow oil after separation by dry column flash chromatography using a gradient from 50% to 100% of CHCl₃ in hexane. IR (neat) 1640 (C=O) cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 1.8()-1.96 (m, 2 H, CH₂), 2.09 (s, 3 H, NCH₃), 2.36–2.59 (m, 2 H, NCH₂), 3.40 (s, 2 H, NCH₂Ar), 3.34-3.46 (dt, J = 7.2 and 13.5 Hz, 1 H, CONCH), 3.61-3.75 (dt, J = 6.7 and 13.6 Hz, 1 H, CONCH), 7.04–7.66 (m, 13 H, aromatic H); 13 C NMR (CDCl₃) δ 25.96 (CH₂), 41.90 (CH₃), 49.29 (CH₂), 54.72 (CH₂), 62.33 (CH₂), 125.92, 126.22, 126.81, 128.13, 128.13, 128.47, 128.93, 128.93, 129.53, 130.57, 130.86, 131.44, 133.18 (13 CH), 136.62, 138.32, 139.21, 139.21, 143.63 (5 guarternary C), 168.69 (CO). The trifluoroacetate salt was obtained by treating 21 with trifluoroacetic acid (TFA) in ether and crystallization from EtOH / Et₂O (1:3, 40 mL total): mp 135—136.5°C; TLC $R_f = 0.43$ (CHCl₃ / MeOH, 9:1); IR (KBr) 3430, 2800–2200 (br, NH⁺), 1675 (CC)⁻) and 1620 (C=O); ¹H NMR (d_6 -DMSO) δ 1.61–2.17 (br m, 2 H, CH₂), 2.66 (s, 3 H, CH₃N⁺), 2.93–3.29 (br m, 2 H, CH_2N^+), 3.66–3.82 (dt, J = 6.6 and 14.1 Hz, 1 H, CONCH), 4.27 (br s, 2 H, ArCH₂N⁺), 4.55—4.75 (dt, J = 6.8 and 14.0 Hz, 1 H, CONCH), 7.16-7.70 (m, 13 H, aromatic H), 9.77 (br s, 1 H NH⁺). Anal. calcd for C₂₆H₂₅F₃N₂O₃S•1/2H₂O: C, 61.04; H, 5.12; N, 5.48. Found: C, 61.31; H, 5.01; N, 5.55.

10-[4-(N-Benzyl-N-methylamino)butyl]dibenzo[b_sf]-1,4-thiazepin-11(10H)-one (22). The oxalate salt of 22 was obtained in a yield of 0.9 g (21%) by treating the crude product in CHCl₃ / Et₂O (1:1, 40 mL total) with 1.0 M of oxalic acid in EtOH and by recrystallization from EtOH / Et₂O (1:1, 40 mL total): mp 181—183°C; TLC $R_f = 0.5$ (CHCl₃ / EtOAc, 1:1); IR (KBr) 2750—2550 (br, NH⁺), 1640 (sh, C=O) and 1620 (C=O) cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 1.48—1.89 (m, 2 H, CH₂), 1.96—2.32 (m, 2 H, CH₂), 2.66 (s, 3 H, CH₃N⁺), 2.83—3.35 (m, 2 H, CH₂N⁺), 3.56—3.70 and 4.75— 4.93 (m, 2 H, CONCH₂), 3.97—4.38 (br s, 2 H, ArCH₂N⁺), 7.07—7.73 (m, 13 H, aromatic H), 10.42 (br s, 1 H, NH⁺); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ 20.60 (CH₂), 24.90 (CH₂), 39.45 (CH₃), 48.60 (CH₂), 54.80 (CH₂), 59.45 (CH₂), 125.86—142.29 (m, aromatic C), 169.30 (br, CO). Compound 22 was obtained by treatment of the oxalate salt with 5% NaOH and extracted with CHCi₃. Anal. calcd for C₂₅H₂₆N₂OS•1/2H₂O for 22: C, 72.96; H, 6.61; N, 6.80. Found: C, 72.77; H, 6.52; N, 6.49.

10-[5-(N-Benzyl-N-methylamino)pentyl]dibenzo[*b*,*f*]-1,4-thiazepin-**11(10H)-one (23)**. Compound **23** (1.5 g, 42%) was obtained as a solid after separation by dry-column flash chromatography with a gradient from 0 to 100% of EtOAc in CHCl₃: mp 200—203°C; TLC R_f = 0.13 (CHCl₃ / EtOAc, 1:1); ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 1.35—1.55 (m, 2 H, CH₂), 1.55—1.78 (m, 2 H, CH₂), 1.78—2.23 (br s, 2 H, CH₂), 2.67 (br s, 3 H, NCH₃), 2.78—3.22 (br s, 2 H, NCH₂), 3.59 (dt, J = 5.6 and 13.8 Hz, 1 H, CONCH), 4.19 (br s, 2 H, NCH₂Ar), 4.81 (dt, J = 7.3 and 13.7 Hz, 1 H, CONCH), 7.05—7.72 (m, 13 H, aromatic H); accurate mass of **23** by high-resolution FAB MS m/z (M+1) for C₂₆H₂₉N₂OS, calcd 417.2001, found 417.1980. The oxalate salt was obtained by treating compound **23** with 1.0 M of oxalic acid in abs. EtOH / CHCl₃ (5:3), followed by recrystallization from EtOH: mp 212—214°C; IR (KBr) 2700—2400 (br, NH+), 1640 (sh, C=O) and 1630 (C=O) cm⁻¹. 10-[6-(*N*-Benzyl-*N*-methylamino)hexyl]dibenzo[*b*,*f*]-1,4-thiazepin-11(10*H*)-one (24). Compound 24 (1.4 g, 47%) was obtained as an oil after separation by dry-column flash chromatography with a gradient from 0 to 100% of EtOAc in CHCl3: ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 1.11—1.44 (m, 4 H, 2 CH₂), 1.44—1.57 (m, 2 H, CH₂), 1.57— 1.72 (m, 2 H, CH₂), 2.20 (s, 3 H, NCH₃), 2.37(t, J = 7.3 Hz, 2 H, NCH₂), 3.52 (s, 2 H, NCH₂Ar), 3.52—3.64 (m, 1 H, CONCH), 4.71 (dt, J = 7.6 and 13.5 Hz, 1 H, CONCH), 7.02—7.74 (m, 13 H, aromatic H); accurate mass of 24 by high-resolution FAB MS m/z (M+1) for C₂₇H₃₁N₂OS, calcd 431.2157, found 431.2164. The HCl salt was obtained by treating 24 with 10% HCl-Et₂O in CHCl₃ / Et₂O (1:2) followed by recrystallization from EtOH / Et₂O (3:4): mp 231—233°C. IR (KBr) 2750—2300 (br, NH⁺) and 1630 (C=O) cm⁻¹.

3. 2. 2. 2 Dibenz[b,f]-1,4-oxazepine Derivatives

General method for preparation of compounds 54—57. These compounds were synthesized by a method similar to that used for 49—53. A mixture of 10,11-dihydrodibenz[b_if]-1,4-oxazepin-11-one (2.0 g, 9.5 mmol), the appropriate bromochloroalkane (12.3 mmol) and NaH (0.34 g, 11.4 mmol) in DMF (25 mL) was stirred under N₂ at *ca*. 60 °C for 48h (54) and 24 h (55—57). After the solvent was evaporated under reduced pressure, the residue was washed with H₂O and extracted with Et₂O / CHCl₃. The organic layer was dried over anhydrous MgSO₄. The crude products were used directly for the next reaction without further purification. TLC R_f values (CHCl₃/EtOAc, 1:1) for 54—57 are listed below. $10-(3-Chloropropyl)dibenz[b,f]-1,4-oxazepin-11(10H)-one (54): R_f = 0.56.$

 $10-(4-Chlorobutyl)dibenz[b,f]-1,4-oxazepin-11(10H)-one (55): R_f = 0.83.$

 $10-(5-Chloropentyl)dibenz[b,f]-1,4-oxazepin-11(10H)-one (56): R_f = 0.85.$

 $10-(6-Chlorohexyl)dibenz[b,f]-1,4-oxazepin-11(10H)-one (57): R_f = 0.82.$

General methods for preparation of compounds 15—18. A mixture of the respective crude product (54—57) from the previous step, 4-fluorophenylpiperazine (3.75 g, 21 mmol) and NaI (1.42 g, 9.5 mmol) in DMF (25 mL) was stirred at room temperature for 17 h (54), at *ca*. 80°C for *ca*. 25 h (55, 56) or at *ca*. 80°C for *ca*. 42 h (57). After the solvent was removed under reduced pressure, the residue was treated with 5% NaOH and extracted with Et₂O / CHCl₃ (55, 56) or CHCl₃ (54, 57). After the organic layer was dried over anhydrous MgSO₄, the product was purified as described below. Yields are reported from 10,11-dihydrodibenz[*b*,*f*]-1,4-oxazepin-11-one.

10-[3-[4-(4-Fluorophenyl)-1-piperazinyl]propyl]dibenz[b,f]-1,4-

oxazepin-11(10*H*)-one (15). The HCl salt (1.0 g, 23%) was obtained by treating crude 15 with 10% HCl-Et₂O in CHCl₃ / Et₂O (1:1): mp 210-212°C; IR (KBr) 2700-2200 (br, NH⁺) and 1645 (C=O) cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (d_6 -DMSO) δ 2.01-2.26 (m, 2 H,

CH₂), 2.94—3.30 (m, 6 H, 3 NCH₂), 3.49—3.61 (m, 2 H, NCH₂), 3.61—3.75 (m, NCH₂, overlapped with solvent peak), 4.05—4.28 (m, 2 H, CONCH₂), 6.94—7.80 (m, 12 H, aromatic H), 10.92 (br s, 1 H, NH⁺); ¹³C NMR (d_6 -DMSO) δ 22.17 (CH₂), 45.43 (CH₂), 45.99 (2 CH₂), 50.58 (2 CH₂), 52.86 (CH₂), 115.31, 115.48, 117.70, 117.76, 119.77, 121.44, 123.69, 125.51, 126.27, 126.96, 131.53, 133.86 (12 CH), 126.15, 133.70, 146.29, 154.02, 160.06 (5 quarternary C), 156.48 (d, J = 237.7 Hz, C—F), 165.29 (CO). Anal. calcd for C₂₆H₂₇ClFN₃O₂•H₂O: C, 64.26; H, 6.01; N, 8.65. Found: C, 64.66; H, 5.74; N, 8.68.

10-[4-[4-(4-Fluorophenyl)-1-piperazinyl]butyl]dibenz[b,f]-1,4-

oxazepin-11(10*H***)-one (16).** The crude product was treated with MeOH and the resultant precipitate was recrystallized from EtOH to give compound **16** (60% yield), mp 99—101°C; IR (KBr) 1642 (C=O) cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 1.49—1.89 (m, 4 H, 2 CH₂), 2.39 (t, J = 7.2 Hz, 2 H, NCH₂), 2.55 (t, J = 4.9 Hz, 4 H, 2 NCH₂), 3.09 (t, J = 4.8 Hz, 4 H, 2 NCH₂), 4.03—4.34 (m, 2 H, CONCH₂), 6.80—7.89 (m, 12 H, aromatic H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ 23.72 (CH₂), 25.71 (CH₂), 48.22 (CH₂), 50.12 (2 CH₂), 53.10 (2 CH₂), 57.82 (CH₂), 115.37, 115.55, 117.70, 117.76, 119.66, 121.66, 123.48, 125.28, 125.81, 126.51, 132.08, 133.29 (12 CH), 126.91, 134.61, 147.99, 155.01, 160.76 (5 quarternary C), 157.10 (d, J = 237.7 Hz, C—F), 166.39 (CO). Anal. calcd for C₂₇H₂₈FN₃O₂•H₂O: C, 69.95; H, 6.52; N, 9.06. Found: C, 70.18; H, 6.50; N, 9.08.

10-[5-[4-(4-Fluorophenyl)-1-piperazinyl]pentyl]dibenz[b,f]-1,4-

oxazepin-11(10*H*)-one (17). Separation by dry-column flash chromatography with a gradient from 0 to 40% of EtOAc in CH₂Cl₂ gave 17 (1.3 g, 60%) as an oil: IR (neat) 1650 (C=O) cm⁻¹; accurate mass of 17 by high-resolution FAB MS m/z (M+1) for

C₂₈H₃₁FN₃O₂, calcd 460.2400, found 460.2405. This oil was treated with 10% HCl-Et₂O in CHCl₃ / Et₂O (1:2.5), followed by recrystallization from EtOH / Et₂O (1:2) to give white crystals: mp 196—198°C; ¹H NMR (d_6 -DMSO) δ 1.23—1.43 (m, 2 H, CH₂), 1.51—1.68 (m, 2 H, CH₂), 1.68—1.85 (m, 2 H, CH₂), (m, 6 H, 3 NCH₂), 3.40—3.59 (m, 2 H, NCH₂), 3.59—3.80 (m, 2 H, NCH₂), 3.98—4.33 (m, 2 H, CONCH₂), 6.94—7.78 (m, 12 H, aromatic H), 10.72 (br s, 1 H, NH⁺); ¹³C NMR (d_6 -DMSO) δ 22.50 (CH₂), 23.70 (CH₂), 26.73 (CH₂), 45.95 (2 CH₂), 50.38 (2 CH₂), 54.95 (CH₂), 115.30, 115.48, 117.69, 117.75, 119.69, 121.36, 123.96, 125.46, 126.19, 126.74, 131.51, 133.66 (12 CH), 126.41, 133.72, 146.31, 154.28, 160.06 (5 quarternary C), 156.47 (d, J = 236.5 Hz, C—F), 165.10 (CO). Anal. calcd for C₂₈H₃₁ClFN₃O₂•7/4H₂O: C, 63.75; H, 6.59; N, 7.97. Found: C, 63.27; H, 6.02; N, 7.91.

10-[6-[4-(4-Fluorophenyl)-1-piperazinyl]hexyl]dibenz[*b*,*f*]-1,4-

oxazepin-11(10*H*)-one (18). Treatment of the crude product 18 with MeOH and recrystallization from EtOH / MeOH (1:1) gave off-white crystals (1.3 g, 59%): mp 124— 126°C; IR (KBr) 1640 (C=O) cm⁻¹. The HCl salt was obtained by treatment of 18 with 10% HCl-Et₂O and recrystallization from EtOH / Et₂O (3:2): mp 211—214°C; IR (KBr) 2600—2000 (br, NH⁺) and 1645 (C=O) cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 1.33—1.56 (m, 4 H, 2 CH₂), 1.62—1.81 (m, 2 H, CH₂), 1.81—1.99 (m, 2 H, CH₂), 3.01—3.21 (m, 2 H, NCH₂), 3.55—3.70 (m, 4 H, 2 NCH₂), 3.94—4.37 (m, 4 H, 2 NCH₂), 4.69—4.91 (m, 2 H, CONCH₂), 7.11—8.07 (m, 12 H, aromatic H), 12.54 (br s, 1 H, NH⁺); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ 23.45 (CH₂), 25.51 (CH₂), 25.83 (CH₂), 27.14 (CH₂), 47.73 (CH₂), 48.74 (2 CH₂), 51.21 (2 CH₂), 57.22 (CH₂), 117.83, 118.01, 119.75, 121.76, 123.55, 123.65, 123.72, 125.39, 125.98, 126.73, 132.01, 133.41 (12 CH), 126.81, 134.43, 136.94, 155.06, 160.73 (5 quarternary C), 163.10 (d, J = 252.8 Hz, C—F), 166.45 (CO). Anal. calcd for C₂₉H₃₃ClFN₃O₂•2H₂O: C, 63.78; H, 6.46; N, 7.69. Found: C, 64.05; H, 6.31; N, 7.73.

3. 3 Characterization with Spectroscopic and Chromatographic Methods

3. 3. 1 Spectroscopy

Thin-layer chromatography (TLC, silica gel 60 GF₂₅₄, 0.2 mm, Merck, Darmstadt) was used to monitor reactions and check product homogeneity. Optical rotatory measurements were made on a Perkin-Elmer 141 polarimeter (at NRC). Infrared (IR) spectra were recorded with a Perkin-Elmer model 197 infrared spectrophotometer. Nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) spectra (tetramethylsilane as internal standard), 300 MHz for ¹H and 75.5 MHz for ¹³C, were recorded on a Bruker MSL 300 spectrometer. 500 MHz (Bruker AMX 500) for ¹H and 125 MHz for ¹³C, were also used when the Bruker MSL 300 spectrometer was not available (at NRC). Ion-spray LC-MS / MS spectra were recorded on a SCIEX API-III triple quadrupole mass spectrometer (at NRC). Ammonia chemical ionization mass spectra were acquired on a HP1090 HPLC (at NRC) with a built-in diode array detector (DAD) and Chemstation. X-Ray diffraction data were obtained from a Rigaku AFCSR diffractometer at Laboratory of Crystallography, Department of Chemistry.

All the UV spectra of DTZ metabolites were obtained on an UV-diode array detector (UV-DAD) from qualitative analysis with HPLC. Samples of 1—3 μ g were usually injected. The UV spectrum was recorded in the range from 210 to 400 nm. All DTZ

metabolites showed 237nm as an absorption maximum. IR spectroscopy was used for identification of all intermediates and target products.

About 10 mg of sample in an appropriate deuterated solvent were used for recording both ¹H and ¹³C NMR spectra. For ¹H spectrum, normally 6 μ s was used as a pulse length (90° pulse is 12 μ s), and a pulse delay of 6—10 sec was utilized between each pulse. A Bruker Aspect 3000 computer was used to manipulate data. Normally 16—256 transients were acquired for each sample and 16K data points in the Free Induction Decay (FID) were normally collected. Digital resolution of 0.3 Hz was usually achieved.

For ¹³C spectrum, the pulse length was $3 \mu s$ (6 μs is 90° pulse). A pulse delay of 1 sec was used. 16000–40000 transients were acquired for each sample and 32K data points in the FID were collected. Digital resolution of 2 Hz was achieved.

Ammonia chemical ionization mass spectra were acquired on a VG Analytical 20-250 quadrupole mass spectrometer. Fast atom bombardment spectra and accurate mass measurements (resolution=10,000 for 4, 5 and 6; 6,000 for 9—13, 23, 24 and 17) were measured on a VG Analytical ZAB-EQ mass spectrometer with glycerol matrix. Ion-spray LC-MS / MS spectra were recorded on a SCIEX API-III triple quadrupole mass spectrometer. Mass spectra of only target products or key intermediates were recorded and each is reported after the synthesis of the compound.

3. 3. 2 Chromatography

HPLC was performed on HP1090 HPLC with a built-in diode array detector (DAD) and Chemstation fitted with a Zorbax Rx-C8 column (250 x 4.6 mm I.D., 5 μ m). The chromatogram was developed at a flow rate of 1.0 mL/min with isocratic mobile phase

of CH₃CN / H₂O (30:70) with 0.1% TFA, pH 2. The column temperature was maintained at 40°C. The absorbance of the HPLC eluate was monitored at 237 nm.

Normal phase TLC for monitoring reactions and checking the purity of the products was normally performed at *ca*. 20—25°C on silica gel 60 F_{254} (Merck) with an appropriate solvent system. Absorbance of each component was visualized at 254 nm. The R_f value of each compound is reported after the synthesis. Each diltiazem metabolite showed only one spot on TLC.

Dry-column flash chromatography was used for purification of some less easily purified intermediates or products. The separations were carried out on TLC-grade silica gel (Merck Silica gel 60, 2–25µm). The silica was packed into a standard P3 sintered glass filter funnel and the eluting solvent was drawn through by suction using a water pump. The elution was carried out by adding the solvent in pre-measured portions, allowing the column to run 'dry' after each one before the next was added. For packing the column, the funnel was filled with dry TLC-grade silica up to the lip and tapped gently to settle the powder and remove any voids. The suction was gently applied at first and increased gradually to full water pump vacuum. This produced a head space for addition of the mixture and the solvent. For the selection of initial solvent, preliminary TLC experiments were carried out to find a solvent mixture that will give an R_f of ca. 0.1-0.2 for the fastest running component of interest. The initial solvent was used to pre-elute the packed column. The solvent front could be seen to descend in a horizontal line. After loading the sample mixture (in the initial solvent), a gradient of increasing solvent strength was used. A few portions of initial solvent were used and then in each successive portion the proportion of the stronger solvent was increased by ca. 2-5%, depending on how difficult each component in the mixture was to separate.

3. 3. 3 Polarimetry

Optical rotatory measurements were performed on a Perkin Elmer 141 polarimeter at 21°C with path length of 1.0000 ± 0.0002 decimeter at 589.3 nm. The instrument was calibrated with sucrose { $[\alpha]^{21}_{D} = +66.5^{\circ}$ } before measurement of samples.

3. 3. 4 X-Ray Structure Determination of 13, 14 and 18

10-[6-[4-(4-Fluorophenyl)-1-piperazinyl]hexyl]dibenzo[b_xf]-1,4 **thiazepin-11(10H)-one (13)**. C₂₉H₃₂FN₃OS, M_r = 489.65, triclinic, P1, a = 10.67(1) Å, b = 9.16 (2) Å, c = 14.06 (3) Å, $\alpha = 88.8$ (2)°, $\beta = 105.0$ (1)°, $\gamma = 89.8$ (2)°, V = 1327 (4) Å³, Z = 2, D_x = 1.225 g / cm³, λ (Cu K_{α}) = 0.71069 Å, $\mu = 1.470$ cm⁻¹, F (000) = 520, T = 291 ± 1 K, final R = 0.068 for 3705 observed reflections.

Dibenzo[*b*,*f*]-1,4-thiazepin-11(10*H*)-one (14). C₁₃H₉NOS, M_r = 227.28, monoclinic, P2₁, *a* = 7.145 (3) Å, *b* = 12.298 (4) Å, *c* = 11.853 (4) Å, β = 95.31 (3)°, V = 1037.1 Å³, Z = 4, D_x = 1.456 g / cm³, λ (Cu K_{α}) = 0.71069 Å, μ = 2.72 cm⁻¹, F (000) = 472, T = 291 ± 1 K, final R = 0.037 for 881 observed reflections.

10-[6-[4-(4-Fluorophenyl)-1-piperazinyl]hexyl]dibenz[*b*,*f*]-1,4**oxazepin-11(10H)-one (18).** C₂₉H₃₂N₃O₂, M_r = 473.59, monolinic, P2₁, *a* = 9.074 (2) Å, *b* = 19.327 (7) Å, *c* = 14.302 (2) Å, β = 92.32 (2)°, V = 2506 (1) Å³, Z = 4, D_x = 1.225 g / cm³, λ (Cu K_{α}) = 0.71069 Å, μ = 0.79 cm⁻¹, F (000) = 1008, T = 291 ± 1 K, final R = 0.062 for 4565 observed reflections.

3. 4 Identity of Synthetic DTZ Metabolites with Biological Samples

The following work was done by Xie *et al.*¹⁴⁵. Urine samples were collected from healthy human volunteers, dogs, rabbits and rats over a 24 h period after they were given a single oral dose of diltiazem. The dose for each species was: humans 90 mg tablet; dogs 30 mg tablet; rabbits 5 mg / kg solution; and rats 15 mg / kg solution. Details of the method used to isolate diltiazem and its basic metabolites from urine have been reported.¹⁴⁷ Briefly, to 0.5—1.0 mL of urine was added 0.5 mL of 10% (NH₄)₂CO₃ solution. The mixture was extracted with 5 mL of methyl *tert*-butyl ether, followed by 5 mL of CH₂Cl₂. After centrifugation to separate the organic from the aqueous layer, the combined organic fraction was evaporated to dryness under a gentle stream of N₂ at 50°C. The residue was reconstituted with 0.2 mL of 0.01 N HCl, and washed with 2 mL of methyl *tert*-butyl ether. After separation by centrifugation, the aqueous layer was lyophilized (SpeedVac[®], Savant Corp., NY, U.S.A) and the dry residue stored at -20°C until analysis. On the day of analysis, the residue was dissolved in MeOH and aliquots injected into the HPLC.

3. 5 Biological Evaluation

3. 5. 1 In Vitro Vasorelaxant Activity

Young hamsters (72—85 days old and 104—136 g, Golden Syrian) for evaluation of vasorelaxation of DTZ metabolites and hamsters (30—200 days old and weighing 75— 164 g, Golden Syrian) for DBTs were purchased from Canadian Hybrid Farms (Halls Harbour, N.S.). Vasorelaxation experiments were performed in the Department of Pharmacology using a Grass Model 7D polygraph (Grass Instrument Co. Quincy, Mass., USA) and organ bath apparatus. DTZ metabolites and DBTs were tested in the form of HCl, HBr, TFA, oxalate or maleate salts.

3. 5. 1. 1 Vasorelaxant Activity of DTZ metabolites on Hamster Aorta

Isolated aorta ring preparations (about 3 mm ring) were suspended in a 20-mL jacketed organ bath with normal Krebs (CaCl₂ 2.0 mM, MgSO₄ 1.2 mM, KH₂PO₄ 1.0 mM, KCl 5.0 mM, NaHCO₃ 25 mM, NaCl 105 mM, D-glucose 11.5 mM) at about 29°C. A mixture of 95% O_2 + 5% CO₂ was bubbled through the medium to yield pH of 7.4. After equilibration for at least 1 h, the muscle was washed with high-K⁺ (110 mM) Krebs solution in which NaCl was replaced by an equimolar amount of KCl. After attainment of a steady plateau tension, the muscle was exposed to increasing concentrations of test compounds and relaxant responses were recorded and normalized with respect to the initial recorded tension. IC₅₀ values were calculated by a sigmoidal non-linear regression program (GraphPAD INPLOTTM version 3.0).

3. 5. 1. 2 Vasorelaxant Activity of DBTs on Hamster Aorta

The conditions for evaluation of vasorelaxant activity of DBTs on hamster aorta were the same as those for DTZ metabolites except for a bath temperature of 37° C for vascular smooth muscles. The stock solutions of DTZ (control) and DBTs (10^{-2} M) were prepared in 50% EtOH. The solutions of 9—13 and 15—18 were diluted to a concentration of 10^{-3} M with 30% EtOH and the rest with distilled water. A series dilution to 10^{-6} M with distilled water for vasorelaxaton tests.

3. 5. 2 In Vitro Adenosine Uptake Experiment

Dibasic sodium phosphate buffer (pH 9.1, 100 mL) prepared from Na₂HPO₄ (1.78 g) in distilled H₂O (100 mL) was titrated with the aid of pH meter to pH 7.4 with monobasic potassium phosphate buffer (pH 4.4, *ca.* 9 mL) prepared from KH₂PO₄ (2.18 g) in distilled H₂O (100 mL), to make an isotonic phosphate buffer solution (PBS).

Separate solutions of *erythro-9* (2-hydroxy-3-nonyl)adenine (EHNA) HCl (10.0 mg) in distilled H₂O (10 mL) and dipyridamole (10.0 mg) in MeOH (10 mL) were prepared. Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA) disodium salt (134.5 mg) was placed in a 100-mL volumetric flask. To this were added aliquots of the EHNA solution (860 μ L) and the dipyridamole solution (5.000 mL). Normal saline (0.9%) was added to make 100 mL of "stopping solution" with the final concentrations of EHNA (26 μ M), dipyridamole (99 μ M) and EDTA (4 mM).

Adenosine (10.0 mg) was dissolved in distilled H₂O (10 mL), and 160 μ L of this was transferred to a 100-mL volumetric flask. Normal saline (*ca.* 50 mL) was added. To this was added 11 μ L of a solution of [2-³H]adenosine (Amersham, 27 Ci / μ mole, 1 mCi /
mL), and the volume brought to 100 mL with saline to give "working tracer solution" with the final concentration of adenosine (6 μ M). When added to 10 mL of scintillation fluid, 100 μ L of this "working tracer solution" gave *ca*. 10,000 cpm.

Fresh whole blood obtained from healthy volunteers was anticoagulated with PBSheparin (9 mL of blood + 1 mL of PBS containing 100 I. U. of sodium heparin). PBS (0.05 mL) containing various concentrations (0.01 μ M—400 μ M) of DTZ and its metabolites or PBS-EtOH (2:1, 0.05 mL) containing various concentrations (0.01 μ M—50 μ M) of DBTs was added to 200 μ L of anticoagulated whole blood. The mixture was vortexed and allowed to stand at room temperature (25°C) for 15 min. To it was added 100 μ L of "working tracer solution". Uptake of adenosine was terminated after 2 s of incubation by rapid addition of 0.5 mL of the "stopping solution". The mixture was vortexed, and centrifuged at 4°C for 10 min (1760 x g). An aliquot of the supernatant (0.2 mL) was mixed with 10 mL of scintillation fluid and the radioactivity was determined in a liquid scintallation counter (LS 5000 TA, Beckman Instrument, U.S.A.). Dipyridamole and diltiazem were used as control for every experiment.

3. 5. 3 Anti-HIV Activity of Dibenzothiazepinone Derivatives

Anti-HIV activities of dibenzothiazepinones were evaluated at National Cancer Institute, National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, MD. USA. Briefly, the dibenzothiazepinone was dissolved in dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO), then diluted 1:100 in cell culture medium before preparing serial half-log₁₀ dilutions. T4 lymphocytes (CEM cell line) were added and after a brief interval HIV-1 was added, resulting in a 1:200 final dilution of the compound. Uninfected cells with the compound served as a toxicity control, and infected and uninfected cells without the compound served as basic controls. Cultures were incubated at 37°C in a 5% carbon dioxide atmosphere for 6 days. The tetrazolium salt, XTT, was added to all wells, and cultures were incubated to allow formazan color development by viable cells. Individual wells were analyzed spectrophotometrically to quantitate formazan production and, in addition, were viewed microscopically for detection of viable cells and confirmation of protective activity. Drug-treated virus-infected cells were compared with drug-treated noninfected cells and with other appropriate controls (untreated infected and untreated noninfected cells, drug-containing wells without cells, *etc.*) on the same plate. Data were reviewed in comparison with other tests done at the same time and a determination about activity was made.

ų i

CONCLUSION

Eight diltiazem metabolites have been successfully synthesized, three of which were synthesized for the first time, some requiring 12 sequential chemical reactions. All eight synthetic DTZ metabolites were fully characterized. That three new DTZ metabolites (4, 5 and 6) isolated from human urine are identical to the corresponding authentic compounds I synthesized has been confirmed by spectroscopic and chromatographic methods. *In vitro* calcium antagonistic activities of all metabolites (except 6) were evaluated on hamster aorta with the rank of order of potency: DTZ > $1 \ge 2 > 7 > 5 \ge 3 > 4 \ge 8$. The contribution of DTZ metabolites to therapeutic and adverse effects of DTZ was proposed. The relationships between structure of DTZ metabolites and calcium antagonistic activity were also discussed. Effects of DTZ metabolites 4 and 5 on adenosine uptake by erythrocytes were also studied.

A number of dibenzothiazepinones and dibenzoxazepinones have been designed with the assistance of molecular modeling, using other dibenzotricyclics as leads. X-Ray and molecular mechanics calculations show that the DBTs in this stu 1y have smaller angles between the planes of the two benzene rings than the DBTs previously reported. As calcium antagonists, compounds 10—13 and 15—18 synthesized are slightly less potent than diltiazem, but are of the same order of magnitude of potency at submicromolar concentration. Dibenzotricyclic compounds (9—13, 15—24) show no activity on inhibition of adenosine uptake by erythrocytes. Some dibenzothiazepinone derivatives (14, 25 and 26) also have moderate anti-HIV activity.

REFERENCES

- Haas, H.; Hartfelder, G. Alpha-isopropyl-alpha-[(N-methyl-N-homoveratryl)-gamma-aminopropyl]-3,4-dimethoxyphenyl-acetonitril, eine substanz mit coronargefasserweiternden eigenschaften. Arzneim. Forsch. (Drug Res.), 1962, 12, 549-558.
- Vanhoutte, P. M. The Expert committee of the world health organization on classification of calcium antagonists: The viewpoint of the raporteur. *Am. J. Cardiol.* 1987, 59, 3A–8A.
- Holmes, B.; Brogden, R. N.; Heel, R. C.; Speight, T. M.; Avery, G. S.
 Flunarizine, a review of its pharmacodynamic and pharmacokinetic properties and therapeutic use. *Drugs* 1984, 27, 6–44.
- 4. Vanhoutte, P. M.; Van Neuten, J. M. In New Drugs Annual: Cardiovascular drugs; Scriabine, A.; Ed.; Raven: New York, 1983; Vol. 1, pp 203-226.
- Krogh, C. M. E., Gillis, M. C. Eds.; Compendium of Pharmaceuticals and Specialities. 26th ed. Canadian Pharmaceutical Association. Ottawa, 1991, pp 1106—1107.
- Baky, S. In New Drugs Annual: Cardiovascular drugs; Scriabine, A.; Ed.;
 Raven: New York, 1984; Vol. 2, pp 71–102.
- Chaffman, M.; Brogden, R.N. Diltiazem, a review of its pharmacological properties and therapeutic efficacy. *Drugs* 1985, 29, 387–454.
- Sorkin, E. M.; Clissold, S. P.; Brogden, R. N. Nifedipine, a review of its pharmacodynamic and pharmacokinetic properties and therapeutic efficacy, in ischaemic heart disease, hypertension and related cardiovascular

disorders. Drugs 1985, 30, 182-274.

- 9. Prystowsky, E. N. The effects of slow channel blockers and beta blockers on atrioventricular nodal conduction. J. Clin. Pharmacol. 1988, 28, 6—21.
- Braunwald, E.; Sonnenblick, E. H.; Ross, J. Jr. In *Heart Disease*: Contraction of the normal heart; Braunwald, E., Ed.; Philidephia, 1980: pp 413-452.
- Adelstein, R. S.; Eisenberg, E. Regulation and kinetics of actin-myosin-ATP interaction. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 1980, 49, 921–956.
- Braunwald, E. Mechanisms of action of calcium-channel-blocking agents.
 N. Engl. J. Med. 1982, 307, 1618–1627.
- 13. Bolton, T. B. Mechanisms of action of transmitters and other substances on smooth muscle. *Physiol. Rev.* **1979**, *59*, 607–718.
- Hockberger, P. E.; Swandulla, D. Direct ion channel gating: a new function for intracellular messengers. *Cell. Mol. Neurobiol.* 1987, 7, 229–236.
- 15. Rosenthal, W.; Schultz, G. Modulations of voltage-dependent ion channels by extracellular signals. *Trends Pharmacol. Sci.* **1987**, *8*, 351–354.
- Hofmann, F.; Nastainczyk, W.; Rohrkasten, A.; Schneider, T.; Sieber, M. Regulation of L-type calcium channel. *Trends Pharmacol. Sci.* 1987, 8, 393–398.
- 17. Levitan, I. B. Modulation of ion channels in neurons and other cells. Ann.
 Rev. Neurosci. 1988, 11, 119–136.
- Schwartz, L. M.; McCleakey, E. W.; Almers, W. Dihydropyridine receptors in muscle are voltage-dependent but most are not functional calcium channels. *Nature*, 1985, 314, 747-751.

ŗ

- 19. Miller, R. J. Multiple calcium channels and neuronal function. Science, 1987, 235, 46—52.
- 20. Triggle, D. J.; Janis, R. A. Calcium channel ligands. Ann. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol. 1987, 27, 347-369.
- Hescheler, J.; Kameyama, M.; Trautwein, W.; Mieskes, G. Soling, H-D.
 Regulation of the cardiac calcium channel by protein phosphatases. *Eur. J. Biochem.* 1987, 165, 262–266.
- Kaczmarek, L. K. The role of protein kinase C in the regulation of ion channels and neurotransmitter release. *Trends Neurosci.* 1987, 10, 30–34.
- Strong, J. A.; Fox, A. P.; Tsien, R. W.; Kaczmarek, L. K. Stimulation of protein kinase C recruits covert calcium channels in *Aplysia* bag cell neurons. *Nature*, 1987, 325, 714–717.
- 24. Dosemicik, A.; Dhallan, R. S.; Colen, N. M.; Lederer, W. J.; Rogers, T.
 B. Phorbol ester increases calcium current and stimulates the effects of angiotensin II on cultured neonatal rat heart myocytes. *Cir. Res.* 1988, 62, 347–357.
- Brown, A. M.; Birnbaumer, L. Direct G protein gating of ion channels.
 Am. J. Physiol. 1988, 254, H401—H410.
- 26. Gilman, A. G. G proteins: transducers of receptor-generated signals. Ann.
 Rev. Biochem. 1987, 56, 615–649.
- 27. Dunlap, K.; Holz, G. G.; Rane, S.G. G proteins as regulators of ion channel function. *Trends Neurosci.* **1987**, *10*, 241–244.
- 28. Scott, R. H.; Dolphin, A.C. Activation of G protein promotes agonist responses to calcium channel ligands. *Nature*, **1987**, *330*, 760–762.

- 29. Campbell, K. P.; Leung, A. T.; Sharp, A. H. The biochemistry and molecular biology of the dihydropyridine-sensitive calcium channel. *Trends Neurosci.* **1988**, *10*, 425–430.
- Catteral, W. A. Structure and function of voltage-sensitive ion channels.
 Science. 1988, 242, 50-61.
- 31. Hosey, M. M.; Lazdunski, M. Calcium channels: molecular pharmacology, structure, and regulation. *J. Membr. Biol.* **1988**, *104*, 81–105.
- Vaghy, P. L. ; Mckenna, E.; Itagaki, K.; Schwartz, A. Resolution of the identity of the calcium antagonist receptors in skeletal muscle. *Trends Pharmacol. Sci.* 1988, 9, 398–402.
- 33. Tanabe, T.; Takeshima, H.; Mikami, A.; Flockerzi, V.; Takahashi, H.;
 Kangawa, K.; Kojima, M.; Matsuo, H.; Hirose, T.; Numa, S. Primary structure of the receptor for calcium channel blockers from skeletal muscle. *Nature*, 1987, 328, 313–318.
- 34. Ellis, S.B.; William, M. E.; Ways, N. R. Brenner, R.; Sharp, A. H.; Leung, A. T.; Campbell, K. P.; McKenna, E.; Koch, W. J.; Hui, A.; Schwartz, A.; Harpold, M. M. Sequence and expression of mRNAs encoding the α_1 and α_2 subunits of a DHP-sensitive calcium channel. *Science*, **1988**, 254, 1661–1664.
- Ruth, P.; Rohrkasten, A.; Biel, M.; Bosse, E.; Regulla, S.; Meyer, H. E.;
 Flockerzi, V.; Hofmann, F. Primary structure of β subunit of the DHP-sensitive calcium channel from skeletal muscle. Science, 1989, 245, 1115–1118.
- 36. Galizzi, J.; Borsotto, M.; Barhanin, J.; Fosset, M.; Lazdunski, M.Characterization and photoaffinity labeling of receptor sites for the calcium

channel inhibitors d-*cis*-diltiazem, (+)-bepridil, desmethoxyverapamil, and (+)-PN200-110 in skeletal transverse tubule membranes. *J. Biol. Chem.* **1986**, *261*, 1393—1397.

- Slish, D. F.; Engle, D. B.; Varadi, G.; Lotan, I.; Singer, D.; Dascal, N.;
 Schwartz, A. Evidence for the existence of a cardiac specific isoform of the α₁ subunit of the voltage-dependent calcium channel. *FEBS Lett.* 1989, 250, 509—514.
- 38. Mikami, A.; Imoto, K.; Tanabe, T.; Niidome, T.; Mori, Y.; Takeshima, H.;
 Narumiya, S.; Numa, S. Primary structure and functional expression of the cardiac dihydropyridine-sensitive calcium channel. *Nature*, 1989, 340, 230- -233.
- 39. McKenna, E.; Koch, W. J.; Slish, D. F.; Schwartz, A. Toward an understanding of the dihydropyridine-sensitive calcium channel. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 1990, 39, 1145–1150.
- 40. Spedding, M.; Kenny, B. Voltage-dependent calcium channels: structures and drug-binding sites. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.*, **1992**, *20*, 147–153.
- 41. Glossmann, H.; Ferry, D. R.; Goll, A.; Striessnig, J.; Zernig, G. Calcium channels and calcium channel drugs: recent biological and biophysical findings. *Arzneim. Forsch. (Drug Res.)*, **1985**, *35*, 1917–1935.
- 42. Gould, R. J.; Murphy, K. M. M.; Reynolds, I. J.; Snyder, S. H. Antischizophrenic drugs of the diphenylbutylpiperidine type act as calcium channel antagonists. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, **1983**, 80, 5122–5125.
- 43. Galizzi, J.; Fosset, M.; Romey, G.; Laduron, P.; Lazdunski, M. Neuroleptics of the diphenylbutylpiperidine series are potent calcium channel inhibitors. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, 1986, 83, 7513-7517.

- Qar, J.; Galizzi, J.; Fosset, M.; Lazdunski, M. Receptors for diphenylbutylpiperidine neuroleptics in brain, cardiac, and smooth muscle membranes. Relationship with receptors for 1,4-dihydropyridines and phenylalkylamines and with Ca²⁺ channel blockade. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 1987, 141, 261-268.
- 45. King, V. F.; Garcia, M. L.; Shevell, J. L.; Slaughter, R. S.; Kaczorowski,
 G. J. Substituted diphenylbutylpiperidines bind to a unique high affinity site
 on the L-type calcium channel. J. Biol. Chem. 1989, 264, 5633—5641.
- 46. Qar, J.; Barhanin, J.; Romey, G.; Henning, R.; Lerch, U.;
 Oekonomopulos, R.; Urbach, H.; Lazdunski, M. A novel high affinity class of calcium channel blockers. *Mol. Pharmacol.* 1988, 33, 363-369.
- 47. Nokin, P., Clinet, M., Beaufort, P., Meysmans, L., Laruel, R. and Chatelain, P. SR 33557, a novel calcium entry blocker. II. interactions with 1,4-dihydropyridine, phenylalkylamine and benzothiazepine binding sites in rat heart sarcolemmal membranes. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther., 1990, 250, 600-607.
- 48. Triggle, D. J.; Langs, D. A.; Janis, R. A. Ca²⁺ channel ligands: structure-function relationships of the 1,4-dihydropyridines. *Med. Res. Rev.* 1989, 9, 123—180.
- 49. Fujita, M.; Ito, S.; Ota, A.; Kato, N.; Yamamoto, K.; Kawashima, Y.;
 Yamashi, H.; Iwao, J. Synthesis and Ca²⁺ antagonistic activity of 2-[2-[(aminoalkyl)oxy]-5-methoxyphenyl]-3,4-dihydro-4-methyl-3-oxo-2H-1,4benzothiazines. J. Med. Chem. 1990, 33, 1898—1905.
- 50. Kurokawa, M.; Sato, F.; Fujiwara, I.; Hatano, N.; Honda, Y.; Yoshida, T.; Naruto, S.; Mastumoto, J.; Uno, H. A new class of calcium

antagonists. 2. synthesis and biological activity of 11-[4-[4-(4-fluorophenyl)-1-piperazinyl]butyryl]-6,11-dihydrodibenzo[*b,e*]thiepin maleate and related compounds. *J. Med. Chem.* **1991**, *34*, 927–934.

- 51. Frishman, W.H.; Charlap, S.; Goldberger, J.; Kimmel, B.; Stroh, J.;
 Dorsa, F.; Allen, L.; Strom, J. Comparison of diltiazem and nifedipine for both angina pectoris and systemic hypertension. Am. J. Cardiol. 1985, 56, 41H—46H.
- 52. Schroeder, J.S.; Hung, J.; Lamb, I.H.; Connolly, S.J.; Jutzy, K.R.; Goris, M.L. Diltiazem and propranolol, alone and in combination, on exercise performance and left ventricular function in patients with stable effect angina: a double-blind, randomized, and placebo-controlled study. *Acta Pharmacol. et Toxicol. Suppl. II.* 1985, 57, 56–60.
- 53. Schwartz, J.B.; Abernathy, D.R. Responses to intravenous and oral diltiazem in elderly and younger patients with systemic hypertension. Am. J. Cardiol. 1987, 59, 1111–1117.
- 54. Weir, M.R.; Josselson, J.; Giard, M.J.; Warren, J.B.; Posner, J. N.; Lam,
 Y.W.F.; Zaske, D.E.; Saunders, E. Sustained-release diltiazem compared with atenolol monotherapy for mild to moderate systemic hypertension.
 Am. J. Cardiol. 1987, 60, 361-411.
- 55. Sternbach, G. L.; Schroeder, J.S.; Eliastam, M.; Beier-Scott, L. Intravenous diltiazem for the treatment of supraventricular tachycardia. *Clin. Cardiol.* 1986, 9, 145–149.
- 56. Shenasa, M.; Fromer, M.; Faugere, G.; Nadeau, R.; LeBlanc, R. A.;
 Lambert, C.; Sadr-Ameli, M.A. Efficacy and safety of intravenous and oral
 diltiazem for Wolff-Parkinson-White syndrome. Am. J. Cardiol. 1987,

59, 301-306.

- 57. Roberts, R.; Gibson, R. S.; Boden, W. E.; 'I'heroux, P.; Strauss, H. D.
 Prevention of reinfarction subsequent to non-Q-wave infarction. J.
 Cardiovas. Pharmacol. Suppl. 1. 1989, 13, S36-S46.
- 58. Coppola, L.; Grassia, A.; Giunta, R.; Verrazzo, G.; Tirelli. Effect of diltiazem of platelet aggregability, erythrocyte filtrability, and thromboelastographic pattern in normal and atherosclerotic subjects. *A Curr. Ther. Res.* **1986**, *40*, 1090–1095.
- 59. Ring, M. E.; Corrigan, Jr., J. J.; Fenster, P. E. Effects of oral diltiazem on platelet function: alone and in combination with "low dose" aspirin. *Thrombosis Res.* 1986, 44, 391–400.
- 60. Rhedda, A.; McCans, J.; Willan, A. R.; Ford, P. M. A double blind placebo controlled crossover randomized trial of diltiazem in Raynaud's phenomenon. *J. Rheumatology* **1985**, *12*, 724–727.
- 61. Ross, J. L.; Mackenzie, T. B.; Hanson, D. R.; Charles, C. R. Diltiazem for tardive dyskinesia. *Lancent* **1987**, *1*, 268.
- 62. Fack, W. E.; Wojick, J. D.; Gelenberg, A. J. Diltiazem for tardive dyskinesia and tardive dystonia. *Lancet* **1988**, *1*, 824–825.
- 63. Yabana, H.; Nagao, T.; Masanori, S. Cardiovascular effects of the metabolites of diltiazem in dogs. J. Cardiovasc. Pharmacol. 1985, 7, 152-157.
- 64. Kiyomoto, A.; Susaki, Y.; Odawara, A.; Morita, T. Inhibition of platelet aggregation by diltiazem. *Circ. Res. Suppl. I.* **1983**, *52*, 115–119.
- 65. Yeung, P. K. F.; Mosher, S. J.; Macrae, D. A.; Klassen, G. A. Effect of diltiazem and its metabolites on the uptake of adenosine in blood: an *in vitro*

- 66. Sheehan-Date, R. A.; Goodfield, M. J. D. Widespread cutaneous vasculitis associated with diltiazem. Postgrad. Med. J. 1988, 64, 467-468. 67. Lahav, M.; Arav, R. Diltiazem and thrombocytopenia. Ann. Int. Med. **1989**, *110*, 327. 68. Waller, P. C.; Inman, W. H. W. Diltiazem and heart block. Lancet 1989, 1, 617. 69. Dick, R. S.; Barold, S. S. Diltiazem-induced parkinsonism. Am. J. Med. 1989, 87, 95-96. 70. Shalleross, H.; Padley, S. P. G.; Glynn, M. J.; Gibbs, D. D. Fatal renal and hepatic toxicity after treatment with diltiazem. Br. Med. J. 1987, 295, 1236-1237. 71. Yeung, P. K. F.; Mosher, S. J.; Quilliam, M. A.; Montague, T. J. Species comparison of pharmacokinetics and metabolism of diltiazem in humans, dogs, rabbits and rats. Drug Metab. Dispos. 1990, 18, 1055-1059. 72. Miyazaki, M.; Iwakuma, T.; Tanaka, T. Synthesis of the metabolites and related compounds of diltiazem. Chem. Pharm. Bull. 1978, 26, 2889-2893. 73. Sugihara, J.; Sugawara, Y.; Ando, H.; Harigaya, S.; Etoh, A.; Kohno, K. Studies on the metabolism of diltiazem in man. J. Pharm. Dyn. 1984, 7,
 - 24----32.
- 74. Schwartz, A. Calcium antagonists: new data on relationship between pharmacology and clinical effects. In monograph, **1992**, 1–12.
- 75. Bruns, R. F. Role of adenosine in energy supply / demand balance.
 Nucleosid. Nucleotid. 1991, 10, 931-934.

- Van Belle, H.; Wynants, J.; Xhonneux, R.; Flameng, W. Change in creatine phosphate, inorganic phosphate, and the purine pattern in dog hearts with time of coronary artery occlusion and effect thereon of mioflazine. a nucleoside transport inhibitor. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 1986, 20, 658-664.
- Van Galen, P. J. M.; Stiles, G. L.; Michaels, G.; Jacobson, K. A.
 Adenosine A₁ and A₂ receptors: structure-function relationships. *Med. Res. Rev.* 1992, 12, 423-471.
- 78. Van Belle, H. Nucleoside transport inhibition: a therapeutic approach to cardioprotection via adenosine? *Cardiovasc. Res.* **1993**, 27, 68–76.
- 79. Sollevi, A. Cardiovascular effects of adenosine in man: possible clinical implications. *Prog. Neurobiol.* **1986**, 27, 319–349.
- 80. Soilevi, A.; Kaijser, L.; Fredholm, B. B. Release of adenosine from the ischemic human heart. *Pediatr. Res.* **1985**, *19*, 777–201A.
- 81. Hori, M.; Kitakaze, M. Adenosine, the heart, and coronary circulation. Hypertension, 1991, 18, 565-574.
- 82. Ely, S. W.; Berne, R. M. Protective effects of adenosine in myocardial ischemia. *Circ.*, 1992 85, 893—904.
- Plagemann, P. G. W.; Wohlhueter, R. M.; Kraupp, M. Adenosine uptake, transport, and metabolism in human erythrocytes. J. Cell Physiol. 1985, 125, 330–336.
- Ford, D. A.; Sharp, J. A.; Rovetto, M. J. Erythrocyte adenosine transport: effects of calcium channel antagonists and ions. Am. J. Physiol. 1985, 248, H593--H598.
- 85. Belloni, F. L.; Liang, B. C.; Gerritsen, M. E. Effects of alkylxanthines

and calcium antagonists on adenosine uptake by cultured rabbit coronary microvascular endothelium. *Pharmacology*, **1987**, *35*, 1–15.

- Yeung, P. K. F.; Mosher, S. J.; Li, R.; Farmer, P. S.; Klassen, G. A. Effect of diltiazem metabolites on adenosine transport in whole blocd. American Chinese Pharmaceutical Association—First Internationa! Symposium on Pharmaceutical Research and Development. May 28—31, 1993, Kansas City, USA.
- 87. Yeung, P. K. F.; Mosher, S. J.; Li, R.; Farmer, P. S.; Klassen, G. A.;
 Pollak, P. T.; McMullen, M.; Ferrier, G. Erythrocyte adenosine transport: a rapid screening test for cardiovascular drugs. Submitted for publication, 1993.
- Gresele, P.; Arnout, J.; Deckmyn, H.; Vermylen, J. Mechanism of the antiplatelet action of dipyridamole in whole blood: modulation of adenosine concentration and action. *Thromb. Hemost.* 1986, 55, 12–18.
- 89. Ijzerman, A. P.; Thedinga, K. H.; Custers, A. F. C. M.; Hoos, B.; Van Belle, H. Inhibition of nucleoside transport by a new series of compounds related to lidoflazine and mioflazine. *Eur. J . Pharmacol. Mol. Pharmacol. Sect.* 1989, 172, 273–281.
- 90. Van Belle, H.; Janssen, P. A. Comparative pharmacology of nucleoside transport inhibitors. *Nucleosid. Nucleotid.* **1991**, *10*, 975–982.
- 91. Hargrave, K. D.; Proudfoot, J. R.; Grozinger, K. G.; Cullen, E.; Kapadia,
 S. R.; Petal, U. R.; Fuchs, V. U.; Mauldin, S. C.; Vitous, J.; Behnke, M.
 L.; Klunder, J. M.; Pal, K.; Skiles, J. W.; McNeil, D. W.; Rose, J. M.;
 Chow, G. C.; Skoog, M. T.; Wu, J. C.; Schmidt, G.; Engel, W. W.;
 Eberlein, W. G.; Saboe, T. D.; Campbell, S. J.; Rosenthal, A. S.; Adams,

J. Novel non-nucleoside inhibitors of HIV-1 reverse transcriptase. 1. Tricyclic pyridobenzo- and dipyridodiazepinones. J. Med. Chem. 1991, 34, 2231-2241.

92. Skoog, M. T.; Hargrave, K. D.; Miglietta, J. J.; Kopp, E. B.; Merluzzi, V. J. Inhibition of HIV-1 reverse transcriptase and virus replication by non-nucleoside dipyridodiazepinone Bi-RG-587 (Nevirapine). *Med. Res. Rev.* 1992, 12, 27-40.

- 93. Klunder, J. M.; Hargrave, K. D.; West, M.; Cullen, E.; Pal, K.; Behnke, M. L.; Kapadia, S. R.; McNeil, D. W.; Wu, J. C.; Chow, G. C.; Adams, J. Novel non-nucleoside inhibitors of HIV-1 reverse transcriptase. 2. Tricyclic pyridobenzoxazepinones and dibenzoxazepinones. J. Med. Chem. 1992, 35, 1887–1897.
- 94. Barré-Sinoussi, F.; Chermann, J. C.; Rey, F.; Nageyre, M. T.; Chamaret, S.; Gruest, T.; Dauguet, C.; Axler-Blin, C.; Vézinet-Brun, F.; Rouzioux, C.; Rozendaum, W.; Montagnier, L. Isolation of a T cell lymphotropic virus from a patient at risk for the acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (AIDS). Science, 1983, 220, 868-871.
- 95. Gallo, R. C.; Salahuddin, S. Z.; Popovic, M.; Shearer, G. M.; Kaplan, M.; Haynes, B. F.; Palker, T. J.; Redfield, R.; Oleska, J.; Safai, B.; White, G.; Foster, P.; Markham, P. D. Frequent detection and isolation of phaogenic retroviruses (HTLV-III) from patients with AIDS and at risk from AIDS. *Science*, 1984, 224, 500–503.
- 96. Levy, J. A.; Hoffman, A. D.; Kramer, S. M.; Landis, J. A.; Shimabukuro, J. M.; Oshiro, L. S. Isolation of lymphocytopathic retroviruses from San Francisco patients with AIDS. *Scierce*, 1984, 225, 840–842.

- 97. Eberlein, W. C.; Trummlitz, G.; Engel, W. W.; Schmidt, G.; Pel.er, H.; Mayer, N. Tricyclic compounds as selective antimuscarinics. 1. Structural requirements for selectivity toward the muscarinic acetylcholine receptor in a series of pirenzepine and imipramine analogues. J. Med. Chem. 1587, 30, 1378–1382.
- 98. Merluzzi, V. J.; Hargrave, K. D.; Labadia, M.; Grozinger, K.; Skoog, M.;
 Wu, J. C.; Shih, C. K.; Eckner, K.; Hattox, S.; Adams, J.; Rosehthal, A.
 S.; Faaners, R.; Eckner, R. J.; Koup, R. A.; Sullivan, J. L. Inhibition of HIV-1 replication by nonnucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor. *Science*, 1990, 250, 1411–1413.
- 99. Wlodawer, A. Another piece of the HIV puzzle falls into place. Science, 1992, 256, 1766.
- Saunders, J. Non-nucleoside inhibitors of HIV reverse transcriptase:
 Screening successes—clinical failures. Drug Des. Discov. 1992, 8, 255—263.
- 101. Kohlstaedt, L. A.; Wang, J.; Friedman, J. M.; Rice, P. A.; Steitz, T. A.
 Crystal structure at 3.5Å resolution of HIV-1 reverse transcriptase complexed with an inhibitor. *Science*, 1992, 256, 1783–1790.
- 102. Allinger, N. L. Calculation of molecular structure and energy by force field methods. *Adv. Phys. Org. Chem.* **1976**, *13*, 1–82.
- 103. Allinger, N. L. Conformational analysis 130. MM2. A hydrocarbon force field utilizing V1 and V2 torsional terms. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1977, 99, 8127-8134.
- 104. Villar, H. O.; Loew, G. H. A conformational study of cocaine and its diastereomers. J. Comput. Chem. 1990, 11, 1111–1118.

ł

- 105. Sadek, M.; Craik, D. J.; Hall, J. G.; Andrews, P. R. Conformational analysis of cyproheptadine hydrochloride. *J. Med Chem.* **1990**, *33*, 1098—1107.
- Pettersson, I.; Liljefors, T.; Bogeso, K. Conformational anylysis and structure-activity relationships of selective dopamine D-1 receptor agonists and antagonists of benzazepine series. J. Med. Chem. 1990, 33, 2197–2204.
- 107. Sprague, J. T.; Tai, J. C.; Yuh, Y.; Allinger, N. L. The MM2 calculation method. J. Comput. Chem. 1987, 8, 581-603.
- 108. PCMODEL, version 4.0, **1990**, Serena software, Box 3076, Bloomington, IN 47402-3076, USA.
- 109. Rodgers, J. R.; Kennard, O.; Sheldrick, G. M. N,N-Dimethylspiro[5H-dibenzo[a,d]cycloheptene-5,1-cyclohexane]-4'-amine. Acta Cry.tallogr., 1976, B32, 1293—1295.
- Press, J. B. Deethylation of aryl ethyl ethers by boron tribromide. Syn.
 Comm. 1979, 407-410.
- 111. Teitel, S.; O'Brien, J.; Brossi, A. Preferential cleavage of an aromatic methylenedioxy group in the presence of methoxyls with boron trichloride.
 J. Org. Chem. 1972, 3368-3369.
- 112. Kugita, H.; Inoue, H.; Ikezaki, M. Synthesis of 1,5-benzothiazepine derivatives. I. Chem. Pharm. Bull. 1970, 18, 2028-2037.
- 113. Kugita, H.; Inoue, H.; Ikezaki, M.; Konda, M.; Takao, S. Synthesis of
 1,5-benzothiazepine derivatives. II. Chem. Pharm. Bull. 1970, 18,
 2284-2:89.
- 114. Kugita, H.; Inoue, H.; Ikezaki, M.; Konda, M.; Takao, S. Synthesis of

1,5-benzothiazepine derivatives. III. Chem. Pharm. Bull. 1971, 19, 595-602.

- 115. Falco, M. R.; de Vries, J. X.; Marchelli, E.; Coda, D. H.; Mann, G. Uber die cyclisierung schiffscher basen zu methyl-, phenyl-, und benzyltetrahydroisochinolinen. *Tetrahedron* 1972, 28, 5999–6005.
- Liepa, A. J. A synthesis of 2,4-dihydroxyisoflavans and 2-hydroxyisoflav3-ene: versatile precursors to isoflavanoids. Austr. J. Chem. 1984, 37, 2545-2558.
- Cashman, J. R.; Liu, Y. Electron-deficient isoalloxazines: model system for disulfide prodrug formation. J. Med. Chem. 1991, 34, 2049–2055.
- Brown, H. C.; Nazer, B.; Cha, J. S. Selective reduction of disulfides to thiols with potassium triisopropoxyborohydride. *Synthesis*, **1984**, 489–500.
- Hashiyama, T.; Inoue, H.; Konda, M.; Takeda, M. Reaction of 3phenylglycidic esters. Part 1. Stereoselective opening of the oxirane ring of *trans*-3-phenylglycidic esters with 2-nitrothiophenols and the effects of various catalysts thereon. J. Chem. Soc. Perkin Trans. I 1984, 1725– 1732.
- Hashiyama, T.; Inoue, H.; Takeda, M.; Aoe, K.; Kotera, K. Reaction of 3-phenylglycidic esters. Part 2. Stereo- and regio-selectivity in the oxirane ring opening of methyl *trans*-3-(4-methoxyphenyl)glycidate with various thiophenols and the effects of solvent and temperature. J. Chem. Soc. Perkin Trans. I 1985, 421-427.
- 121. Katchalski, E.; Ben-Ishai, D. 2-Oxazolidones: synthesis from N-carbalkoxy-β-haloalkylamines. J. Org. Chem. 1950, 15, 1067–1073.

I

- Pinchas, S.; Ben-Ishai, D. The carbonyl absorption of carbamates and 2oxazolidones in the infrared region. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1957, 79, 4099-4104.
- Bachelor, F. W.; Bansal, R. K. The Darzens glycidic ester condensation 1.
 Org. Chem. 1969, 34, 3600-3604.
- Brown, H. C.; Weissman, P. M.; Yoon, N. M. Selective reductions. IX.
 Reaction of lithium aluminum hydride with selective organic compounds containing representative functional group. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1966, 88, 1453—1463.
- Bosman, W. P.; Van der Linden, H. G. M. Tris[triphenylphosphonehexachloronaphthalene-1,8-dithiolatonickel (II)], [Ni₃(PPh₃)₃(S₂C₁₀Cl₆)₃], a Ni₃S₆ metal-sulphur cluster compound; preparation and crystal and molecular structure. J. Chem. Soc. Commun. 1977, 714-715.
- 126. Stall, C. R.; Siggia, S. Determination of organic disulfides by reduction with sodium borohydride. *Anal. Chem.* **1957**, *29*, 154–155.
- Hubbard, R. L.; Haines, W. E.; Ball, J. S. Quantitative determination of organic disulfides. Anal. Chem. 1958, 30, 91-93.
- 128. Overman, L. E.; Smoot, J.; Overman, J. D. The reduction of aryl disulfides with triphenylphosphine and water. *Synthesis* **1974**, 59–60.
- Bordwell, F. G.; Anderson, H. M. Conjugation of methylsulfonyl and nitro groups with the mercapto group in thiophenols. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1953, 75, 6019-6022.
- Bordwell, F. G. Equilibrium acidities in dimethyl sulfoxide solution. Acc.
 Chem. Res. 1988, 21, 456-463.

- 131. Lide, D. R. ed C R C Handbook of Chemistry and Physics; CRC press: USA. 1991—1992; p 8-41.
- Lide, D. R. ed C R C Handbook of Chemistry and Physics; CRC press: USA. 1991—1992; p 8-38.
- 133. Sindelar, K.; Kolubek, J.; Ryska, M.; Svatek, E.; Dlabac, A.; Hrubantova, M.; Protiva, M. Tricyclic psychotropic agents containing two chalcogen atoms in the central ring: synthesis of 11-(di:hethylaminoalkyl) derivatives of 11H-dibenzo[b,e]-1,4-dioxepin and 11H-dibenzo[b,e]-1,4-dithiepin. Coll. Czech. Chem. Commun. 1982, 47, 72-87.
- Polivka, Z.; Holubek, J.; Svatek, E.; Dlabac, A.; Pucek, D.; Sedivy, Z.;
 Protiva, M. 3-(4-Methylpiperazino)diberizo[b,f]-1,2,4-triazolo[4,3-d]-1,4-thiazepine and its 6-chloro and 12-chloro derivatives; synthesis and pharmacology. Coll. Czech. Chem. Commun. 1983, 48, 1465-1475.
- Yale, H. L.; Sowinski, F. 4-[3-[10-(2-Trfluoromethyl)phenothiazinyl]propyl]-1-piperazine-ethanol and related compounds II. J. Am. Chem.
 Soc. 1960, 82, 2039-2042.
- Munson, B. Chemical ionization mass spectroscopy: ten years later. Anal.
 Chem. 1977, 49, 772A—778A.
- Martin, S. A.; Costello, C. E.; Biemann, K. Optimization of experimental procedures for fast atom bombardment mass spectrometry. *Anal. Chem.* 1982, 54, 2362–2368.
- Bruins, A. P.; Covey, T. R.; Henion, J. D. Ion spray interface for combined liquid chromatography / atmospheric pressure ionization mass spectrometry. *Anal. Chem.* 1987, 59, 2642–2646.
- 139. Sakodynskii, K. The life and scientific works of Michael Tswett. J.

Chromatogr. 1972, 73, 303-360

N - 1

- 140. Sharp, J. T.; Gosney, I.; Rowley, A. G In Practical Organic Chemistry,
 1st ed. Chapman and Hall Ltd. London and New York, 1989, pp 160–
 163.
- Sato, M.; Nagao, T., Yamaguchi, I.; Nakajima, H., Kiyomoto, A.
 Pharmacological studies on a new 1,5-benzothiazepine derivative (CRD-401). Arznneim. Forsch. (Drug Pes.), 1971, 21, 1338-1343.
- Inoue, H.; Takeo, S., Kawazu, M., Kugita, H. Synthesis of 1,5benzothi.izepine derivatives IV resolution of dl-cis-3-acetoxy-5-[2-(dimethylamino)ethyl]-2,3-dihydro-2-(p-methoxyphenyl)-1,5benzothiazepin-4(5H)-one hydrochloride. Yakugaku Zasshu, 1973, 93, 729-732.
- 143. Glaser, R.; Sklarz, B. Stereochemistry and conformation in solution of diltiazem hydrochloride, a 1,5-benzothiazepine coronary vasodilator J Chem. Soc Perkin Trans II 1989, 1031–1036
- 144. The United States Pharmacopeia, Twenty-Second Revision Mack Printing Company: Easton, **1990**, pp 448
- 145. Xie, M.; Yeung, P. K. F.; Farmer, P S., Li, R. Quilliam, M A;
 Pleasance, S. Analysis of diltiazem and its metabolites by combined HPLC and mass spectrometry. AFPC Research Symposium and the 38th Canadian Conference on Pharmaceutical Research, Abstract 10, May 24–28, 1991, St. John's, Newfoundland, Canada
- 146. Xie, M. M. Sc. thesis, **1992**, Dalhousie University.

٩

147. Yeung, P. K. F.; Montague, T. J.; Tsui, B.; McGregor, C Highperformance liquid chromatographic assay of diltiazem and six of its metabolites in plasma: application to a pharmacokinetic study in healthy volunteers. J. Pharm. Sci. 1989, 78, 592-597.

- 148. Quilliam, M. A.; Pleasance, S.; Xie, M.; Yeung, P. K. F.; Li, R.; Farmer, P. S. Analysis of diltiazem and its metabolites by liquid chromatography and ion-spra/tandem mass spectrometry. (To be submitted for publication.)
 149. Atwal, K. S.; Bergey, J. L.; Hedberg, A.; Moreland, S. Synthesis and biological activity of novel calcium channel blockers: 2,5-dihydro-4-methyl-2-phenyl-1,5-benzothiazepine-3-carboxylic acid esters and 2,5-dihydro-4-methyl-2-phenyl-1,5-benzodiazepine-3-carboxylic acid esters. J. Med. Chem. 1987, 30, 635-640.
- Rovnyak, G.; Andersen, N.; Gougoutas, J.; Hedberg, A.; Kimball, S.D.;
 Malley, M.; Moreland, S.; Porubcan, M.; Pudzianowski, A. Studies directed toward ascertaining the active conformation of 1,4-dihydropyridine calcium entry blockers. J. Med. Chem., 1988, 31, 936–944.
- Weislow, O. W.; Kiser, R.; Fine, D.; Bader, J.; Shoemaker, R. H.; Boyd,
 M. R. New soluble-formazan assay for HIV-1 cytopathic effects: application to high-flux screening of synthetic and natural products for AIPS-antiviral activity. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 1989, 81, 577-586.
- Li, R.; Farmer, P. S.; Quilliam, M. A.; Yeung, P. K. F. Synthesis and characterization of diltiazem metabolites. 202nd American Chemical Society National Meeting and the 4th Chemical Congress of North America, MEDI 129, August 25—30, 1991, New York City, NY, USA.
- Li, R.; Farmer, P. S.; Xie, M.; Quilliam, M. A.; Pleasance, S.; Howlett, S.
 E.; Yeung, P. K. F. Synthesis and characterization of diltiazem metabolites. J. Med. Chem. 1992, 35, 3246-3253.

ł

- Ahmed, S. Z.; Atwal, K. S.; Floyd, D. M.; Moreland, S. M.; Hedberg, A Synthesis and biological activity of *cis*-3-methyl-1,5-benzothiazepine-4-one calcium channel blockers. 200th ACS National Meeting, MEDI 115, August 26-31, 1990, Washington, D.C. USA.
- Li, R.; Farmer, P. S.; Quilliam, M. A.; Howlett, S. E. Dibenzothiazepinones as potential calcium channel antagonists. 23rd National Medicinal Chemistry Symposium. Abs # 20, June 14—18, 1992, Buffalo, N.Y. USA.
- Li, R.; Farmer, P. S.; Quilliam, M. A.; Howlett, S. E.
 Dibenzothiazepinones as potential calcium channel antagonists. I. Drug Des. Discov. 1993, in press.
- Li, R.; Farmer, P. S.; Quilliam, M. A.; Howlett, S. E.
 Dibenzoxazepinones as potential calcium antagonists. 206th ACS National Meeting and Joint Meeting with the European Federation of Medicinal Chemistry, MEDI 62, August 22-27, 1993, Chicago, IL, USA.
- Li, R.; Farmer, P. S.; Quilliam, M. A.; Howlett, S. E.
 Dibenzoxazepinones as potential calcium antagonists. (Manuscript in preparation, 1993.)
- 159. Sindelar, K.; Kakac, B.; Svatek, E.: Holubek, J.; Rajsner, M.; Metysova, J.; Protiva, M. 9-Chloro-10-(4-methylpiperazino)-10,11-dihydrobenzo[b, f]-thiepin and some related synthetic experiments. Coll. Czech. Chem. Commun. 1974, 39, 333-354.
- Jaques, R.; Rossi, A.; Urech, E.; Bein, H. J.; Hoffmann, K. Uber dibenzo-thiazepin-derivate und ihre pharmakologische wirkung. *Helv. Chim. Acta.* 1959, 42, 1265—1278.

•

161. Schmutz, J.; Hunziker, F. Swiss Patent 442,312, Chem. Abs. 1968, Vol. 69, 36195f.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Adelstein, R. S.; Eisenberg, E. Regulation and kinetics of actin-myosin-ATP interaction. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 1980, 49, 921-956.
- Ahmed, S. Z.; Atwal, K. S.; Floyd, D. M.; Moreland, S. M.; Hedberg, A. Synthesis and biological activity of *cis*-5-methyl-1,5-benzothiazepine-4-one calcium channel blockers. 200th ACS National Meeting, MEDI 115, August 26-31 1990, Washington, D.C. USA.
- Allinger, N. L. Calculation of molecular structure and energy by force field methods. Adv. Phys. Org. Chem. 1976, 13, 1-82.
- Allinger, N. L. Conformational analysis 130. MM2. A hydrocarbon force field utilizing V1 and V2 torsional terms. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1977**, *99*, 8127–8134.
- Atwal, K. S.; Bergey, J. L.; Hedberg, A.; Moreland, S. Synthesis and biological activity of novel calcium channel blockers: 2,5-dihydro-4-methyl-2-phenyl-1,5benzothiazepine-3-carboxylic acid esters and 2,5-dihydro-4-methyl-2-phenyl-1,5benzodiazepine-3-carboxylic acid esters. J. Med. Chem. 1987, 30, 635-640.
- Bachelor, F. W.; Bansal, R. K. The Darzens glycidic ester condensation. J. Org. Chem. 1969, 34, 3600-3604.
- Baky, S. In New Drugs Annual: Cardiovascular drugs; Scriabine, A.; Ed.; Raven: New York, 1984; Vol. 2, pp 71-102.

I

Barré-Sinoussi, F.; Chermann, J. C.; Rey, F.; Nugeyre, M. T.; Chamaret, S.; Gruest, T.;
Dauguet, C.; Axler-Blin, C.; Vézinet-Brun F.; Rouzioux, C.; Rozendaum, W.;
Montagnier, L. Isolation of a T cell lymphotropic virus from a patient at risk for the acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (AIDS). *Science*, **1983**, *220*, 868–871.

A.

Į1

- Belloni, F. L.; Liang, B. C.; Gerritsen, M. E. Effects of alkylxanthines and calcium antagonists on adenosine uptake by cultured rabbit coronary microvascular endothelium. *Pharmacology*, **1987**, 35, 1–15.
- Bolton, T. B. Mechanisms of action of transmitters and other substances on smooth muscle. *Physiol. Rev.* 1979, 59, 607--718.
- Bordwell, F. G.; Anderson, H. M. Conjugation of methylsulfonyl and nitro groups with the mercapto group in thiophenols. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1953, 75, 6019-6022.
- Bordwell, F. G. Equilibrium acidities in dimethyl sulfoxide solution. Acc. Chem. Res. 1988, 21, 456–463.
- Bosman, W. P.; Van der Linden, H. G. M. Tris[triphenylphosphonehexachloronaphthalene-1,8-dithiolatonickel (II)], [Ni₃(PPh₃)₃(S₂C₁₀Cl₆)₃], a Ni₃S₆ metalsulphur cluster compound; preparation and crystal and molecular structure. J. Chem. Soc. Commun. 1977, 714-715.
- Braunwald, E.; Sonnenblick, E. H.; Ross, J. Jr. In *Heart Disease: Contraction of the normal heart*; Braunwald, E., Ed.; Philidephia, 1980: pp 413-452.
- Braunwald, E. Mechanisms of action of calcium-channel-blocking agents. N. Engl. J. Med. 1982, 307, 1618-1627.

- Brown, A. M.; Birnbaumer, L. Direct G protein gating of ion channels. Am. J. Physiol. 1988, 254, H401-H410.
- Brown, H. C.; Nazer, B.; Cha, J. S. Selective reduction of disulfides to thiols with potassium triisopropoxyborohydride. *Synthesis*, **1984**, 489-500.
- Brown, H. C.; Weissman, P. M.; Yoon, N. M. Selective reductions. IX. Reaction of lithium aluminum hydride with selective organic compounds containing representative functional group. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1966, 88, 1458–1463.
- Bruins, A. P.; Covey, T. R.; Henion, J. D. Ion spray interface for combined liquid chromatography / atmospheric pressure ionization mass spectrometry. *Anal. Chem.* 1987, 59, 2642-2646.
- Bruns, R. F. Role of adenosine in energy supply / demand balance. Nucleosid. Nucleosid.1991, 10, 931-934.
- Campbell, K. P.; Leung, A. T.; Sharp, A. H. The biochemistry and molecular biology of the dihydropyridine-sensitive calcium channel. *Trends Neurosci.* 1988, 10, 425–430.
- Cashman, J. R.; Liu, Y. Electron-deficient isoalloxazines: model system for disulfide prodrug formation. J. Med. Chem. 1991, 34, 2049-2055.
- Catteral, W. A. Structure and function of voltage-sensitive ion channels. Science. 1988, 242, 50-61.
- Chaffman, M.; Brogden, R.N. Diltiazem, a review of its pharmacological properties and therapeutic efficacy. *Drugs* 1985, 29, 387–454.

- Coppola, L.; Grassia, A.; Giunta, R.; Verrazzo, G.; Tirelli. Effect of diltiazem of platelet aggregability, erythrocyte filtrability, and thromboelastographic pattern in normal and atherosclerotic subjects. *A Curr. Ther. Res.* **1986**, *40*, 1090–1095.
- Dick, R. S.; Barold, S. S. Diltiazem-induced parkinsonism. Am. J. Med. 1989, 87, 95-96.
- Dosemicik, A.; Dhallan, R. S.; Colen, N. M.; Lederer, W. J.; Rogers, T. B. Phorbol ester increases calcium current and stimulates the effects of angiotensin II on cultured neonatal rat heart myocytes. *Cir. Res.* 1988, 62, 347–357.
- Duslap, K.; Holz, G. G.; Rane, S.G. G proteins as regulators of ion channel function. Trends Neurosci. 1987, 10, 241-244.
- Eberlein, W. C.; Trummlitz, G.; Engel, W. W.; Schmidt, G.; Pelzer, H.; Mayer, N.
 Tricyclic compounds as selective antimuscarinics. 1. Structural requirements for selectivity toward the muscarinic acetylcholine receptor in a series of pirenzepine and imipramine analogues. J. Med. Chem. 1987, 30, 1378–1382.
- Ellis, S.B.; William, M. E.; Ways, N. R. Brenner, R.; Sharp, A. H.; Leung, A. T.;
 Campbell, K. P.; McKenna, E.; Koch, W. J.; Hui, A.; Schwartz, A.; Harpold, M.
 M. Sequence and expression of mRNAs encoding the a₁ and a₂ subunits of a DHP-sensitive calcium channel. *Science*, 1988, 254, 1661—1664.
- Ely, S. W.; Berne, R. M. Protective effects of adenosine in myocardial ischemia. *Circ.*, **1992** *85*, 893–904.
- Fack, W. E.; Wojick, J. D.; Gelenberg, A. J. Diltiazem for tardive dyskinesia and tardive dystonia. *Lancet* 1988, 1, 824—825.

- Falco, M. R.; de Vries, J. X.; Marchelli, E.; Coda, D. H.; Mann, G. Uber die cyclisierung schiffscher basen zu methyl-, phenyl-, und benzyl-tetrahydroisochinolinen. *Tetrahedron* 1972, 28, 5999—6005.
- Ford, D. A.; Sharp, J. A.; Rovetto, M. J. Erythrocyte adenosine transport: effects of calcium channel antagonists and ions. Am. J. Physiol. 1985, 248, H593—H598.
- Frishman, W.H.; Charlap, S.; Goldberger, J.; Kimmel, B.; Stroh, J.; Dorsa, F.; Allen, L.; Strom, J. Comparison of diltiazem and nifedipine for both angina pectoris and systemic hypertension. Am. J. Cardiol. 1985, 56, 41H—46H.
- Fujita, M.; Ito, S.; Ota, A.; Kato, N.; Yamamoto, K.; Kawashima, Y.; Yamashi, H.;
 Iwao, J. Synthesis and Ca²⁺ antagonistic activity of 2-[2-[(aminoalkyl)oxy]-5-methoxyphenyl]-3,4-dihydro-4-methyl-3-oxo-2H-1,4-benzothiazines. J. Med. Chem. 1990, 33, 1898—1905.
- Galizzi, J.; Borsotto, M.; Barhanin, J.; Fosset, M.; Lazdunski, M. Characterization and photoaffinity labeling of receptor sites for the calcium channel inhibitors d-cis-diltiazem, (+)-bepridil, desmethoxyverapamil, and (+)-PN200-110 in skeletal transverse tubule membranes. J. Biol. Chem. 1986, 261, 1393-1397.
- Galizzi, J.; Fosset, M.; Romey, G.; Laduron, P.; Lazdunski, M. Neuroleptics of the diphenylbutylpiperidine series are potent calcium channel inhibitors. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 1986, 83, 7513—7517.
- Gallo, R. C.; Salahuddin, S. Z.; Popovic, M.; Shearer, G. M.; Kaplan, M.; Haynes, B.
 F.; Palker, T. J.; Redfield, R.; Oleska, J.; Safai, B.; White, G.; Foster, P.;
 Markham, P. D. Frequent detection and isolation of phaogenic retroviruses

(HTLV-III) from patients with AIDS and at risk from AIDS. Science, 1984, 224, 500-503.

- Gilman, A. G. G proteins: transducers of receptor-generated signals. Ann. Rev. Biochem. **1987**, 56, 615–649.
- Glaser, R.; Sklarz, B. Stereochemistry and conformation in solution of diltiazem hydrochloride, a 1,5-benzothiazepine coronary vasodilator. J. Chem. Soc. Perkin Trans. II 1989, 1031-1036.
- Glossmann, H.; Ferry, D. R.; Goll, A.; Striessnig, J.; Zernig, G. Calcium channels and calcium channel drugs: recent biological and biophysical findings. Arzneim. Forsch. (Drug Res.), 1985, 35, 1917—1935.
- Gould, R. J.; Murphy, K. M. M.; Reynolds, I. J.; Snyder, S. H. Antischizophrenic drugs of the diphenylbutylpiperidine type act as calcium channel antagonists. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, **1983**, 80, 5122–5125.
- Gresele, P.; Arnout, J.; Deckmyn, H.; Vermylen, J. Mechanism of the antiplatelet action of dipyridamole in whole blood: modulation of adenosine concentration and action. *Thromb. Hemost.* 1986, 55, 12–18.
- Haas, H.; Hartfelder, G. Alpha-isopropyl-alpha-[(N-methyl-N-homoveratryl)-gammaaminopropyl]-3,4-dimethoxyphenyl-acetonitril, eine substanz mit coronargefasserweiternden eigenschaften. Arzneim. Forsch. (Drug Res.), 1962, 12, 549-558.
- Hargrave, K. D.; Proudfoot, J. R.; Grozinger, K. G.; Cullen, E.; Kapadia, S. R.; Petal, U. R.; Fuchs, V. U.; Mauldin, S. C.; Vitous, J.; Behnke, M. L.; Klunder, J. M.;

Pal, K., Skiles, J. W, McNeil, D. W, Rose, J. M., Chow, G C; Skoog, M T.; Wu, J. C.; Schmidt, G; Engel, W. W, Eberlein, W. G., Saboe, T. D.; Campbell, S. J.; Rosenthal, A S; Adams, J Novel non-nucleoside inhibitors of HIV-1 reverse transcriptase. 1 Tricyclic pyridobenzo- and dipyridodiazepinones. *I Med Chem* 1991, 34, 2231–2241.

- Hashiyama, T.; Inoue, H; Konda, M; Takeda, M Reaction of 3-phenylglycidic esters.
 Part 1 Stereoselective opening of the oxirane ring of *trans*-3-phenylglycidic esters with 2-nitrothiophenols and the effects of various catalysts thereon J Chem Soc Perkin Trans. I 1984, 1725-1732
- Hashiyama, T., Inoue, H, Takeda, M, Aoe, K, Kotera, K Reaction of 3-phenylglycidic esters Part 2. Stereo- and regio-selectivity in the oxirane ring opening of methyl trans-3-(4-methoxyphenyl)glycidate with various thiophenols and the effects of solvent and temperature. J Chem Soc Perkin Trans 1 1985, 421–427
- Hescheler, J., Kameyama, M.; Trautwein, W, Mieskes, G Soling, H-D Regulation of the cardiac calcium channel by protein phosphatases Eur J Biochem 1987, 165, 262–266
- Hockberger, P. E.; Swandulla, D Direct ion channel gating a new function for intracellular messengers. Cell Mol Neurobiol 1987, 7, 229-236
- Holmes, B., Brogden, R. N, Heel, R C, Speight, T M, Avery, G S Flunarizine, a review of its pharmacodynamic and pharmacokinetic properties and therapeutic use Drugs 1984, 27, 6-44

- Hofmann, F.; Nastainczyk, W.; Rohrkasten, A.; Schneider, T.; Sieber, M. Regulation of L-type calcium channel. *Trends Pharmacol. Sci.* **1987**, *8*, 393–398.
- Hori, M.; Kitakaze, M. Adenosine, the heart, and coronary circulation. *Hypertension*, **1991**, 18, 565-574.
- Hosey, M. M.; Lazdunski, M. Calcium channels: molecular pharmacology, structure, and regulation. J. Membr. Biol. 1988, 104, 81-105.
- Hubbard, R. L.; Haines, W. E.; Ball, J. S. Quantitative determination of organic disulfides. Anal. Chem. 1958, 30, 91-93.
- Ijzerman, A. P.; Thedinga, K. H.; Custers, A. F. C. M.; Hoos, B.; Van Beile, H. Inhibition of nucleoside transport by a new series of compounds related to lidoflazine and mioflazine. *Eur. J. Pharmacol. Mol. Pharmacol. Sect.* 1989, 172, 273-281.
- Inoue, H.; Takeo, S.; Kawazu, M.; Kugita, H. Synthesis of 1,5-benzothiazepine derivatives. IV. resolution of dl-cis-3-acetoxy-5-[2-(dimethylamino)ethyl]-2,3dihydro-2-(p-methoxyphenyl)-1,5-benzothiazepin-4(5H)-one hydrochloride. Yakugaku Zasshi, 1973, 93, 729-732.
- Jaques, R.; Rossi, A.; Urech, E.; Bein, H. J.; Hoffmann, K. Uber dibenzo-thiazepinderivate und ihre pharmakologische wirkung. *Helv. Chim. Acta.* 1959, 42, 1265-1278.
- Kaczmarek, L. K. The role of protein kinase C in the regulation of ion channels and neurotransmitter release. *Trends Neurosci.* 1987, 10, 30---34.

Γ

- Katchalski, E.; Ben-Ishai, D. 2-Oxazolidones: synthesis from N-carbalkoxy-bhaloalkylamines. J. Org. Chem. 1950, 15, 1067-1073.
- King, V. F.; Garcia, M. L.; Shevell, J. L.; Slaughter, R. S.; Kaczorowski, G. J. Substituted diphenylbutylpiperidines bind to a unique high affinity site on the Ltype calcium channel. J. Biol. Chem. 1989, 264, 5633-5641.
- Kiyomoto, A.; Susaki, Y.; Odawara, A.; Morita, T. Inhibition of platelet aggregation by diltiazem. *Circ. Res. Suppl. 1.* **1983**, *52*, 115–119.
- Klunder, J. M.; Hargrave, K. D.; West, M.; Cullen, E.; Pal, K.; Behnke, M. L.; Kapadia, S. R.; McNeil, D. W.; Wu, J. C.; Chow, G. C.; Adams, J. Novel non-nucleoside inhibitors of HIV-1 reverse transcriptase. 2. Tricyclic pyridobenzoxazepinones and dibenzoxazepinones. J. Med. Chem. 1992, 35, 1887—1897.
- Kohlstaedt, L. A.; Wang, J.; Friedman, J. M.; Rice, P. A.; Steitz, T. A. Crystal structure at 3.5Å resolution of HIV-1 reverse transcriptase complexed with an inhibitor. *Science*, 1992, 256, 1783—1790.
- Krogh, C. M. E., Gillis, M. C. Eds.; *Compendium of Pharmaceuticals and Specialities*.
 26th ed. Canadian Pharmaceutical Association. Ottawa, **1991**, pp 1106—1107.
- Kugita, H.; Inoue, H.; Ikezaki, M. Synthesis of 1,5-benzothiazepine derivatives. I. Chem. Pharm. Bull. 1970, 18, 2028-2037.
- Kugita, H.; Inoue, H.; Ikezaki, M.; Konda, M.; Takao, S. Synthesis of 1,5benzothiazepine derivatives. II. Chem. Pharm. Bull. 1970, 18, 2284-2289.

- Kugita, H.; Inoue, H.; Ikezaki, M.; Konda, M.; Takao, S. Synthesis of 1,5benzothiazepine derivatives. III. Chem. Pharm. Bull. 1971, 19, 595-602.
- Kurokawa, M.; Sato, F.; Fujiwara, I.; Hatano, N.; Honda, Y.; Yoshida, T.; Naruto, S.;
 Mastumoto, J.; Uno, H. A new class of calcium antagonists. 2. synthesis and biological activity of 11-[4-[4-(4-fluorophenyl)-1-piperazinyl]butyryl]-6,11-dihydrodibenzo[b,e]thiepin maleate and related compounds. J. Med. Chem. 1991, 34, 927-934.
- Lahav, M.; Arav, R. Diltiazem and thrombocytopenia. Ann. Int. Med. 1989, 110, 327.
- Levitan, I. B. Modulation of ion channels in neurons and other cells. Ann. Rev. Neurosci. 1988, 11, 119–136.
- Levy, J. A.; Hoffman, A. D.; Kramer, S. M.; Landis, J. A.; Shimabukuro, J. M.; Oshiro,
 L. S. Isolation of lymphocytopathic retroviruses from San Francisco patients with
 AIDS. Science, 1984, 225, 840-842.
- Li, R.; Farmer, P. S.; Quilliam, M. A.; Howlett, S. E. Dibenzothiazepinones as potential calcium channel antagonists. 23rd National Medicinal Chemistry Symposium. Abs # 20, June 14—18, 1992, Buffalo, N.Y. USA.
- Li, R.; Farmer, P. S.; Quilliam, M. A.; Howlett, S. E. Dibenzothiazepinones as potential calcium channel antagonists. I. *Drug Des. Discov.* **1993**, in press.
- Li, R.; Farmer, P. S.; Quilliam, M. A.; Howlett, S. E. Dibenzoxazepinones as potential calcium antagonists. 206th ACS National Meeting and Joint Meeting with the European Federation of Medicinal Chemistry, MEDI 62, August 22–27, 1993, Chicago, IL, USA.

- Li, R.; Farmer, P. S.; Quilliam, M. A.; Howlett, S. E. Dibenzoxazepinones as potential calcium antagonists. (Manuscript in preparation, 1993)
- Li, R.; Farmer, P. S.; Quilliam, M. A.; Yeung, P. K. F. Synthesis and characterization of diltiazem metabolites. 202nd American Chemical Society National Meeting and the 4th Chemical Congress of North America, MEDI 129, August 25—30, 1991, New York City, NY, USA.
- Li, R.; Farmer, P. S.; Xie, M.; Quilliam, M. A.; Pleasance, S.; Howlett, S. E.; Yeung, P. K. F. Synthesis and characterization of diltiazem metabolites. *J. Med. Chem.* 1992, 35, 3246—3253.
- Lide, D. P. ed CR C Handbook of Chemistry and Physics; CRC press: USA. 1991-1992; p 8-41.
- Lide, D. R. ed C R C Handbook of Chemistry and Physics; CRC press: USA. 1991-1992; p 8-38.
- Liepa, A. J. A synthesis of 2,4-dihydroxyisoflavans and 2-hydroxyisoflav-3-ene: versatile precursors to isoflavanoids. *Austr. J. Chem.* **1984**, *37*, 2545–2558.
- Martin, S. A.; Costello, C. E.; Biemann, K. Optimization of experimental procedures for fast atom bombardment mass spectrometry. *Anal. Chem.* **1982**, *54*, 2362–2368.
- McKenna, E.; Koch, W. J.; Slish, D. F.; Schwartz, A. Toward an understanding of the dihydropyridine-sensitive calcium channel. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 1990, 39, 1145—1150.

- Merluzzi, V. J.; Hargrave, K. D.; Labadia, M.; Grozinger, K.; Skoog, M.; Wu, J. C.;
 Shih, C. K.; Eckner, K.; Hattox, S.; Adams, J.; Rosehthal, A. S.; Faaners, R.;
 Eckner, R. J.; Koup, R. A.; Sullivan, J. L. Inhibition of HIV-1 replication by nonnucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor. *Science*, **1990**, *250*, 1411–1413.
- Mikami, A.; Imoto, K.; Tanabe, T.; Niidome, T.; Mori, Y.; Takeshima, H.; Narumiya, S.; Numa, S. Primary structure and functional expression of the cardiac dihydropyridine-sensitive calcium channel. *Nature*, **1989**, *340*, 230—233.
- Miller, R. J. Multiple calcium channels and neuronal function. *Science*, **1987**, 235, 46–52.
- Miyazaki, M.; Iwakuma, T.; Tanaka, T. Synthesis of the metabolites and related compounds of diltiazem. *Chem. Pharm. Bull.* **1978**, *26*, 2889–2893.
- Munson, B. Chemical ionization mass spectroscopy: ten years later. Anal. Chem. 1977. 49, 772A-778A.
- Nokin, P., Clinet, M., Beaufort, P., Meysmans, L., Laruel, R. and Chatelain, P. SR 33557, a novel calcium entry blocker. II. interactions with 1,4-dihydropyridine, phenylalkylamine and benzothiazepine binding sites in rat heart sarcolemmal membranes. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther., 1990, 250, 600-607.
- Overman, L. E.; Smoot, J.; Overman, J. D. The reduction of aryl disulfides with triphenylphosphine and water. Synthesis 1974, 59-60.
- PCMODEL, version 4.0, **1990**, Serena software, Box 3076, Bloomington, IN 47402-3076, USA.
- Pettersson, I.; Liljefors, T.; Bogeso, K. Conformational anylysis and structure-activity relationships of selective dopamine D-1 receptor agonists and antagonists of benzazepine series. J. Med. Chem. 1990, 33, 2197-2204.
- Pinchas, S.; Ben-Ishai, D. The carbonyl absorption of carbamates and 2-oxazolidones in the infrared region. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1957, 79, 4099-4104.
- Plagemann, P. G. W.; Wohlhueter, R. M.; Kraupp, M. Adenosine uptake, transport, and metabolism in human erythrocytes. J. Cell Physiol. 1985, 125, 330–336.
- Polivka, Z.; Holubek, J.; Svatek, E.; Dlabac, A.; Pucek, D.; Sedivy, Z.; Protiva, M. 3-(4-Methylpiperazino)dibenzo[b,f]-1,2,4-triazolo[4,3-d]-1,4-thiazepine and its 6-chloro and 12-chloro derivatives; synthesis and pharmacology. Coll. Czech. Chem. Commun. 1983, 48, 1465—1476.
- Press, J. B. Deethylation of aryl ethyl ethers by boron tribromide. Syn. Comm. 1979, 407-410.
- Prystowsky, E. N. The effects of slow channel blockers and beta blockers on atrioventricular nodal conduction. J. Clin. Pharmacol. 1988, 28, 6-21.
- Qar, J.; Barhanin, J.; Romey, G.; Henning, R.; Lerch, U.; Oekonomopulos, R.; Urbach,
 H.; Lazdunski, M. A novel high affinity class of calcium channel blockers. *Mol. Pharmacol.* 1988, 33, 363-369.
- Qar, J.; Galizzi, J.; Fosset, M.; Lazdunski, M. Receptors for diphenylbutylpiperidine neuroleptics in brain, cardiac, and smooth muscle membranes. Relationship with receptors for 1,4-dihydropyridines and phenylalkylamines and with Ca²⁺ channel blockade. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 1987, 141, 261–268.

- Quilliam, M. A.; Pleasance, S.; Xie, M.; Yeung, P. K. F.; Li, R.; Farmer, P. S. Analysis of diltiazem and its metabolites by liquid chromatography and ion-spray tandem mass spectrometry. (To be submitted for publication.)
- Rhedda, A.; McCans, J.; Willan, A. R.; Ford, P. M. A double blind placebo controlled crossover randomized trial of diltiazem in Raynaud's phenomenon. J. *Rheumatology* 1985, 12, 724—727.
- Ring, M. E.; Corrigan, Jr., J. J.; Fenster, P. E. Effects of oral diltiazem on platelet function: alone and in combination with "low dose" aspirin. *Thrombosis Res.* 1986, 44, 391-400.
- Roberts, R.; Gibson, R. S.; Boden, W. E.; Theroux, P.; Strauss, H. D. Prevention of reinfarction subsequent to non-Q-wave infarction. J. Cardiovas. Pharmacol. Suppl. 1. 1989, 13, S36—S46.
- Rodgers, J. R.; Kennard, O.; Sheldrick, G. M. N,N-Dimethylspiro[5Hdibenzo[a,d]cycloheptene-5,1-cyclohexane]-4'-amine. Acta Crystallogr., 1976, B32, 1293-1295.
- Rosenthal, W.; Schultz, G. Modulations of voltage-dependent ion channels by extracellular signals. *Trends Pharmacol. Sci.* **1987**, *8*, 351–354.
- Ross, J. L.; Mackenzie, T. B.; Hanson, D. R.; Charles, C. R. Diltiazem for tacdive dyskinesia. Lancent 1987, 1, 268.
- Rovnyak, G.; Andersen, N.; Gougoutas, J.; Hedberg, A.; Kimball, S.D.; Malley, M.; Moreland, S.; Porubcan, M.; Pudzianowski, A. Studies directed toward

ascertaining the active conformation of 1,4-dihydropyridine calcium entry blockers. J Med Chem, 1988, 31, 936-944

- Ruth, P.; Rohrkasten, A, Biel, M., Bosse, E, Regulla, S, Meyer, H E, Flockerzi, V,
 Hofmann, F Primary structure of b subunit of the DHP-sensitive calcium channel
 from skeletal muscle. *Science*, 1989, 245, 1115--1118
- Sadek, M.; Craik, D. J.; Hall, J. G.; Andrews, P. R. Conformational analysis of cyproheptadine hydrochloride / Med Chem 1990, 33, 1098—1107.
- Sakodynskii, K. The life and scientific works of Michael Tswett J Chromatogr 1972. 73, 303–360
- Sato, M.; Nagao, T., Yamaguchi, I, Nakajima, H, Kiyomoto, A Pharmacological studies on a new 1,5-benzothiazepine derivative (CRD-401) Arzr neim Forsch (Drug Res.), 1971, 21, 1338—1343
- Saunders, J Non-nucleoside inhibitors of HIV reverse transcriptase Screening successes—clinical failures Drug Des Discov 1992, 8, 255—263
- Schmutz, J.; Hunziker, F. Swiss Patent 442,312, Chem Abs 1968, Vol. 69, 36195f
- Schroeder, J.S.; Hung, J.; Lamb, I H., Connolly, S J, Jutzy, K.R, Goris, M.L Diltiazem and propranolol, alone and in combination, on exercise performance and left ventricular function in patients with stable effect angina a double-blind, randomized, and placebo-controlled study *Acta Pharmacol et Toxicol Suppl II* **1985**, 57, 56–60.

- Schwartz, A. Calcium antagonists: new data on relationship between pharmacology and clinical effects. In monograph, 1992, 1—12.
- Schwartz, J.B.; Abernathy, D.R. Responses to intravenous and oral diltiazem in elderly and younger patients with systemic hypertension. Am. J. Cardiol. 1987, 59, 1111-1117.
- Schwartz, L. M.; McCleakey, E. W.; Almers, W. Dihydropyridine receptors in muscle are voltage-dependent but most are not functional calcium channels. *Nature*, 1985, 314, 747-751.
- Scott, R. H.; Dolphin, A.C. Activation of G protein promotes agonist responses to calcium channel ligands. *Nature*, **1987**, *330*, 760---762.
- Shalleross, H.; Padley, S. P. G.; Glynn, M. J.; Gibbs, D. D. Fatal renal and hepatic toxicity after treatment with diltiazem. Br. Med. J. 1987, 295, 1236—1237.
- Sharp, J. T.; Gosney, I.; Rowley, A. G. In Practical Organic Chemistry, 1st ed. Chapman and Hall Ltd. London and New York, **1989**, pp 160-163.
- Sheehan-Date, R. A.; Goodfield, M. J. D. Widespread cutaneous vasculitis associated with diltiazem. *Postgrad. Med. J.* **1988**, *64*, 467–468.
- Shenasa, M.; Fromer, M.; Faugere, G.; Nadeau, R.; LeBlanc, R. A.; Lambert, C.; Sadr-Ameli, M.A. Efficacy and safety of intravenous and oral diltiazem for Wolff-Parkinson-White syndrome. Am. J. Cardiol. 1987, 59, 301-306.
- Sindelar, K.; Kakac, B.; Svatek, E.; Holubek, J.; Rajsner, M.; Metysova, J.; Protiva, M. 9-Chloro-10-(4-methylpiperazino)-10,11-dihydrobenzo[b, f]-thiepin and some

- Sindelar, K.; Kolubek, J.; Ryska, M.; Svatek, E.; Dlabac, A.; Hrubantova, M.; Protiva, M. Tricyclic psychotropic agents containing two chalcogen atoms in the central ring: synthesis of 11-(dimethylaminoalkyl) derivatives of 11H-dibenzo[b,e]-1,4-dioxepin and 11H-dibenzo[b,e]-1,4-dithiepin. Coll. Czech. Chem. Commun. 1982, 47, 72-87.
- Skoog, M. T.; Hargrave, K. D.; Miglietta, J. J.; Kopp, E. B.; Merluzzi, V. J. Inhibition of HIV-1 reverse transcriptase and virus replication by non-nucleoside dipyridodiazepinone Bi-RG-587 (Nevirapine). Med. Res. Rev. 1992, 12, 27– 40.
- Slish, D. F.; Engle, D. B.; Varadi, G.; Lotan, I.; Singer, D.; Dascal, N.; Schwartz, A. Evidence for the existence of a cardiac specific isoform of the a₁ subunit of the voltage-dependent calcium channel. *FEBS Lett.* **1989**, 250, 509–514.
- Sollevi, A. Cardiovascular effects of adenosine in man: possible clinical implications. Prog. Neurobiol. 1986, 27, 319–349.
- Sollevi, A.; Kaijser, L.; Fredholm, B. B. Release of adenosine from the ischemic human heart. *Pediatr. Res.* 1985, 19, 777-201A.
- Sorkin, E. M.; Clissold, S. P.; Brogden, R. N. Nifedipine, a review of its pharmacodynamic and pharmacokinetic properties and therapeutic efficacy, in ischaemic heart disease, hypertension and related cardiovascular disorders. *Drugs* 1985, 30, 182-274.

- Spedding, M.; Kenny, B. Voltage-dependent calcium channels: structures and drugbinding sites. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.*, **1992**, 20, 147–153.
- Sprague, J. T.; Tai, J. C.; Yuh, Y.; Allinger, N. L. The MM2 calculation method. J. Comput. Chem. 1987, 8, 581-603.
- Stall, C. R.; Siggia, S. Determination of organic disulfides by reduction with sodium borohydride. Anal. Chem. 1957, 29, 154—155.
- Sternbach, G. L.; Schroeder, J.S.; Eliastam, M.; Beier-Scott, L. Intravenous diltiazem for the treatment of supraventricular tachycardia. *Clin. Cardiol.* **1986**, *9*, 145–149.

ų,

- Strong, J. A.; Fox, A. P.; Tsien, R. W.; Kaczmarek, L. K. Stimulation of protein kinase C recruits covert calcium channels in *Aplysia* bag cell neurons. *Nature*, 1987, 325, 714-717.
- Sugihara, J.; Sugawara, Y.; Ando, H.; Harigaya, S.; Etoh, A.; Kohno, K. Studies on the metabolism of diltiazem in man. J. Pharm. Dyn. **1984**, 7, 24–32.
- Tanabe, T.; Takeshima, H.; Mikami, A.; Flockerzi, V.; Takahashi, H.; Kangawa, K.; Kojima, M.; Matsuo, H.; Hirose, T.; Numa, S. Primary structure of the receptor for calcium channel blockers from skeletal muscle. *Nature*, **1987**, *328*, 313–318.
- Teitel, S.; O'Brien, J.; Brossi, A. Preferential cleavage of an aromatic methylenedioxy group in the presence of methoxyls with boron trichloride. J. Org. Chem. 1972, 3368-3369.
- The United States Pharmacopeia, Twenty-Second Revision: Mack Printing Company: Easton, 1990, pp 448.

- Triggle, D. J.; Janis, R. A. Calcium channel ligands. Ann. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol. 1987, 27, 347–369.
- Triggle, D. J.; Langs, D. A.; Janis, R. A. Ca²⁺ channel ligands: structure-function relationships of the 1,4-dihydropyridines. *Med. Res. Rev.* **1989**, *9*, 123-180.
- Vaghy, P. L. ; Mckenna, E.; Itagaki, K.; Schwartz, A. Resolution of the identity of the calcium antagonist receptors in skeletal muscle. *Trends Pharmacol. Sci.* 1988, 9, 398-402.
- Van Belle, H. Nucleoside transport inhibition: a therapeutic approach to cardioprotection via adenosine? *Cardiovasc. Res.* **1993**, 27, 68–76.
- Van Belle, H.; Janssen, P. A. Comparative pharmacology of nucleoside transport inhibitors. Nucleosid. Nucleotid. 1991, 10, 975—982.
- Van Belle, H.; Wynants, J.; Xhonneux, R.; Flameng, W. Change in creatine phosphate, inorganic phosphate, and the purine pattern in dog hearts with time of coronary artery occlusion and effect thereon of mioflazine. a nucleoside transport inhibitor. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 1986, 20, 658-664.
- Van Galen, P. J. M.; Stiles, G. L.; Michaels, G.; Jacobson, K. A. Adenosine A₁ and A₂ receptors: structure-function relationships. *Med. Res. Rev.* 1992, 12, 423-471.
- Vanhoutte, P. M. The Expert Committee of the World Health Organization on Classification of Calcium Antagonists: The viewpoint of the raporteur. Am. J. Cardiol. 1987, 59, 3A-8A.

۴.

- Vanhoutte, P. M.; Van Neuten, J. M. In New Drugs Annual: Cardiovascular drugs; Scriabine, A.; Ed.; Raven: New York, 1983; Vol. 1, pp 203-226.
- Villar, H. O.; Loew, G. H. A conformational study of cocaine and its diastereomers. J. Comput. Chem. 1990, 11, 1111–1118.
- Waller, P. C.; Inman, W. H. W. Diltiazem and heart block. Lancet 1989, 1, 617.
- Weir, M.R.; Josselson, J.; Giard, M.J.; Warren, J.B.; Posner, J. N.; Lam, Y.W.F.;
 Zaske, D.E.; Saunders, E. Sustained-release diltiazem compared with atenolol monotherapy for mild to moderate systemic hypertension. Am. J. Cardiol. 1987, 60, 36I-41I.
- Weislow, O. W.; Kiser, R.; Fine, D.; Bader, J.; Shoemaker, R. H.; Boyd, M. R. New soluble-formazan assay for HIV-1 cytopathic effects: application to high-flux screening of synthetic and natural products for AIDS-antiviral activity. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 1989, 81, 577-586.
- Wlodawer, A. Another piece of the HIV puzzle falls into place. Science, 1992, 256, 1766.
- Xie, M. M. Sc. thesis, 1992, Dalhousie University.

Xie, M.; Yeung, P. K. F.; Farmer, P. S.; Li, R. Quilliam, M. A.; Pleasance, S. Analysis of diltiazem and its metabolites by combined HPLC and mass spectrometry. AFPC Research Symposium and the 38th Canadian Conference on Pharmaceutical Research, Abstract 10, May 24-28, 1991, St. John's, Newfoundland, Canada.

- Yabana, H.; Nagao, T.; Masanori, S. Cardiovascular effects of the metabolites of diltiazem in dogs. J. Cardiovasc. Pharmacol. 1985, 7, 152–157.
- Yale, H. L.; Sowinski, F. 4-[3-[10-(2-Trfluoromethyl)phenothiazinyl]-propyl]-1piperazine-ethanol and related compounds II. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1960, 82, 2039-2042.
- Yeung, P. K. F.; Mosher, S. J.; Li, R.; Farmer, P. S.; Klassen, G. A. Effect of diltiazem metabolites on adenosine transport in whole blood. American Chinese Pharmaceutical Association—First International Symposium on Pharmaceutical Research and Development. May 28—31, 1993, Kansas City, USA.
- Yeung, P. K. F.; Mosher, S. J.; Li, R.; Farmer, P. S.; Klassen, G. A.; Pollak, P. T.; McMullen, M.; Ferrier, G. Erythrocyte adenosine transport: a rapid screening test for cardiovascular drugs. Submitted for publication, 1993.
- Yeung, P. K. F.; Mosher, S. J.; Macrae, D. A.; Klassen, G. A. Effect of diltiazem and its metabolites on the uptake of adenosine in blood: an *in vitro* investigation. J. *Pharm. Pharmacol.* 1991, 43, 685—689.
- Yeung, P. K. F.; Mosher, S. J.; Quilliam, M. A.; Montague, T. J. Species comparison of pharmacokinetics and metabolism of diltiazem in humans, dogs, rabbits and rats. *Drug Metab. Dispos.* 1990, 18, 1055–1059.
- Yeung, P. K. F.; Montague, T. J.; Tsui, B.; McGregor, C. High-performance liquid chromatographic assay of diltiazem and six of its metabolites in plasma: application to a pharmacokinetic study in healthy volunteers. J. Pharm. Sci. 1989, 78, 592-597.